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Wednesday, February 12, 2020 

Hey so sorry to bother you. Is there any way you can send to Tim 
7:13 PMthe facts that pertain to him and Metcalf so he can fact check them 

himself? I j ust want to make sure he has opportunity to dispute if 
he needs to 

(b) (6) 

7:14 PMomg yes 
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(b) (6) 

so sorry i got pulled into a meeting 7:14 PM 

(b) (6) 

7:15PM(not about juwanna man, sadly) 

8:36 PM 

(b) (6) 

I downplayed the quitting 

(b) (6) 

So will save the 'quitting is fine' stuff for a story where the quitting 8:36 PM 
is a bigger deal 

Me 

10:00 PM 
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Friday, February 14, 2020 
(b) (6) 

President Trump needs to stop tweeting about cases and let AG Bill 
Barr do his job. 

(b) (6) 

https://www.wsj.com/articles/trumps-worst-enemy-11581639143? 
emailToken = 58a9de0276db4cd3ddae67f424bc1373Y /0PFf2BJTOhx 
hTVdWyrmXfRHMdByCPDdoU9rrlMUUOOQolQfqYBek9JnCFsjhYG 
&refl ink=article_imessage_share 

(b) (6) 

Bureaucrats bristle as Attorney General William Barr delivers on his 
pledge of accountabi lity, writes @KimStrassel 

(b) (6) 

https://www.wsj.com/articles/the-trials-of-bi ll-barr-11581637977? 
emaiIToken=f4f8b30f1 e852963711 a42838cd03ec4VqhsPpcSao2us 
NFY1 VoabOV/x//Fg8hVnN0d3n 7bPTGnE+xKo3QcBBWkEECB 
+ blazScRsduveEVsEzCVqfaegw%3D% 
3D&reflink=article_imessage_share 

(b) (6) 

Can you cal I when you have sec? 

Me 

This is awesome. Thank you. 

1:48AM 

1:48AM 

1:48AM 

1:48AM 

5:51 AM 

1:04 PM 
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Thursday, February 20, 2020 
(b) (6) 

Hi there! You around? Seems like the DOJ prosecutors are 
reverting back to the original sentencing recommendation - is 
this something the AG approved? 

Me 

I'm not sure what you are ta lking about 

Me 

I doubt that's the case. He's prob just explaining what happened 

(b) (6) 

Yeah that seems right, sorry our reporter in the courtroom was 
texting me frantically about it 

Me 

Come by 

Me 

Come by 

11:01 AM 

11:09AM 

11:10AM 

11:13AM 

3:55 PM 

4:05 PM 
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Thursday, February 13, 2020 
(b) (6) 

11 :21 AMHey are you in the building? We understand the IG is opening an 
investigation into the Stone episode 

(b) (6) 

Re-upping this ...were planning to report fairly imminently that the 12:11 PM 

IG is investigating the Stone matter 

Me 

12:14 PMDecline to comment 

(b) (6) 

Ok thanks. Off the record: I'm guessing Barr asked him to? Because 
12:17 PMnormally they don't investigate prosecutorial matters. But I'd love 

to know the context... 

Me 

1:13 PMDecline 

(b) (6) 

When's a good t ime to stop by? (Not directly about this - got the 1:14 PM 

decl ine there - but a somewhat more compl icated th ing) 
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Tuesday, February 11. 2020 
(b) (6) 

11:55AMCan you confirm on background that DoJ will reduce sentencing 
recommendation for Roger Stone? 

(b) (6) 

On background was there any communication or coordination with 12:24 PM 
the White House over reducing Stone's sentencing? 

(b) (6) 

We're doing a story to run tonight or tomorrow morning that Barr 
and DoJ leadership is now facing one of it's biggest crisis as a 

4:53 PMresult of handling the Stone case. Three prosecutors have resigned. 
I need to know if you want to comment or provide background 
guidance. My deadline is probably 8pm. 
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(b) (6) 

On background was the decision to seek less prison time for Stone 
made before Trump tweeted last night? 9:19 PM 

Did Barr make the decision or at least sign off on it? 

Me 

9:25 PMDecision was made last night before tweet 
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Tuesday, February 11. 2020 
(b) (6) 

12:01 PMHi Kerri 

Can u share anything re Stone rec? Tks Josh 

Page 5 
0014 



(b) (6) 

12:31 PMAt desk if you can try me back 

(b) (6) 

3:20 PMAnything re personnel changes? 

(b) (6) 

Still lookina for latest guidance if u have a moment tks josh 4:22 PM
(b) (6) 

(b) (6) 

7:40 PMCan you call if you free up? 

Wednesday, February 12, 2020 
(b) (6) 

7:02AM 
Sent you trump tweet for response 

Me 

8:55AM 
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Tuesday, February 18, 2020 
(b) (6) 

Pis call in next 30 mins .. I want to be sure you're ok w what I say 
on air 

(b) (6) 

Here's what I'm giving Mike for morning newsletter: 

(b) (6) 
,ollUt • • 

8 El ... 

,,.for AM 

h ... 

You thwld hlghllghl T,vmp's tw$C1 tN$ mc,,i-.ng 

~ R<>gtt Stone • ti,. ont qvotlng Jvdgt 

&.tween lht lint$~Att<ieflOY Gonttal 8.-r ~ ~t 
(St;w tCJ TI\IITllil, both l)Vt>l..:ly. ~,~;tdly, In 
c,rlVitt CORV\VUbQftS. ~t ht C:¥1't do hls fol) !I 
Tn,rnp l(efQS ~ commen1,ng,Ofl Mdc:• 
~t~1~ff1-. Trump chok> 10 ,gnot• 
ll'\ilt w~nlng on 'r~. end i $00(~ timlloat w,tt) 
1he-situatlon ~ II ~a 1)lld S1ttt.ltlonv.o1u. 

t-\ ••• 

Md )'OU C<in l)Otf'II oiut 1Nt Trun,p':s r.,,,e:e,1 eoold t'IOI 
N't'e ~~~ - -Mlelhef NI Will 8',..'al",e 01 
1Nt0tt101. 1tam&only alewhOW'sbe1cff• 
1-1.tlUS OO(l!,erertoee call be~ tht J-..clQe-. StOM'S: 

~ . 4'lld me Jus:ti¢e Clel)all tneM r:,oseeutOt'S 

(b) (6) 

I saw WaPo reported it: 

(b) (6) 

.. Me 

https://www.washingtonpost.com/polit ics/trump-raises-possibility­
of-suing-those-involved-in-prosecuting-roger­
stone/2020/02/18/238279fc-5250-11 ea-9e47-59804be1 dcfb_story. 
html 

(b) (6) 

Can I confirm w source close to situation? 

Me 

Hey sorry for delay 

Me 

Tried calling you and went right to voicemail 

5:31 PM 

5:59 PM 

5:59 PM 

7:37 PM 

9:38 PM 

9:38 PM 

9:39 PM 

11:17 PM 

11:17 PM 
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(b) (6) 

(b) (6) 

(b) (5) 
(b) (6) 

Going to the moot at 1. Should be done by 3, if we can talk then 
and go over all th is, that'd be great. Thanks! 

Thursday, February 20, 2020 
(b) (6) 

I'm getting questions and seeing reports that crab basical ly argued 
in favor of the first memo. I'm trying to correct this. Are you 
getting any Qs on that? 

(b) (6) 

Wtf 

Me 

-Me 

Haven't answered any yet 

12:01 PM 

12:55 PM 

12:56 PM 

1:48 PM 

1:49 PM 

1:49 PM 

1:49 PM 
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Me 

You need to explain to people how it works 

(b) (6) 

It makes this entire th ing look like it was tota l incompetence 

Me 

And how that would be inconsistent with his own fi ling 

Me 

And variance issue 

(b) (6) 

Yeah I have been. Issue is crab said "a substantial sentence" is 

warranted 

(b) (6) 

Yeah I'm pushing the variance and that the j udge herself found the 
need to apply a downward variance 

Me 

I know 

Me 

Stupid thing to say 

(b) (6) 

We should talk in person. 

(b) (6) 

If I can get to main today I will, otherwise tomorrow 

1:49 PM 

1:50 PM 

1:50 PM 

1:50 PM 

1:50 PM 

1:51 PM 

1:51 PM 

1:51 PM 

1:51 PM 

1:51 PM 
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Tuesday, February 18, 2020 
(b) (6) 

https://www.washingtonpost.com/polit ics/trump-raises-possibil ity­
of-suing-those-involved-in-prosecuting-roger­ 9:41 PM 

stone/2020/02/18/238279fc-5250-11 ea-9e47-59804be1 dcfb_story. 
html 

(b) (6) 

9:41 PMOn background, are you able to confirm th is? 

Me 

11:16 PMHey tried calling you 

Wednesday, February 19, 2020 

(b) (6) 
7:31 AM 

Bah sorry, I'll try to stop by today. Will you be at main j ustice? 

Sunday, March 01, 2020 . -- .. 

https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/trump-raises-possibility
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Wednesday, February 12, 2020 

(b) (6) 
(b )(5) per OLC 

9:08AM 

(b) (6) 
(b)(5) per OLC 9:09AM 

Me 

9:20AMYep that's in discussion as we speak 

Me 

9:20AM 
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(b) (6) 

10:19AMGreat. 
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3  

1  MORNING  SESSION,  DECEMBER  18,  2018  

2  (11: 16  a. m. )  

3  THE  COURT:  Good  morning.  

4  THE  COURTROOM  CLERK:  Good  morning,  Your  Honor.  

5  THE  COURT:  Good  morning.  

6  THE  COURTROOM  CLERK:  Your  Honor,  this  is  criminal  case  

7  17-232,  United  States  of  America  versus  Michael Flynn.  

8  Will  all  parties  please  come  forward  to  this  lectern  and  

9  identify  yourselves  for  the  record.  

10  MR.  VAN  GRACK:  Good  morning,  Your  Honor.  Brandon  Van  

11  Grack  on  behalf  of  the  United  States,  and  with  me  at  counsel' s  

12  table  is  Zainab  Ahmed  and  William  McCausland  from  the  FBI.  

13  THE  COURT:  Good  morning,  Counsel.  

14  MS.  AHMAD:  Good  morning,  Your  Honor.  

15  MR.  KELNER:  Good  morning,  Your  Honor.  Robert  Kelner  with  

16  Covington  &  Burling  for  the  defendant,  Michael  Flynn,  and  with  me  

17  at  counsel  table  is  Stephen  Anthony.  

18  THE  COURT:  All  right.  Good  morning,  Counsel.  Mr.  Flynn,  

19  good  morning.  How  are  you?  

20  THE  DEFENDANT:  Good.  

21  THE  COURT:  From  the  Probation  Department?  

22  MS.  KRAEMER-SOARES:  Good  morning,  Your  Honor.  Kelly  

23  Kraemer-Soares  and  Renee  Moses-Gregory  on  behalf  of  U. S.  

24  Probation.  

25  THE  COURT:  All  right.  Good  morning  to  you  both.  The  

Scott  L.  Wallace,  RDR,  CRR,  Official  Court  Reporter  

(202)354-319 *  scottlyn01@aol.com  6  
0051

Document  ID:  0.7.5218.6095-000005  

mailto:scottlyn01@aol.com













































































       


  





              

              

            

               

             

           

    

         

        

             

             

                 

            

           

          

           

           

         

   

       

           

           

         

       

  

  

-

4 

1 

2 

3 

4 
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10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

case is in a very unique posture. As everyone knows, I was not 

the judge who took the plea of guilty from Mr. Flynn, so before I 

focus on sentencing issues, I need to focus on some other issues. 

I want to say a couple of things before I get to those issues. I 

read every filing very carefully in this case. There' s a great 

deal of nonpublic information in this case, and I' ll just leave 

it at that. 

If any of my questions require a party to disclose 

nonpublic information, or if I begin to discuss something 

nonpublic, don' t be shy in telling me. My clerks over the years 

have learned to do this (indicating) if I get off of script or if 

I get into areas where - I won' t get offended if you do it. I 

may not see you, so stand up and raise your hands or say 

something, please. I don' t want to unintentionally say something 

that should not be revealed on the public docket. 

There' s a new document that was filed at 10: 19 this 

morning. The government filed a sealed motion alerting the Court 

that it inadvertently omitted one document from the government' s 

in-camera production. 

The Court understands that the defendant received this 

document from the government on November the 8th of this year. 

The Court received and read the document before I came on the 

bench. Does the defendant have any concerns about this 

inadvertent omission before this hearing proceeds or otherwise 

any objections? 

Scott L. Wallace, RDR, CRR, Official Court Reporter 

(202)354-319 * scottlyn01@aol.com6 
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MR.  KELNER:  No,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  I  want  to  focus  on  the  plea  first  

because  I  think  I  need  to.  And  there  are  some  questions  that  I' m  

going  to  ask  Mr.  Flynn,  and  because  this  is  an  extension,  in  my  

opinion,  of  the  plea  colloquy,  I' m  going  to  ask  the  courtroom  

deputy  at  that  time  to  administer  the  oath,  because  normally  when  

we  have  plea  colloquies,  we  always  require  a  defendant  to  be  

under  oath,  and  that' s  what  I' m  going  to  do  this  morning,  unless  

there  are  objections.  

MR.  KELNER:  No  objection,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  And  in  Mr.  Flynn' s  Memorandum  in  

Aid  of  Sentencing  he  states  he,  quote,  does  not  take  issue  with  

the  description  of  the  nature  and  circumstances  of  the  offense  

contained  in  the  government' s  sentencing  memorandum  and  the  

presentence  investigation  report,  end  quote.  He  also  states  that  

he  has,  quote,  frankly  acknowledged,  end  quote,  that,  quote,  his  

actions  were  wrong  and  he  accepted  full  responsibility  for  them,  

end  quote.  

At  the  same  time,  however,  Mr.  Flynn  focuses  much  of  his  

memorandum  on  certain,  quote,  additional  facts,  end  quote,  

regarding  the  circumstances  surrounding  the  January  24,  2017  FBI  

interview  at  which  Mr.  Flynn  admittedly  lied  about  several  topics  

to  the  FBI  agents.  

Mr.  Flynn  contends  that  such  additional  facts,  quote,  

warrant  the  Court' s  consideration  as  it  evaluates  the  seriousness  
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of the offense relative to the circumstances of witness 

interviews and typical cases charged under 18 U. S. Code Section 

1001, end quote. 

Mr. Flynn highlights the fact that former Deputy FBI 

Director Andrew McCabe explained that the, quote, quickest, end 

quote, way, to conduct the interview would be without involving 

the White House counsel' s office. 

Mr. Flynn then agreed to meet the agents without any 

additional participants. 

Mr. Flynn also highlights that the FBI agents 

intentionally decided not to warn him that lying to the FBI was a 

crime to ensure that Mr. Flynn would be relaxed. 

At the interview, Mr. Flynn was relaxed and unguarded. He 

implies that he was unguarded because he did not receive a 

warning and was not represented by counsel. 

In his sentencing memorandum, Mr. Flynn cited a January 

24, 2017 FBI memorandum and an August commonly referred to as a 

302, and an August 22nd - strike that. I misspoke. It' s the 

memorandum - and an August 22nd, 2017 FD-302 without providing 

copies to the Court. 

Mr. Flynn did not cite or quote the FD-302 prepared 

immediately after his interview. These documents were not 

otherwise in the record. The Court then ordered the defendant to 

produce the cited material and ordered the government to produce 

any other memoranda or FD-302 relevant to Mr. Flynn' s FBI 
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interview.  

After  reviewing  the  produced  material,  the  Court  concluded  

that  the  FD-302  prepared  immediately  after  Mr.  Flynn' s  interview  

was  relevant  to  sentencing  and  thus  ordered  the  government  to  

file  a  redacted  version  on  the  public  docket.  

The  Court  takes  its  responsibility  here  today,  as  always,  

very  seriously.  

Mr.  Flynn' s  briefing  concerned  the  Court,  as  he  raised  

issues  that  may  affect  or  call  into  question  his  guilty  plea,  

and,  at  the  very  least,  maybe  his  acceptance  of  responsibility.  

As  such,  the  Court  concludes  that  it  must  now  first  ask  

Mr.  Flynn  certain  questions  to  ensure  that  he  entered  his  guilty  

plea  knowingly,  voluntarily,  intelligently,  and  with  fulsome  and  

satisfactory  advice  of  counsel.  

I  cannot  recall  any  incident  in  which  the  Court  has  ever  

accepted  a  plea  of  guilty  from  someone  who  maintained  that  he  was  

not  guilty,  and  I  don' t  intend  to  start  today.  So  I' m  going  to  

invite  Mr.  Flynn  and  his  attorney  or  attorneys  to  come  to  the  

podium,  and  I' m  going  to  ask  the  courtroom  deputy  to  administer  

the  oath  to  Mr.  Flynn.  

(MICHAEL  FLYNN,  DEFENDANT  IN  THE  CASE,  SWORN)  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  And  I  will  inform  you,  sir,  that  

any  false  answers  will  get  you  in  more  trouble.  Do  you  

understand  that?  

THE  DEFENDANT:  Yes.  
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THE COURT: You have to keep your voice up. If you don' t 

understand my question, please tell me and I' ll rephrase it. 

Most importantly, you may consult with your attorney 

privately before answering my questions or at any point in time. 

Should you want the opportunity to attempt to withdraw your plea, 

I will afford you that opportunity. Do you understand that? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Do you wish to challenge the circumstances on 

which you were interviewed by the FBI? 

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that by maintaining your 

guilty plea and continuing with sentencing, you will give up your 

right forever to challenge the circumstances under which you were 

interviewed? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Do you have any concerns that you entered your 

guilty plea before you or your attorneys were able to review 

information that could have been helpful to your defense? 

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: At the time of your January 24th, 2017 

interview with the FBI, were you not aware that lying to FBI 

investigators was a federal crime? 

THE DEFENDANT: I was not - I was aware. 

THE COURT: You were aware? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah. 
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THE COURT: Your sentencing memorandum also states that 

you pled guilty before certain, quote, revelations that certain 

FBI officials involved in the January the 24th interview were 

themselves being investigated for misconduct, end quote. Do you 

seek an opportunity to withdraw your plea in light of those 

revelations? 

THE DEFENDANT: I do not, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Now, again, at any time - I 

should have said this before I started asking questions, but 

knowing what I was going to do, to have this colloquy with you, 

I' ve made arrangements for a private room for you and your 

attorneys to talk about any of these questions and your answers. 

So, even though I' ve taken a number of answers from you, if you 

want -- if you want that opportunity to speak privately with your 

attorneys, then I' ll certainly afford you that opportunity as 

well. Would you like to do that? 

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Are you satisfied with the 

services provided by your attorneys? 

THE DEFENDANT: I am. 

THE COURT: In certain special circumstances, I have over 

the years appointed an independent attorney to speak with a 

defendant, review the defendant' s file, and conduct necessary 

research to render a second opinion for a defendant. Do you want 

the Court to consider appointing an independent attorney for you 
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in  this  case  to  give  you  a  second  opinion?  

THE  DEFENDANT:  I  do  not,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  Do  you  feel  that  you  were  competent  and  

capable  of  entering  into  a  guilty  plea  when  you  pled  guilty  on  

December  1st,  2017?  

THE  DEFENDANT:  I  do,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  Do  you  understand  the  nature  of  the  charges  

against  you  and  the  consequences  of  pleading  guilty?  

THE  DEFENDANT:  I  do  understand,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  And  that  was  covered  extensively  by  Judge  

Contreras.  I' ve  read  the  transcript.  

Are  you  continuing  to  accept  responsibility  for  your  false  

statements?  

THE  DEFENDANT:  I  am,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  Do  you  still  want  to  plead  guilty,  or  do  you  

want  me  to  postpone  this  matter,  give  you  a  chance  to  speak  with  

your  attorneys  further,  either  in  the  courtroom  or  privately  at  

their  office  or  elsewhere,  and  pick  another  day  for  a  status  

conference?  And  I' m  happy  to  do  that.  

THE  DEFENDANT:  I  appreciate  that,  but  no,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  For  your  attorneys:  Do  you  have  

any  concerns  that  potential  Brady  material  or  other  relevant  

material  was  not  provided  to  you?  

MR.  KELNER:  No,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  Do  you  contend  that  Mr.  Flynn  is  
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entitled  to  any  additional  information  that  has  not  been  provided  

to  you?  

MR.  KELNER:  No,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  Do  you  wish  to  seek  any  additional  information  

before  moving  forward  to  sentencing?  

MR.  KELNER:  No,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  Do  you  believe  the  FBI  had  a  legal  obligation  

to  warn  Mr.  Flynn  that  lying  to  the  FBI  was  a  federal  crime?  

MR.  KELNER:  No,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  Is  it  your  contention  that  Mr.  Flynn  was  

entrapped  by  the  FBI?  

MR.  KELNER:  No,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  Do  you  believe  Mr.  Flynn' s  rights  were  

violated  by  the  fact  that  he  did  not  have  a  lawyer  present  for  

the  interview?  

THE  DEFENDANT:  No,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  Do  you  believe  his  rights  were  violated  by  the  

fact  that  he  may  have  been  dissuaded  from  having  a  lawyer  present  

for  the  interview?  

MR.  KELNER:  No,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  The  sentencing  memorandum  also  states  that  

Mr.  Flynn  pled  guilty  before  certain,  quote,  revelations  that  

certain  FBI  officials  involved  in  the  January  24th  interview  

were,  themselves,  being  investigated  for  misconduct, "  end  quote.  

Is  it  your  contention  that  any  misconduct  by  a  member  of  the  FBI  
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raises  any  degree  of  doubt  that  Mr.  Flynn  intentionally  lied  to  

the  FBI?  

MR.  KELNER:  No,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  The  references  that  I' ve  mentioned  that  appear  

in  your  sentencing  memorandum  raise  some  concerns  on  the  part  of  

the  Court.  And  my  question  is,  how  is  raising  those  contentions  

about  the  circumstances  under  which  Mr.  Flynn  lied  consistent  

with  acceptance  of  responsibility?  

MR.  KELNER:  Your  Honor,  the  principle  reason  we  raised  

those  points  in  the  brief  was  to  attempt  to  distinguish  the  two  

cases  in  which  the  Special  Counsel' s  investigation  has  resulted  

in  incarceration,  the  Papadopoulos  and  Van  der  Zwaan  cases  in  

which  the  Special  Counsel  had  pointed  out  as  aggravating  factors  

the  fact  that  those  defendants  had  been  warned  and  the  fact  that  

those  defendants  did  have  counsel  and  lied  anyway,  and  we  felt  it  

was  important  to  identify  for  the  Court  that  those  aggravating  

circumstances  do  not  exist  in  this  case  relevant  to  sentencing.  

But  General  Flynn  has  been,  I  think,  clear  from  the  

beginning  and  will  be  clear  again  to  you  today  that  he  fully  

accepts  responsibility,  stands  by  his  guilty  plea,  which  was  made  

based  on  knowing  and  willful  conduct.  

We  did  think  there  was  information  produced  in  the  Brady  

process  that  Your  Honor  might  want  to  see,  and  that  was  relevant  

strictly  to  the  question  of  the  history  and  circumstances  of  the  

case  for  sentencing  purposes.  
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Those are the reasons that was included. 

THE COURT: All right. But you can understand why the 

Court has some concern after -

MR. KELNER: - I can -

THE COURT: - reading those passages in the sentencing 

memo. 

MR. KELNER: We absolutely understand your concerns, Your 

Honor, yes. 

THE COURT: And you' re not asking for a postponement to 

give more time to whether you wish to file a motion to attempt to 

withdraw Mr. Flynn' s plea of guilty? 

MR. KELNER: We have no intention and the defendant has no 

intention to withdraw the guilty plea, and we' re certainly not 

asking Your Honor to consider that. We' re ready to proceed to 

sentencing. 

THE COURT: All right. And you don' t need any further 

time to think about it? 

MR. KELNER: We do not, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: And nothing that' s been filed within the last 

week on the docket raises any concerns on your part about any 

aspect of Mr. Flynn' s guilty plea? 

MR. KELNER: That' s correct, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: The other puzzling question I have is this: 

Can you explain for the record why Mr. Flynn was interviewed by 

the FBI on January the 24th but the 302 cited in his sentencing 
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memorandum  is  dated  August  the  22nd,  2017?  There' s  no  reference,  

and  the  January  24th  is  not  highlighted  at  all.  

MR.  KELNER:  Yes,  Your  Honor.  Thank  you  for  the  

opportunity  to  address  that.  I  think  there' s  been  some  public  

confusion  about  that.  The  original  draft  of  our  brief  cited  

specifically  to  the  FD-302  for  the  interview  of  Special  Agent  

Strozk  and  cited  it  specifically  to  the  McCabe  memorandum,  and  

actually  originally  we  intended  to  include  those  documents  with  

the  filing.  

Prior  to  the  filing,  we  shared  a  draft  copy  of  our  brief  

with  the  Special  Counsel' s  Office  really  for  two  purposes:  One  

was  to  make  sure  that  we  weren' t  including  anything  covered  by  

the  protective  order,  which  they  objected  to  our  including,  which  

would,  perhaps,  have  to  be  redacted  or  filed  under  seal;  and  the  

other  reason,  frankly,  was  generally  to  understand  what  their  

reaction  might  be  to  particular  points  in  the  filing.  

After  that,  the  Special  Counsel' s  Office  discussed  it  with  

us  and  asked  that  we  consider  removing  the  Strozk  302,  and  the  

McCabe  memorandum  from  the  brief  and  to  simply  cite  to  them.  

Given  our  position  as  cooperating  in  the  investigation,  we  

acceded  to  that.  

We  then  sent  them  a  draft  of  the  footnotes  that  we  would  

use  to  cite  to  the  relevant  documents,  and  originally  those  

footnotes,  as  drafted  by  us,  named  the  McCabe  memorandum  

specifically  and  named  the  Strozk  302  specifically  so  that  it  
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would  be  clear  to  the  reader  which  documents  we  were  talking  

about.  

The  Special  Counsel' s  Office  requested  that  we  change  

those  citations  to  simply  reference  the  memorandum  and  date  and  

the  FD-302  and  date  without  the  names.  We  acceded  to  that  

request,  and  I  would  add  would  not  have  acceded  to  it  if  in  any  

way  we  felt  it  was  misleading,  but  we  respected  the  preferences  

of  the  Special  Counsel' s  Office.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  Any  objection  to  what  counsel  

said?  Anything  that  you  wish  to  add  to  that?  

MR.  VAN  GRACK:  Judge,  just  one  point  of  clarification.  

THE  COURT:  Sure.  

MR.  VAN  GRACK:  Which  is  what  we' ve  represented  to  defense  

counsel  in  terms  of  what  to  and  not  to  include,  what  we  indicated  

was  anything  in  the  Strozk  302  and  the  McCabe  memorandum  that  

they  thought  was  relevant  can  and  should  be  included  in  their  

submissions.  What  we  asked  was  that  they  not  attach  the  

documents  because,  as  the  Court  is  aware,  there  are  other  

considerations  in  the  material  there  that  we  wanted  to  be  

sensitive  to.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  Thank  you,  Counsel.  Thank  you  

both.  

Mr.  Flynn,  anything  else  you  want  to  discuss  with  me  about  

your  plea  of  guilty?  This  is  not  a  trick.  I' m  not  trying  to  

trick  you.  If  you  want  some  time  to  withdraw  your  plea  or  try  to  
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withdraw your plea, I' ll give you that time. If you want to 

proceed because you are guilty of this offense, I will finally 

accept your plea. 

THE DEFENDANT: I would like to proceed, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Because you are guilty of this 

offense? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. I am satisfied that Mr. Flynn 

entered his guilty plea while competent and capable. He 

understood at that time the nature of the charges against him and 

the consequences of pleading guilty. Having carefully read all 

the materials provided to the Court in this case, including those 

materials reviewed under seal and in-camera, I conclude that 

there was and remains to be a factual basis for Mr. Flynn' s plea 

of guilty. As such, there' s no reason to reject his guilty plea 

and I' ll, therefore, move on to the sentencing phase. 

What I would normally do at this point, Mr. Flynn, is to 

ask you a few questions about the pretrial - strike that - the 

presentence report. Have you had an opportunity to read the 

presentence report? 

THE DEFENDANT: I have. 

THE COURT: Did you read it? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Do you have any questions that you want to ask 

me about it? 

Scott L. Wallace, RDR, CRR, Official Court Reporter 

(202)354-319 * scottlyn01@aol.com6 

Document ID: 0.7.5218.6095-000005 

0064

mailto:scottlyn01@aol.com













































































       


  





          

             

              

             

          

         

            

           

         

              

       

       

           

         

          

             

           

           

          

              

     

         

            

         

              

  

-

17 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

THE DEFENDANT: I don' t believe so. 

THE COURT: All right. At some point, if you would like 

to say something, I' ll give you an opportunity. I would not hold 

it against you if you decided you didn' t want to say anything. 

To your attorneys, I' m going to inquire whether or not 

there are any objections to the mathematical calculations. This 

is a total offense level of 4, criminal history category of 1. 

Mr. Flynn has no prior criminal history, and the advisory, and I 

emphasize that word, the advisory guideline range is zero months 

to six months. This is a five-year statutory felony. Are there 

any objections to the mathematical calculations, Counsel? 

MR. KELNER: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. And the advisory range for 

supervised release is one year to three years. 

I' m going to request that you gentlemen have a seat 

because I want to, for the record - and again, because I wasn' t 

the original judge who accepted the plea in the first instance, I 

want to talk about the plea agreement and the facts that are 

relevant for the Court' s consideration, and you gentlemen don' t 

have to stand there in front of me while I do that, all right. 

You can have a seat. 

MR. KELNER: Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Sure. Mr. Flynn agreed to plead guilty to 

Count 1 of the information, making false statements, in violation 

of 18 U. S. Code Section 1001. He stated that he understood the 
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maximum sentence is five years imprisonment, three years 

supervised release, and a $250, 000 fine. 

The parties also agreed that his Guideline calculation 

range was zero to six months. 

His base offense level is 4 after a two-point reduction 

for acceptance of responsibility, and he' s in a criminal history 

category of 1, and I believe he has no prior criminal history. 

His Guideline fine range is 500 to $9, 000. Mr. Flynn also 

attested that he understood and agreed that the Guidelines were 

not binding on the Court and that the Court was not obligated to 

grant a downward departure, quote, even if the government files a 

motion pursuant to Section 5K1. 1 of the Sentencing Guidelines, 

end quote. And even if the parties agree that there should not 

be - there should be a certain sentence, the Court' s not 

obligated to accept that recommendation. 

Mr. Flynn also agreed to cooperate with the Special 

Counsel' s Office and agreed that any refusal to cooperate will 

constitute a breach of the plea agreement. He further agreed 

that a breach of the plea agreement does not constitute a basis 

for him to withdraw his plea. 

Special Counsel' s Office agreed to file a departure motion 

pursuant to Section 5K1. 1 of the U. S. Sentencing Guidelines if it 

determined that Mr. Flynn, quote, provided substantial assistance 

in the investigation, end quote. 

Relevant here, Mr. Flynn also agreed that, quote, 
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sentencing  in  this  case  may  be  delayed  until  his  efforts  to  

cooperate  have  been  completed  as  determined  by  the  government  so  

that  the  Court  will  have  the  benefit  of  all  relevant  information  

before  a  sentence  is  imposed,  end  quote.  

With  respect  to  the  Statement  of  Facts,  when  he  pleaded  

guilty  Mr.  Flynn  agreed  to  the  follow  facts:  He  served  as  an  

advisor  and  surrogate  for  the  Trump  Campaign  and  the  transition  

team.  He  later  served  as  the  National  Security  Advisor  for  

President  Trump  starting  on  January  20th,  2017.  Mr.  Flynn  made  

materially  false  statements  and  omissions  during  a  January  24th,  

2017  interview  with  the  FBI.  

At  that  time,  the  FBI  had  an  open  investigation  into  

Russia' s  efforts  to  interfere  with  the  2016  presidential  

election.  As  part  of  that  investigation,  the  FBI  investigated,  

quote,  the  nature  of  any  links,  end  quote,  between  the  Trump  

campaign  and  Russia,  and,  quote,  whether  there  was  any  

coordination,  end  quote,  between  the  two.  

Mr.  Flynn  admitted  that  his  false  statements  or  omissions  

impeded  and  had  a  material  impact  on  the  investigation,  and  when  

I  ask  questions  of  the  government,  I  need  to  know  answers  about  

how  he  impeded  the  investigation  and  what  the  material  impact  on  

the  investigation  was.  

The  Statement  of  Facts  further  describes  Mr.  Flynn' s  false  

statements.  One,  Mr.  Flynn  falsely  stated  that  he  did  not  ask  

the  Russian  Ambassador  Sergey  Kislyak  to  refrain  from,  quote,  
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escalating  the  situation,  end  quote,  in  response  to  sanctions  the  

Obama  Administration  had  imposed  upon  Russia.  

On  December  the  28th,  2016,  then-President  Obama  signed  

Executive  Order  13757  which  was  to  take  effect  on  December  the  

29th,  2016.  The  executive  order  announced  sanctions  against  

Russia  as  a  response  to  Russia' s  interference  in  the  2016  

presidential  election.  

On  December  the  28th,  2016,  the  ambassador  contacted  

Mr.  Flynn.  The  next  day  Mr.  Flynn  called  a  senior  transition  

official  who  was  with  other  senior  officials  at  the  Mar-a-Lago  

Resort.  They  discussed  the  sanctions  and  their  shared  desire  

that  Russia  not  escalate  the  situation.  

Immediately  after  this  phone  call,  Mr.  Flynn  called  the  

ambassador,  quote,  and  requested  that  Russia  not  escalate  the  

situation  and  only  respond  in  a  reciprocal  manner,  end  quote.  

Shortly  after  this  conversation,  Mr.  Flynn  spoke  again  

with  the  senior  official  to  report  on  the  call.  

Mr.  Flynn  also  falsely  stated  that  he  did  not  remember  a,  

quote,  follow-up  conversation,  end  quote,  in  which  the  ambassador  

stated  that  Russia  had,  quote,  moderated  its  response  to  those  

sanctions  as  a  result  of  Mr.  Flynn' s  request,  end  quote.  

On  December  30th,  2016,  President  Putin  announced  that  he  

would  not  take  retaliatory  measures  in  response  to  the  sanctions  

imposed  by  then-President  Obama.  

On  December  31,  2016,  the  ambassador  called  Mr.  Flynn  to  
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inform  him  that  Russia  had  chosen  not  to  retaliate.  After  this  

call,  Mr.  Flynn  spoke  with  senior  members  of  the  transition  team  

about  the  conversation  and  Russia' s  decision  not  to  escalate  the  

situation.  

Three:  Mr.  Flynn  also  made  statements,  quote,  about  calls  

he  made  to  Russia  and  several  other  countries  regarding  a  

resolution  submitted  by  Egypt  to  the  United  Nations  Security  

Council  on  September  21,  2016,  end  quote.  

Mr.  Flynn  told  the  FBI  that  he  had  only,  quote,  asked  the  

country' s  positions  on  the  vote  and  that  he  did  not  request  that  

any  of  the  countries  take  any  particular  action  on  the  

resolution,  end  quote.  

On  December  21,  2016,  Egypt  submitted  a  resolution  to  the  

United  Nations  Security  Council  on  the  issue  of  Israeli  

settlements.  The  resolution  was  aimed  at  preventing  Israeli  

settlements  and  Palestinian  territories.  The  U. N.  Security  

Council  was  scheduled  to  vote  on  the  resolution  the  next  day.  

On  December  the  22nd,  2016,  a,  quote,  very  senior,  end  

quote,  member  of  the  transition  team  directed  Mr.  Flynn  to  

contact  officials  from  foreign  governments,  including  Russia  to,  

quote,  learn  where  each  government  stood  on  the  resolution,  end  

quote,  and  to,  quote,  influence  those  governments  to  delay  the  

vote  or  defeat  the  resolution,  end  quote.  

That  same  day,  Mr.  Flynn  contacted  the  ambassador  about  

the  vote  and  informed  him  that  the  incoming  administration  was  
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opposed  to  the  resolution.  He  requested  that  Russia  vote  against  

or  delay  the  resolution.  

On  December  23rd,  2016,  Mr.  Flynn  again  spoke  to  the  

ambassador  who  informed  him  that  Russia  would  not  vote  against  

the  resolution  if  it  came  to  a  vote.  

Four:  Finally,  Mr.  Flynn  made  false  statements  or  

omissions  regarding  his  contacts  with  foreign  governments,  

specifically,  the  Republic  of  Turkey,  when  filing  documents  with  

the  Department  of  Justice  pursuant  to  the  Foreign  Agents  

Registration  Act,  commonly  referred  to  as  FARA.  

On  March  7th,  2017,  Mr.  Flynn  filed  multiple  documents  

pursuant  to  the  Foreign  Agents  Registration  Act.  In  the  filings,  

he  made  false  statements  or  omissions  by  stating  that  his  

company,  the  Flynn  Intel  Group,  Incorporated  did  not  know  whether  

or  the  extent  to  which  Turkey  was  involved  in  a  project  he  and  

his  company  performed,  quote,  for  the  principle  benefit  of  

Turkey,  end  quote,  when,  in  fact,  Turkish  officials  had  

supervised,  approved,  and  directed  the  work  his  company  

performed.  

Mr.  Flynn  also  made  false  statements  by  stating  that  his  

company' s  Turkey  project  was,  quote,  focused  on  improving  U. S.  

business  organizations'  confidence  regarding  doing  business  with  

Turkey,  end  quote,  when  that  was  not  the  primary  purpose.  

Finally,  Mr.  Flynn  made  a  false  statement  that  an  op-ed  he  

published  in  the  Hill  on  November  8th,  2016  was  written  at  his  
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own  initiative,  when  it  was  actually  written  for  Turkey' s  benefit  

at  its  direction  and  under  its  supervision.  

At  the  time  the  Turkish  officials  were  directing  and  

supervising  this  work,  Mr.  Flynn  was  also  serving  as  a  senior  

national  security  official  on  the  Trump  Campaign.  

With  respect  to  the  sentencing  questions  that  the  Court  

needs  to  focus  on  and  resolve  today,  the  Court,  pursuant  to  Title  

18,  U. S.  Code  section  3553(a)  ,  the  Court  must  impose  a  sentence  

that  it  fines  sufficient  but  not  greater  than  necessary  to  

reflect  the  seriousness  of  the  crime,  afford  adequate  deterrence,  

and  protect  the  public,  among  other  things.  

In  determining  the  particular  sentence  to  be  imposed,  the  

Court  must  consider  several  factors  as  set  forth  in  Title  18  U. S.  

Code  3553(a) .  Those  factors  include,  one,  the  nature  and  

circumstances  of  the  offense  and  the  history  and  characteristics  

of  the  defendant;  two,  the  need  for  the  sentence  to  reflect  the  

seriousness  of  the  offense,  to  promote  respect  for  the  law  and  

provide  just  punishment;  three,  the  need  for  the  sentence  to  

afford  adequate  deterrence;  four,  the  need,  if  any,  for  the  

sentence  to  protect  the  public  from  further  crimes  of  the  

defendant;  five,  the  need,  if  any,  to  provide  the  defendant  with  

correctional  treatment;  six,  the  sentences  available,  the  

sentencing  range,  and  any  applicable  policy  statements  set  forth  

in  United  States  Sentencing  Guidelines;  seven,  the  need  to  avoid  

unwarranted  sentence  disparities  among  similarly  situated  
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defendants; and eight, the need, if any, to provide restitution 

to victims. 

The process is highly individualized. As such, some of 

these factors are not relevant in Mr. Flynn' s case and some 

factors, including the seriousness of the crime, which the Court 

emphasizes, and the history and characteristics of the defendant, 

weigh very heavily. 

This is a very serious offense. A high-ranking senior 

official of the government making false statements to the Federal 

Bureau of Investigation while on the physical premises of the 

White House. 

The Court will also consider the defendant' s acceptance of 

responsibility and his substantial assistance in several 

investigations. In Mr. Flynn' s case, the government has filed a 

motion for a downward departure pursuant to Section 5K1. 1 of the 

Sentencing Guidelines. The memorandum states that Mr. Flynn 

provided substantial assistance to certain investigations. 

When the government files such a memorandum, the Court may 

depart - the Court' s not obligated to do so - and sentence the 

defendant to a lower sentence than contemplated by the 

Guidelines. In determining whether a reduction is warranted, the 

Court may consider the significance and usefulness of the 

defendant' s assistance, the truthfulness, completeness, and 

reliability of the defendant' s assistance, the nature and extent 

of the defendant' s assistance, any gains or injury the defendant 
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may  have  endured  as  a  result  of  his  assistance;  and  the  

timeliness  of  the  defendant' s  assistance,  among  other  

considerations.  

Mr.  Flynn' s  total  offense  level  is  4.  And  having  no  other  

criminal  history,  his  criminal  history  category  is  1.  Therefore,  

the  applicable  Guideline  range  is  zero  to  six  months  of  

incarceration  with  one  to  three  years  of  supervised  release.  

All  that  being  said,  the  Guidelines,  again,  are  advisory,  

as  I' ve  said  four,  five,  six  times.  The  Court  could  sentence  the  

defendant  to  a  sentence  above  or  below  the  Guidelines,  

notwithstanding  any  Section  5K1. 1  motion.  

Now,  I' d  like  to  hear  from  the  government  first,  all  

right.  Would  you  come  forward,  Counsel,  to  the  microphone.  And  

your  colleagues  can  join  you  if  they  wish  to,  whatever.  

And  again,  I' m  not  intentionally  trying  to  intrude  on  

matters  that  should  not  be  on  the  public  record,  so  I  will  

respect  your  resistance  to  answer  a  question,  all  right.  

Is  Mr.  Flynn  still  cooperating  with  and  providing  

assistance  to  the  government?  

MR.  VAN  GRACK:  Your  Honor,  it  remains  a  possibility  that  

General  Flynn  is  continuing  to  cooperate  with  the  government  at  

this  time.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  It' s  a  possibility?  

MR.  VAN  GRACK:  Yes,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  And  the  reason  I  ask  that  is  
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because, as you know and most people don' t know, most of these 

cooperation agreements are conducted in sealed courtrooms, and 

the public doesn' t really know a lot about cooperation efforts by 

individuals. And it' s for that reason - not for that reason, 

but the courts are reluctant to proceed to sentencing unless and 

until cooperation has been completed, more often than not, for 

cogent reasons. Because the Court wants to be in a position to 

fully evaluate someone' s efforts to assist the government. 

Had I taken the plea, I would have had a discussion with 

Mr. Flynn probably along these lines: I probably would have said 

something like, as I say in every case in which someone is 

cooperating, "the more you assist the government, the more you, 

arguably, help yourself at the time of sentencing. " 

Now, I make no promises about that. I mean, conceivably 

the Court could thank someone at the end of their cooperation 

after months or years and say "thank you" and sentence someone to 

the maximum. I don' t recall ever doing that, but that' s a 

possibility, and I tell people that. But I want people to have 

the best opportunity to help themselves at the time of 

sentencing. That' s why, more often than not, the Court will wait 

until the government says, "this person is finished; this person 

has testified in the Grand Jury" or "there have been pleas of 

guilty entered, there' s nothing else he can do to help us. " 

But there' s still a likelihood that he could help, though, 

correct? 
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MR.  VAN  GRACK:  And,  Your  Honor,  let  me  clarify  that  

point.  

THE  COURT:  Sure.  

MR.  VAN  GRACK:  Which  is  the  determination  on  the  path  of  

the  government  to  proceed  is  for  a  number  of  reasons,  which  is,  

one,  based  on  the  totality  of  the  assistance  that  the  defendant  

had  provided  at  that  point.  We  believe  that  it  did  merit  

substantial  assistance  in  the  filing  of  a  motion  for  a  downward  

departure,  and  we  made  a  submission  summarizing  that.  

Related  to  that  is,  based  on  the  government' s  view  of  not  

only  the  assistance  he  provided,  but  the  nature  of  the  

investigations  that  he  provided,  that  the  defendant  had  provided  

the  vast  majority  of  cooperation  that  could  be  considered.  And  

so  in  order  to  fully  inform  the  Court,  the  Court  was  in  a  

position  to  consider  the  vast  majority  of  not  just  the  

cooperation,  but  the  potential  benefit  of  that  cooperation.  And  

we' d  like  to  bring  to  the  Court' s  attention  that  we  just  had  an  

indictment  unsealed  in  the  Eastern  District  of  Virginia  charging  

Bijan  Rafiekian  and  Ekim  Alptekin  with  various  violations,  and  

the  defendant  provided  substantial  assistance  to  the  attorneys  in  

the  Eastern  District  of  Virginia  in  obtaining  that  charging  

document.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  Could  the  defendant  have  been  

indicted  in  that  indictment?  Could  he  have  been  charged  in  that  

indictment?  
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MR. VAN GRACK: And, Your Honor, the answer is yes, and 

the reason for that is that in the Statement of Offense in this 

case, the defendant refers to false statements in that FARA 

filing that are part of the indictment filed in the Eastern 

District of Virginia. 

THE COURT: All right. And I can assume that the person 

identified as "A" is the defendant, correct, or would you rather 

not mention that? 

MR. VAN GRACK: Your Honor, having not conferred with 

attorneys from the Eastern District of Virginia - I just want to 

be sensitive about -

THE COURT: I think that' s fair. I think that' s fair. 

Your answer is he could have been charged in that indictment. 

MR. VAN GRACK: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: And that would have been - what' s the 

exposure in that indictment if someone is found guilty? 

MR. VAN GRACK: Your Honor, I believe, if you' ll give me a 

moment, I believe it was a conspiracy, 18 U. S. C. 371, which I 

believe is a five-year offense. It was a violation of 18 U. S. C. 

951, which is either a five- or ten-year offense, and false 

statements - under those false statements, now that I think 

about it, Your Honor, pertain to Ekim Alptekin, and I don' t 

believe the defendant had exposure to the false statements of 

that individual. 

THE COURT: Could the sentences have been run consecutive 
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to one another? 

MR. VAN GRACK: I believe so. 

THE COURT: So the exposure would have been grave, then, 

would have been - it would have been - exposure to Mr. Flynn 

would have been significant had he been indicted? 

MR. VAN GRACK: Yes. And, Your Honor, if I may just 

clarify. That' s similar to the exposure for pleading guilty to 

18 U. S. C. 1001. 

THE COURT: Right. Exactly. I' m not minimizing that at 

all. It' s a five-year felony. 

MR. VAN GRACK: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Excuse me one second. 

(Brief pause in proceedings. ) 

THE COURT: Yes, Counsel. 

MR. VAN GRACK: Your Honor, I' d clarify that the maximum 

penalty for 18 U. S. C. 951 is a ten-year felony and five years -

THE COURT: Ten-years. All right. Thank you. 

I want to thank you at this point. I' m going to invite 

Mr. Flynn back at this point and his attorneys. Thank you, 

Counsel. 

So, at this point you' ve paid attention to what the 

attorney said, Mr. Flynn, correct? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: I want to ensure that you want to move forward 

today with sentencing. The government' s publicly filed Addendum 
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in  Aid  of  Sentencing,  quote,  seeks  to  provide  a  comprehensive  

description  of  the  benefit  the  government  has  thus  far  obtained  

from  your  substantial  assistance,  end  quote,  but  cautions  that  

some  of  that  benefit  may  not  be  fully  realized  at  this  time,  end  

quote,  and  that' s  not  different  from  what  counsel  just  said.  

There  could  be  a  need  for  further  cooperation  from  you.  Did  you  

understand  that?  

THE  DEFENDANT:  I  believe  I  understand  that,  yes,  Your  

Honor.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  And  I  don' t  know  what  that  could  

be,  but  I  accept  the  government' s  representations,  and  it  could  

involve  that  case  in  Virginia,  it  could  involve  other  matters  for  

which  you' ve  spoken  with  the  government,  because  you' ve  had  19  

interviews  with  the  government,  correct?  

THE  DEFENDANT:  Yes,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  

You' ve  asked  to  proceed  to  sentencing  at  this  time  and  for  

the  Court  to  assess  your  cooperation  and  substantial  assistance  

and  what  impact  that  will  have  on  the  Court' s  sentencing,  and  

that' s  your  desire,  to  proceed  with  sentencing  today,  correct?  

THE  DEFENDANT:  Yes,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  You' ve  heard  me  say  that  

sentencing  a  cooperating  defendant  before  cooperation  has  ended  

is  relevant,  is  rare.  Normally,  these  discussions  we' re  having  

now  are  held  in  sealed  courtrooms  with  people,  and  more  often  

Scott  L.  Wallace,  RDR,  CRR,  Official  Court  Reporter  

(202)354-319 *  scottlyn01@aol.com  6  
0078

Document  ID:  0.7.5218.6095-000005  

mailto:scottlyn01@aol.com













































































       


  





             

         

             

            

            

          

 

           

          

   

       

          

           

         

        

       

            

             

               

          

             

     

          

         

           

  

-

-

31 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

than not, I may weigh in and say, "let' s wait because more is 

expected of this defendant, " and, arguably, "he or she should 

have a chance to argue for the full benefit of that assistance. " 

And it' s only fair because the Court' s not bound by the 

recommendations. The Court has to be in a position to say, "I 

can consider everything now, the full extent of a defendant' s 

cooperation. " 

I can' t do that in your case because, arguably, you could 

be required to provide more cooperation to the government. Do 

you understand that? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: So, if you proceed to sentencing today, which 

is your prerogative and only yours, the Court will have to impose 

a sentence without fully understanding the true extent and nature 

of your assistance. Do you understand that? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: If you want to postpone this and come back at 

some later point - and I don' t know what that later point will 

be - that' s fine with me. Because at that time I can say the 

book is closed, the government is satisfied, there' s nothing else 

that Mr. Flynn can do, and I can evaluate everything that you' ve 

done or not done. 

I have to caution you, Mr. Flynn, that the sentence the 

Court imposes today, if sentencing proceeds, may not be the 

sentence that you would receive after your cooperation ends. 
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don' t know that to be a fact. I don' t know. I mean, who knows? 

I don' t have the proverbial crystal ball, but I always approach 

sentencing with an open mind, and I' m fully prepared to listen to 

the attorneys and the defendant and consider the full extent of 

someone' s cooperation. 

In other words, the Court likes to be in a position to say 

there' s nothing else this defendant can do to help the United 

States of America. He' s done everything that he can do. And 

then the Court focuses on what impact that has under the advisory 

Guidelines. 

I' m going to be frank with you. This crime is very 

serious. As I stated, it involves false statements to the 

Federal Bureau of Investigation agents on the premises of the 

White House, in the White House in the West Wing by a high 

ranking security officer with, up to that point, had an 

unblemished career of service to his country. That' s a very 

serious offense. 

You know, I' m going to take into consideration the 33 

years of military service and sacrifice, and I' m going to take 

into consideration the substantial assistance of several 

ongoing - several ongoing investigations, but I' m going to also 

take into consideration the aggravating circumstances, and the 

aggravating circumstances are serious. Not only did you lie to 

the FBI, but you lied to senior officials in the Trump Transition 

Team and Administration. Those lies caused the then-Vice 
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President-Elect,  incoming  Chief  of  Staff,  and  then-Press  

Secretary  to  lie  to  the  American  people.  Moreover,  you  lied  to  

the  FBI  about  three  different  topics,  and  you  made  those  false  

statements  while  you  were  serving  as  the  National  Security  

Advisor,  the  President  of  the  United  States'  most  senior  national  

security  aid.  I  can' t  minimize  that.  

Two  months  later  you  again  made  false  statements  in  

multiple  documents  filed  pursuant  to  the  Foreign  Agents  

Registration  Act.  So,  all  along  you  were  an  unregistered  agent  

of  a  foreign  country,  while  serving  as  the  National  Security  

Advisor  to  the  President  of  the  United  States.  

I  mean,  arguably,  that  undermines  everything  this  flag  

over  here  stands  for  (indicating) .  Arguably,  you  sold  your  

country  out.  The  Court' s  going  to  consider  all  of  that.  I  

cannot  assure  you  that  if  you  proceed  today  you  will  not  receive  

a  sentence  of  incarceration.  But  I  have  to  also  tell  you  that  at  

some  point,  if  and  when  the  government  says  you' ve  concluded  with  

your  cooperation,  you  could  be  incarcerated.  

It  could  be  that  any  sentence  of  incarceration  imposed  

after  your  further  cooperation  is  completed  would  be  for  less  

time  than  a  sentence  may  be  today.  I  can' t  make  any  guarantees,  

but  I' m  not  hiding  my  disgust,  my  disdain  for  this  criminal  

offense.  

THE  DEFENDANT:  Yes,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  But  it' s  your  call,  Mr.  Flynn.  I' m  just  being  
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up front with you, as I would with anyone else, and everyone who 

knows me knows that. If you want to proceed to sentencing today, 

I can' t promise anything other than I' ll give full consideration 

to anything you wish to say, if you want to say anything at all. 

You may say, "Judge, my lawyers have said everything possible. 

don' t want to say anything. " I would not hold that against you, 

sir. Do you understand that? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: But if you want some more time and to come 

back later after it' s clear that you' ve done everything you 

possibly can for the United States of America, I' m going to grant 

that request. 

Now, if you would like to take a recess now and talk to 

your attorneys, I' m happy to accommodate you in that regard as 

well. Would you like to do that? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Fair enough. Why don' t you have a 

seat. Let me ask the government a few more questions that I want 

you to consider as well. 

Counsel. And these are questions - answers to which the 

Court' s going to consider in attempting to determine an 

appropriate sentence. The conversation with the Russian 

ambassador in December, is that a violation of law? 

MR. VAN GRACK: Your Honor -

THE COURT: I hate to be so blunt. Could he have been 
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charged with a criminal offense? 

MR. VAN GRACK: Let me answer two ways. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. VAN GRACK: Which is the facts could potentially, 

potentially support a violation of the Logan Act, which I think 

is, perhaps, what the Court is referring to. 

THE COURT: Is that the Act that no one has ever been 

prosecuted under? 

MR. VAN GRACK: That' s right, which is why I want to be 

clear in terms of the government' s consideration of potential 

charges against General Flynn. That is not one of the charges 

that the government was considering in its interfacing with -

THE COURT: Fair enough. Good. That' s the answer I 

wanted. Were there other charges that could have been brought 

against Mr. Flynn, Other than FARA violations, false statements? 

I' m not minimizing either one of those. 

MR. VAN GRACK: The government' s Statement of Offense 

represents a representation of the unlawful activity that the 

government was -- believes that the defendant committed in terms 

of beyond a reasonable doubt. And in terms of other offenses, 

they were not sort of in consideration in our interfacing with 

the defendant. 

THE COURT: All right. I really don' t know the answer to 

this question, but given the fact that the then-President of the 

United States imposed sanctions against Russia for interfering 

Scott L. Wallace, RDR, CRR, Official Court Reporter 

(202)354-319 * scottlyn01@aol.com6 
0083

Document ID: 0.7.5218.6095-000005 

mailto:scottlyn01@aol.com













































































       


  





          

           

       

           

             

            

         

  

           

  

             

 

   

           

             

          

            

    

        

          

      

         

           

           

  

-

-

36 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

with federal elections in this country, is there an opinion about 

the conduct of the defendant the following days that rises to the 

level of treasonous activity on his part? 

MR. VAN GRACK: The government did not consider - I 

shouldn' t say - I shouldn' t say did not consider, but in terms 

of the evidence that the government had at the time, that was not 

something that we were considering in terms of charging the 

defendant. 

THE COURT: All right. Hypothetically, could he have been 

charged with treason? 

MR. VAN GRACK: Your Honor, I want to be careful what I 

represent. 

THE COURT: Sure. 

MR. VAN GRACK: And not having that information in front 

of me and because it' s such a serious question, I' m hesitant to 

answer it, especially because I think it' s different than asking 

if he could be charged under FARA or if there were other 1001 

violations, for example. 

THE COURT: The government filed a sentencing memorandum 

in which it recommended sentencing at the low end of the 

Guidelines, including probation. Subsequent thereto, the 

government filed its reply, which did not include the language 

"including probation. " Now, I' m going to assume that was 

intentional. 

MR. VAN GRACK: Your Honor, thank you for the opportunity 
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to  clarify.  The  government' s  recommendation  is  that  a  sentence  

at  the  low  end  of  the  Guideline  range  is  appropriate  and  

warranted  period.  And,  in  fact,  the  conclusion  of  the  

government' s  sentencing  memo  states  that  very  point.  The  

clarification  in  that  opening  paragraph  of  "including  a  term  of  

no  incarceration"  was  to  represent  that  when  we  say  "low  end  of  

the  Guideline  range, "  that,  in  fact,  could  include  a  term  of  no  

incarceration.  And  in  particular,  it  was  to  distinguish  some  

other  representations  that  the  Special  Counsel' s  Office  had  made  

in  other  cases  in  which  there  was  a  specific  recommendation  for  a  

term  of  incarceration.  So  it  was  meant  to  clarify  the  position  

from  the  beginning,  including  in  its  reply,  was  intended  to  be  

consistent.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  So,  there  was  an  intention  to  be  

consistent,  then?  

MR.  VAN  GRACK:  Yes,  yes.  The  government' s  representation  

that  a  sentence  at  the  low  end  of  the  Guideline  range  is  

warranted.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  The  points  raised  by  Mr.  Flynn  in  

his  sentencing  memorandum  concerned  the  Court.  Do  you  have  an  

opinion  as  to  whether  he' s  forfeited  the  adjustment  points  for  

acceptance  of  responsibility  by  raising  questions  about  the  

circumstances  surrounding  his  interview  with  the  FBI  agents  on  

January  the  24th?  

MR.  VAN  GRACK:  Your  Honor,  we  believe  that  he  has  
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accepted responsibility, not just from his statements to the 

Court today, but throughout the proceedings, including the 

statements he made under oath in front of Judge Contreras that he 

has accepted responsibility and acknowledges that his false 

statements were knowing and willful. 

THE COURT: All right. Because in your memo you say 

"assuming he continues to accept responsibility. " So, was there 

some doubt in your mind that he was wavering on acceptance? 

MR. VAN GRACK: Your Honor, though the government 

interpreted the defendant' s submission in the way that it was 

presented to the Court, which is to identify distinguishing 

characteristics to two other matters that the Special Counsel' s 

Office had prosecuted, it was also aware of the potential 

implications that the memorandum had made and wanted to clarify 

under no uncertain terms its position that those were not 

mitigating circumstances in any way, and is satisfied both in 

terms of the representations the defense counsel has made and his 

statements today that we do not doubt that he has accepted 

responsibility. 

THE COURT: All right. Excuse me one second, Counsel. 

(Brief pause in proceedings. ) 

THE COURT: Yes, Counsel. 

MR. VAN GRACK: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Nothing further? All right. I' m going to -

at Mr. Flynn' s request, I' m going to give them a - we' re going 
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to  take  a  recess.  I  can  never  see  that  clock  because  there' s  a  

glare  on  that  clock  there.  It' s  12: 04.  Until  12: 30.  Will  that  

be  enough  time?  

MR.  KELNER:  Yes,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  Do  you  have  any  other  questions  that  you  want  

to  ask  me  before  we  take  a  recess?  

MR.  KELNER:  Not  at  this  time,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  Any  questions,  Counsel?  

MR.  VAN  GRACK:  No,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  The  Court  will  stand  in  recess  

until  12: 30.  There' s  no  need  to  stand.  

THE  COURT:  Marshal  Ruffin.  There' s  a  room  available  for  

you  to  speak  privately  with  your  client,  Counsel,  and  Marshal  

Ruffin  will  accommodate  you.  Thank  you.  

(Thereupon,  a  recess  in  the  proceedings  occurred  from  

12: 09  p. m.  until  12: 45  p. m. )  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  Thank  you.  

THE  COURTROOM  CLERK:  Your  Honor,  resuming  Criminal  Case  

17-232,  United  States  of  America  versus  Michael Flynn.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  I  just  want  to  ask  a  couple  of  

questions.  This  is  directed  to  either  government  counsel  or  

defense  counsel.  I  made  a  statement  about  Mr.  Flynn  acting  as  a  

foreign  agent  while  serving  in  the  White  House.  I  may  have  

misspoken.  Does  that  need  to  be  corrected?  

MR.  VAN  GRACK:  Yes,  Your  Honor,  that  would  be  correct,  
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which is that the conduct ended, I believe, in mid-November 2016. 

THE COURT: All right. That' s what I thought, and I felt 

terrible about that. I just want the record clear on that. You 

agree with that, Counsel? 

MR. KELNER: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. I also asked about - and this is 

very important -- I also asked about the Special Counsel' s 

Office. I also asked questions about the Special Counsel and 

the - and other potential offenses for the purpose of 

understanding the benefit, if any, that Mr. Flynn has received in 

the plea deal. I wasn' t suggesting he' s committed treason. 

wasn' t suggesting he committed violations. I was just curious as 

to whether or not he could have been charged, and I gave a few 

examples. And, you know, there are a lot of conspiracy theorists 

out there. I' m not taking the elements of any of the uncharged 

offenses into consideration at the time of sentencing. I was 

just trying to determine the benefit of and the generosity of the 

government in bestowing a benefit on Mr. Flynn. That was the 

reason why. 

MR. VAN GRACK: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: And I said early on, Don' t read too much into 

the questions I ask. But I' m not suggesting he committed 

treason. I just asked a legitimate question. 

MR. VAN GRACK: Yes, Your Honor. And that affords us an 

opportunity to clarify something on our end which is, with 
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respect to treason, I said I wanted to make sure I had the 

statute in front of me. The government has no reason to believe 

that the defendant committed treason; not just at the time, but 

having proffered with the defendant and spoken with him through 

19 interviews, no concerns with respect to the issue of treason. 

THE COURT: Right, right, and I' ve never presided over a 

treasonous offense and couldn' t tell you what the elements are 

anyway. I just asked the question. All right. Thank you very 

much. How would you like to proceed, Counsel. 

MR. KELNER: Your Honor, with your indulgence, if I could 

make a few points. 

THE COURT: Sure. 

MR. KELNER: First of all, let me make very clear, Your 

Honor, that the decisions regarding how to frame General Flynn' s 

sentencing memorandum made by counsel, made by me, made by 

Mr. Anthony, are entirely ours and really should not and do not 

diminish in any way General Flynn' s acceptance of responsibility 

in this case. And I want to make that -

THE COURT: That point is well taken, but you understand 

why I had to make the inquiry? 

MR. KELNER: I do. 

THE COURT: Because I' m thinking, this sounds like a 

backpedaling on the acceptance of responsibility. It was a 

legitimate area to inquire about. And I don' t want to be too 

harsh when I say this, but I know you' ll understand. I would 
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never penalize any client for what his or her attorney has said. 

I' m not saying that you misspoke at all, but you understand 

absolutely why I had to make the inquiry. 

MR. KELNER: I absolutely understand. We understand the 

Court' s -

THE COURT: And I wouldn' t take it out on him or anyone 

else, for that matter, what the attorneys say, no. 

MR. KELNER: Right. We understand the Court' s reason for 

concern. I just wanted to make very clear the very specific 

reasons that those sections in the brief were included, to 

distinguish the Papadopoulos and Van der Zwaan cases, which did 

result in incarceration, we think are meaningfully 

distinguishable in many respects. 

THE COURT: Let me stop you on that point, because I' m 

glad you raised that, and I was going to raise this point at some 

point. We might as well raise it now since you brought up 

Papadopoulos and Van der Zwaan. The Court' s of the opinion that 

those two cases aren' t really analogous to this case. I mean, 

neither one of those individuals was a high-ranking government 

official who committed a crime while on the premises of and in 

the West Wing of the White House. And I note that there are 

other cases that have been cited in the memorandum with respect 

to other individuals sentenced in 2017, I believe, for 1001 

offenses, and the point being made - and I think it' s an 

absolutely good point - the point being made that no one 
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received a jail sentence. 

My guess is that not one of those defendants was a 

high-ranking government official who, while employed by the 

President of the United States, made false statements to the FBI 

officers while on the premises of and in the West Wing of the 

White House. That' s my guess. Now, if I' m wrong, then you can 

point me to any one or more of those cases. 

This case is in a category by itself right now, but I 

understand why you cited them. I appreciate that. 

MR. KELNER: Your Honor, we don' t disagree. We recognize 

that General Flynn served in a high-ranking position, and that is 

unique and relevant. But I -

THE COURT: Absolutely. 

MR. KELNER: But I would submit to you a couple of points 

in response for the Court' s consideration. 

Number one, because of his high rank and because of his 

former high office, when it came time to deal with this 

investigation and to deal with the Special Counsel' s Office, 

that, too, set a higher standard for him, and he did understand 

that as a three-star general and a former National Security 

Advisor, what he did was going to be very consequential for the 

Special Counsel' s investigation, and very consequential for the 

nation, so he made decisions early on to remain low profile, not 

to make regular public statements, as some other people did. 

That was acknowledged by the Special Counsel' s Office when we did 
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1 first hear from them, the value of that silence. 

2 And then he made the decision publicly and clearly and 

3 completely and utterly to cooperate with this investigation, 

4 knowing that, because of his high rank, that was going to send a 

5 signal to every other potential cooperator and witness in this 

6 investigation, and that was consequential, and we appreciate the 

7 fact that the Special Counsel memorialized that in his brief. 

8 That did make a decision, and that was another kind of high 

9 standard that was set for him and that he rose to and met 

10 decisively. In addition, there have been other cases -

11 THE COURT: Can I just stop you right now? Is - How do 

12 you wish to proceed? Do you wish to proceed with sentencing 

13 today or do you want to defer it? 

14 MR. KELNER: Thank you, Your Honor. 

15 THE COURT: Or are you leading up to that point? 

16 MR. KELNER: I' m leading up to that. 

17 THE COURT: No, that' s fine. 

18 MR. KELNER: Just a bit of indulgence, if I may. 

19 THE COURT: No, no. Go ahead. That' s fine. 

20 MR. KELNER: And let me just finish that last point. 

21 THE COURT: No, no, no. I' m not trying to curtail you. I 

22 just wanted to make sure I didn' t miss anything. 

23 MR. KELNER: I' m building up to it. I' m building up to 

24 it, Your Honor. 

25 THE COURT: All right. 
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MR. KELNER: In addition, I would note there have been 

other high profile cases, one involving a four-star general, 

General Petraeus. 

THE COURT: I don' t agree with that plea agreement, 

but don' t -

MR. KELNER: It' s a classic -

THE COURT: He pled to a misdemeanor? 

MR. KELNER: He was allowed after lying to the FBI -

THE COURT: - right -

MR. KELNER: - to plead to a misdemeanor and was 

sentenced to probation. 

THE COURT: All right. Well, I' m not going to 

criticize - I don' t know any of the facts about that case, other 

than what I' ve read in - what I' ve read, so. . . . 

MR. KELNER: I' ll just briefly highlight those examples. 

The Sandy Berger case, also involving a former National Security 

Advisor, also included lies to government officials. He was also 

allowed to plead to a misdemeanor and also sentenced to 

probation. So there is precedence. But I want to be clear. We 

absolutely take your point. General Flynn recognizes the 

obligations that came with high office and that this is a serious 

offense. We don' t in any way dispute that. 

But at the same time, knowing that high standard, he made 

use of it in sending a signal as part of the larger Special 

Counsel' s investigation. 
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Your  Honor,  I  would  like  to  also  emphasize  that  our  

understanding,  and  I  think  it' s  been  reiterated  today,  is  that  it  

remains  the  position  of  the  Special  Counsel' s  Office  that  a  

sentence  at  the  low  end  of  the  Guidelines  range,  quote,  including  

a  sentence  that  does  not  impose  a  term  of  incarceration,  is  

appropriate  and  warranted  in  the  government' s  view,  and  we' ve  

just  reconfirmed  that  with  them.  

I' d  like  to  highlight  that  General  Flynn  has  held  nothing  

back,  nothing  in  his  extensive  cooperation  with  the  Special  

Counsel' s  Office.  He' s  answered  every  question  that' s  been  

asked.  I  believe  they  feel  that  he' s  answered  them  truthfully,  

and  he  has.  He' s  complied  with  every  request  that' s  been  made,  

as  has  his  counsel.  

Nothing  has  been  held  back.  That  said,  it  is  true  that  

this  EDVA  case  that  was  indicted  yesterday  is  still  pending,  and  

it' s  likely,  I  would  think,  that  General  Flynn  may  be  asked  to  

testify  in  that  case.  We  haven' t  been  told  that,  but  I  think  

it' s  likely,  and  he' s  prepared  to  testify.  And  while  we  believe  

that  the  Special  Counsel' s  Office  views  his  cooperation  as  having  

been  very  largely  complete,  completed  at  this  point,  it  is  true  

that  there' s  this  additional  modicum  of  cooperation  that  he  

expects  to  provide  in  the  EDVA  case,  and  for  that  reason,  we  are  

prepared  to  take  Your  Honor  up  on  the  suggestion  of  delaying  

sentencing  so  that  he  can  eke  out  the  last  modicum  of  cooperation  

in  the  EDVA  case  to  be  in  the  best  position  to  argue  to  the  
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Court the great value of his cooperation. 

THE COURT: Let me tell you something. It didn' t occur to 

me to do that. I just raised the thought. I' m prepared to go 

forward today, but I think it' s only fair to say exactly what I 

did say. 

MR. KELNER: Yes. 

THE COURT: So, you know, call it a suggestion or a 

thought. It was a thought. I didn' t, you know, say, you know, 

wink-wink, nod-nod, you need to do this. So if you want to 

proceed today, I' m prepared to do so. 

MR. KELNER: We do not take it as a wink-wink, nod-nod. 

THE COURT: And I' m not promising anything either. 

MR. KELNER: And we understand that. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. KELNER: But from the beginning of this process, 

literally from the beginning, General Flynn has cooperated with 

Director Mueller and the Special Counsel' s investigation in every 

way imaginable, and he' s prepared to continue that cooperation 

with respect to the EDVA case, which I think is the only area 

which there is anything left to give, probably just consisting of 

his testimony at trial in that case. 

But we would like to request a continuance of sentencing 

to allow him to complete that cooperation, and I might suggest, 

perhaps, a status conference in 90 days, if it - if it makes 

sense to the Court. 
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THE COURT: That' s fine with the Court. 

Mr. Flynn, why don' t you join your attorney at the 

microphone. Mr. Flynn. 

All right, sir. You' ve heard your attorney indicate that 

you would like to postpone this. Again, the Court' s not making 

any promises. The Court was just being up front with you, like 

I' ve been up front with people for more than 30 years, and that' s 

all I was doing. If you want to proceed today, I would proceed 

today, but I' m not making any promise as to what the sentence 

will be in the event you cooperate with that matter, about this 

or other matters. Do you understand that? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I understand Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Okay. Does the government have an 

objection to doing this? 

MR. VAN GRACK: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Let me just say this. I probably 

shouldn' t. Having said that, I probably shouldn' t. I don' t 

agree with the Petraeus sentence. I' m sorry. I don' t see how a 

four-star general gives classified information to someone not 

authorized to receive it and then is allowed to plead to a 

misdemeanor, but I don' t know anything about it. Maybe there 

were extenuating circumstances. I don' t know. It' s none of my 

business, but it' s just my opinion. 

And that has no impact - I would not take that into 

consideration in whatever sentence I impose here. Just based 
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upon what I know about that case, I just disagreed with it. 

That' s all. 

MR. KELNER: Understood. 

THE COURT: Counsel, what day would you want? I mean, I 

can probably accommodate - the 12th is not a good date. March 

12th is not a good date, but otherwise, if you want to suggest a 

date that' s convenient for everyone, that' s fine with me. 

MR. ANTHONY: May I confer? 

THE COURT: Sure. 

(Discussion had off the record. ) 

MR. KELNER: Your Honor, after consulting with the 

government, we suggest a status report rather than a status 

conference. 

THE COURT: Sure. 

MR. KELNER: And for a date, I believe March 13th would 

work. 

THE COURT: Any date you want now, that' s fine, to file a 

status report. That' s fine. 

MR. KELNER: We propose March 13th for the status report. 

THE COURT: Sure, that' s fine. Let' s just say by noon on 

the 13th of March. 

MR. KELNER: Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Anything further? 

MR. KELNER: Nothing further from us. 

THE COURT: From government counsel? 
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MR. VAN GRACK: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Flynn, do you have any questions you want 

to ask me or your attorneys? Do you have any questions you want 

to ask me? 

THE DEFENDANT: I have none, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Excuse me one second. 

(Brief pause in proceedings. ) 

THE COURT: Let me just throw this out. Let me just share 

this with you. 

What I could do, and maybe it' s not appropriate to do it 

now, and maybe it' s not appropriate to do it in March. At some 

point - it probably won' t surprise you that I had many, many, 

many more questions, and at some point what I may do is share 

those questions with counsel so you can give some thought, maybe 

do some additional research to be prepared for an eventual 

sentencing. I' m not sure if I want to do that. I was not going 

to spend another hour and share those questions with you in open 

court today, had you decided to postpone sentencing, but I may do 

that. I' m not sure. These are questions that you would be 

prepared to answer anyway, such as, you know, how the 

government' s investigation was impeded? What was the material 

impact of the criminality? Things like that. 

MR. KELNER: Your Honor, I think we would find it very 

helpful, actually, and would welcome the opportunity. 

THE COURT: I thought you might say that. I' ll give it 
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1 Isome thought, because my purpose is not to sandbag anyone. 

2 want your best thoughts, your best answers about questions that 

3 are - that I believe are very relevant and important, but it' s 

4 not time to do that now, and it won' t be time to do it before 

5 March 13th, but I may do that. 

6 MR. KELNER: Thank you, Your Honor. 

7 THE COURT: All right. Sure. Would the government find 

8 that of any benefit? You probably know the questions I' m going 

9 to ask anyway, impeding the investigation, materiality impact. 

10 MR. VAN GRACK: We would not object to any clarification 

11 from the Court. 

12 THE COURT: Okay. All right. Thank you, all. And happy 

13 holidays, everyone. Thank you. 

14 MR. KELNER: Thank you, Your Honor. 

15 (Proceedings adjourned at 1: 01 p. m. ) 
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Case 1:17 cr 00232 EGS Document 107 Filed 08/30/19 Page 1 of 5 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 
Crim. No 17-232 (EGS). 

MICHAEL T. FLYNN, 

Defendant 

JOINT STATUS REPORT 

The United States ofAmerica, by and through the U.S. Attorney for the 

District ofColumbia, and Mr. Flynn through his counsel, file this joint status 

report to p  current status of thisrovide the Court with the matter. 

On June 24, 2019, the Court ordered the parties to file another joint status 

report by no later than August 30, 2019. On August 21, 2019, the Court instructed 

that the status ort address four top  status of the defendant’srep  ics: (1) the 

cooperation; (2) whether the case is ready for sentencing; (3) suggested dates for the 

sentencing hearing, if a p riate; and (4) whether there any issues that wouldrop  are 

require the Court's resolution p  sentencing.rior to 

The parties are unable to reach a onse on the above topjoint resp  ics. 

Accordingly, our ective resp  are set forth separately below. Consideringresp  onses 

these disagreements, the government respectfully requests that the Court schedule 

a status conference. Defense counsel suggests that a status conference before 30 

days would be too soon, but leaves the scheduling of such, if any, to the discretion of 

the Court. The government is available on tember 4th, 5th, 9th 10th of 2019,Sep  or 
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or thereafter as  the  Court  may order.  Defense  counsel  are  not  available  on those  

specific  dates.  

I.  Co  r  llo  unsel fo the  defendant advises  the fo  wing:  

1.  Mr.  Flynn’s  coop  lete.  He  erated  eration is  comp  not only coop  

extensively with the Sp  rosecutors  ecial Counsel’s  office,  but also  with  the  p  in the  

Eastern District  ofVirginia in the  Rafiekian case.  This  cost Mr.  Flynn more  than  

100 hours  ofhis  time and hundreds  of thousands  ofdollars  in additional legal fees.  

He  even  rivilege  and the  p  roduct  waived the  attorney-client p  rotection of the  work-p  

doctrine  to  erative  effort.  enhance  his  coop  

2.  The  case  is  not ready for sentencing.  As  new counsel,  we  have only  

recently received the  entire  file,  which occup  rised ofmore  ies  13  hard drives,  comp  

than 300,000 documents,  and we  are  still working with p  some  rior counsel to  tie  up  

loose  ends.  The  last of those  hard drives  was  loaded to  our document  review  just up  

system  within the last 30 days.  Desp  our  aite  best efforts,  it will still  take  

significant amount of time  to  lete  review.  More  troubling,  there  is  much  comp  our  

information that we  rior counsel.  Thus,  the  defense  do  not have—and neither did p  

requests  an  additional 90 days  before  the  next status  ort.rep  

3.  For the  reasons  set out  above,  the  defense  does  not have  any dates  to  

suggest  for sentencing.  

4.  There  are  serious  issues  to  be  addressed by the  Court before  we  can  

proceed further.  First,  the  government continues  to  deny our request for security  

2 
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clearances. Our attemp to come to ats resolve that issue with the government have 

dead end, thus requiring the intervention of this Court. 

Our client held the highest security clearance the government provides. We 

know—but not in any detail because of our lack of clearance—that he briefed and 

debriefed the DIA about his foreign contacts and travel. All that material is 

relevant to the charges against him, and it is most likely Brady material to boot. 

Although Mr. Flynn was a civilian at the time, that information remains classified--

or at a minimum withheld from the defense. 

There is other information relevant to the defense that is either classified or 

being su p  are tsressed by the government, not the least ofwhich the transcrip and 

recordings of the p  su p  in the charges against Mr.hone calls that osedly underp  

Flynn. The government has steadfastly refused to produce those – even to this 

Court. The Inspector General of the Department of Justice has comp  oneleted or 

more relevant rep  that include classified sections, and he is comports leting 

additional reports that rep  a large classified section –ortedly will include a 

significant portion ofwhich will almost certainly relate to Mr. Flynn. We must have 

access to that information to rep  ourresent client consistently with his 

constitutional rights and our ethical obligations. 

Second, the government has also failed to produce, among other things, the 

original or first draft of the FBI 302 of the interview ofMr. Flynn on January 24, 

2017, and the 1A file which we eatedly requested, and any recordshave rep  or 

documents that show everyone who made changes to that 302. 
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Case 1:17 cr 00232 EGS Document 107 Filed 08/30/19 Page 4 of 5 

We exp  identify issues for the Court p  tly, and will file theect to more romp  we 

a propriate motions to address those issues as soon as possible. In the interest of 

efficiency, we will certainly continue to review the materials we do have 

simultaneously with addressing these additional issues. 

II. The go  advises the fo  wing:vernment llo  

1. The defendant’s cooperation has ended. 

2. The is ready for sentencing, and the government p oses thecase rop  

following dates for a sentencing hearing: October 21-23, 2019, or November 1-15, 

2019. 

3. The government is not aware of any issues that require the Court’s 

resolution p  sentencing.rior to 

4. We take very seriously our discovery and disclosure obligations, to 

include those sp  osed by the Court in this case. As we reviouslyecifically imp  have p  

communicated to defense counsel, discovery and disclosure of classified national 

security information, as redecessordefined under Executive Order 13526 and its p  

Executive Orders, is governed by the procedures set forth under the Classified 

Information Procedures Act, 18 U.S.C. A p III. Sections 1-16 (“CIPA”), and. 

specifically CIPA Section 4. A defendant and his/her cleared counsel in a criminal 

p  access classified U.S. government information whenrosecution may only obtain to 

such classified material is deemed both “relevant” and “helpful to the defense.” See 

United States v. Yunis, 867 F.2d 617, 623-24 (D.C. Cir. 1989). 
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Case  1:17  cr  00232  EGS  Document 107  Filed  08/30/19  Page 5 of 5  

The  government  has  exceeded its  discovery  and disclosure  obligations  in this  

matter,  including those  imp  ursuant to  373 U.S.  83  osed p  Brady  v.  Maryland,  

(1963),  and the  Court’s  Standing Brady Order dated February 16,  2018.  That  

includes  the  provision to  the  defendant of over 22,000 pages  ofdocuments.  Among  

those  documents  are  ossession of the  FBI  rep  all versions  in the government’s  p  ort of  

the  January 24,  2017 interview  of the  defendant and the  interviewing agents’  notes.  

The  defendant and his  p  were  ossession of those  notes  and draft  rior counsel  in  p  

rep  of the  January 24 interview before his  scheduled sentencing  December  orts  on  

18,  2018.  The  government has  not provided any classified information to the  

defendant or his  counsel,  and the  government  is  not  aware  of any classified  

information that requires  disclosures  to  the  defendant  or his  counsel under Brady  

or the  Court’s  Standing Brady  Order.  

Respectfully submitted,  

JESSIE K.  LIU  SIDNEY POWELL  
U.S.  Attorney for the District ofColumbia  JESSE BINNALL  

Attorneys  for Defendant  
BRANDON L.  VAN GRACK  

Special Assistant  U.S.  Attorney  

DEBORAH CURTIS  
JOCELYN BALLANTINE  
Assistant  United States  Attorneys  
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OuCharme, Set h (ODAG) 

From: DuCharme, Seth (OOAG) 

Sent: Tuesday, January 7, 2020 2:43 PM 

To: Liu, Jessie (USADC) 

Cc: Weinsheimer, Bradley (ODAG); Demers, John C. {NSD); Evangelista, Alessio 
{USADC) 

Subject: Re: Prosecutors. Ask That Michael Flynn Get Prison Time - The New York Times 

Thanks. This looks fairly straightforward too: 

"It is within the government's sole discretion to determine whether the defendant 
has 'substantially assisted' the government,-" prosecutor Brandon Van Grack wrote 
in a 33-page court filing. ''In light of the complete record, including actions 
subsequent to December 18, 2018, that negate the benefits of much of the 
defendant's earlier cooperation, the government no longer deems the defendant's 
assistance 'substantial.'" 

Sent from my iPhone 

On Jan 7, 2020, at 2:37 PM, Liu, Jessie (USAOC) <JLiu3@usa.doj.gov> wrote : 

(b) (5) Yes. 

On Jan 7, 2020, at 2:34 PM, Ducharme, Seth {ODAG) <seducharme@jmd.usdoj.gov> wrote: 

"Federal prosecutors reco1nmended on Tuesday that President 
Trump's former national security adviser Michael T. Flynn be 
sentenced to up to six months in prison" 

Sounds like we actually just asked for the guidelines range of 
zero to six months, right? 

Sent from my iPhone 

On Jan 7, 2020, at 2:12 PM, Liu, Jessie (USADC) 
<JUu3@usa.doj.gov> wrote: 

https://ww1.v.nytimes.com/2020/01/07/us/politics/flynn­
prosecutors-sentencing.html 
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White House Press Office 

From: White House Press Office 

Sent: Tuesday, January 7, 2020 3:57 PM 
To: patrick.hovakimian4@usdoj.gov 

Subject: pool report #7b/ expanded Ukraine quote re aid sent "a head of schedule" 

From: Gillman, Todd <t~Ilman@da11asnews.com> 

Se nt: Tuesday, January 7, 2020 3:48 PM 

Subjeet: pool report #7b/ e>..-panded Ukraine quote re aid sent "ahead of schedule" 

This is a yet more ID..-panded version of the president's comments on Ukraine, including the part where he 

asserted that military aid that had been frozen was ultimately delivered "two or three weeks ahead of 

schedule." 

Q: "Will you be OK ifJohn Bolton testifies? He indicated yesterday that he ,vould ifhe is subpoenaed.'' 

Trump: "That's going to be up to the la,\yers. It'll be up to the Senate, andwe'll see how they feel. He would 

k:nO'w nothing about ' "'hat we're talking about, because as you know the Ukrainian government came out 

with a very strong statement no pressure no anything and this from the boss. That's from the President of 

Ukraine. The Foreign Minister came out with a statement that was equally as strong. And frankly, ifyou 

look at it and you look at everything, all they have to do is read the transcripts. Take a look, not just at one, 

you takea look at two transcripts. Theywere absolutely perfect. There was absolutely nothing done "'rrong. 

There was no false statement, and it's crazy that it's gotten to a point w11ere you -- look, Ukraine, the 

Presid.ent ofUkraine said there was no pressure whatsoever. There ,v-as no pressure on his country 

v,·hatsoever. And by the way, in terms of the money, it got there two or three·weeks ahead of schedule, long 

before it was supposed to be there. There was absolutely nothing done wrong." 

Also, as pool v,-as heading out of the Oval, Fox's John Roberts asked about the prosecution's 

recommendation of 6 months in prison for former National SecurityAdvisor Michael Flynn. POTUS said hE 
was learning about it from the question and had nothing of substance to say on it. 

Todd J. Gilhnan 
Washington Bureau Chief 

The Dallas Morning N ei,vs 

!\1: (b) (6) 

0: 202.661.8421 

tg_illman@dallasnews.com 

@ToddGillman 
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Ducharme, Seth (ODAG) 

From: DuCharme, Seth (ODAG) 

Sent: Tuesday, January 7, 2020 4:05 PM 

To: Rosen, Jeffrey A. (ODAG) 

Subject: Re: pool report #7b 

Thanks 

I've been following the pre·ss reports -
(b)(5) 

The headlines say we ask for jail time - the body of most of the articles say "up to six months" 

Sent from my iPhone 

On Jan 7, 2020, at 4:02 PM, Rosen, Jeffrey A. (ODAG) <jarosen@jmd.usdoj.gov> wrote: 

Note last paragraph. 

From: White House Press Office <info@mail.whitehouse.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, January 7, 2020 3:57 PM 
Subject: pool report #7b/ expanded Ukraine quote re aid sent "ahead of schedule" 

From: Gillman, Todd <tgillman@dallasnews.com> 

Sent: Tuesday, January 7, 2020 3:48 PM 

Subject; pool report # 7b/ expanded Ukraine quote re aid sent "ahead of schedule" 

This is a yet more a.~-panded version of the president's comments on Ukraine, 

including the part '"''here he asserted that military aid that had been frozen was 

ultimately delivered "rwo or three ,veeks ahead of schedule." 

Q: "Will you be OK ifJohn Bolton testifies? He indicated yesterday that he ,vould if 

he is subpoenaed." 

Trump: "That's going to be up to the lavt"Yers. It'll be up to the Senate, and we'll see 

how they feel. He would know nothing aboutwhat we're talking about, because as 

you kno·w the Ukrainian government came out ,\-;th a very strong statementno 

pressure no anything and this from the boss. That's from the President of Ukraine. 

The Foreign_ :Minister came out '"'1th a statement that was equally as strong. And 
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frankly, ifyou look at it and you look at everything, all they have to do is read the 

transcripts. Take a look, not just at one, yon take a look at two transcripts. They 

, ..·ere absolutely perfect. There was absolutely nothing done Vl.-"'1'.ong. There was no 

false statement, and it's crazy that it's gotten to a point where you -- look, Ukraine, 

the President of Ukraine said there was no pressure ,•lhatsoever. There was no 

pressure on his country whatsoever. And by the way, in terms of the money, it got 

there two or three weeks ahead of schedule, long before it was supposed to be 

there. There was absolutely nothing done wrong." 

Also, as pool was heading out ofthe Oval, Fox's John Roberts asked about the 

prosecution's recommendation of 6 months in prison for former National Security 

Advisor Michael Flynn. POTUS said he was learning about it from the question 

and had nothing of substance to say on it. 

Todd J. Gillman 
Washington Bureau Chief 

The Dallas Morning News 

M: (b) (6) 

0: 202.661.8421 

tgillman@dailasnews.com 

@ToddGillman 

Uruub£cribe 

The White House• 1600 Pennsylvania Ave Ni'{• Washington, DC 20500 •USA· 202-456-1111 

0122 

Document ID: 0.7.5218.6334 

mailto:tgillman@dailasnews.com


Rosen, Jeffrey A. (ODAG) 

From: Rosen, Jeffrey A. (OOAG) 

Sent: Tuesday, January 7, 2020 4:08 PM 

To: Ducharme, Seth (ODAG}; Demers, John C. (NSD) 

Subject : fyi 

WaPo: "Michael Flynn deserves up to six months in prison, U.S. Justice Department 
says in reversal for former Trump national security adviser," Spencer S. Hsu, January 
07, 2020, 12:51 PM 
Federal prosecutors on Tuesday recommended that former national security adviser Michael T. 
Flynn serve up to six months in prison, reversing thefr earl'ier recommendation of probation 
because of his drawn out attacks against the FBI and Justice Department The dramatic 
revocation of the Justice Department's request for leniency came weeks after Flynn's sentencing 
judge on Dec_ 16 categorically rejected Flynn's claims of prosecutorial misconduct and that he 
had been duped into pleading guilty to lying to FBI agents about his Russian contacts after the 
2016 U.S. electron. (Continue Reading] See also: CNBC, NYT, WSJ 
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White House Press Offiee 

From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Subje<:t: 

White House Press Office 

Tuesday, January 7, 2020 5:16 PM 

patrick.hovakimian4@usdoj.gov 

Remarks by President Trump and Prime Minister Mitsotakis of t he Hellenic Republic 
Before Bilateral Meeting 

~ The \ol/hite 

Office of the Press Secretary 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

January 7, 2020 

REM11-RKS BY PRESIDENT TRUMP 

AND PRIME MINISTER MITSOT~..KIS OF THE HELLENIC REPUBLIC 

BEFORE BILATERAL MEETING 

Oval Office 

2 : 20 P .M. EST 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well, thank you very much. On behalf of 

the First Lady and mysel£, it's an honor to have the Prime 

Minister o f Greece and First Lady of Greece with us . We really 

appreciate it . We have many things to discus.:i . 

The relationship i s extr- - - really extraordinary, I would 

say . Right? It's as good as it can get. We're doing a lot of 

things together -- military . We' re also doing big trade . A lot 

o f trade . And Greece has made a tremendous comeback . ,'le' ve 

worke d with them very closely. And , really, the Prime Minister 

will have some interesting things to say. So you have t o tell 

them one statistic, because it's a great statistic . We're very 

proud o f Greece and the comeback that they' re making . J.>_nd we will 

continue it f orwar d . There 's no doubt about it . Thank you very 

much f or being here . 

PRIME MINISl'ER MITSOTJi..KIS : Thank you. Thank you, Mr . 
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President . It 's a real privilege to be here at a very important 

time . You were r ight to point o ut that this relationship is the 

best it ever was . But it can become even better . 

Both o n the g e opolitical side, we're looking f o r your 

constant support, strengthening t he strategic relationship . 

On the defense s ide, we've ma d e lots of progress in terms o f 

making s ure that you have a reliable and predictable ally in a 

complicated part o f the world . But I also wants to stress the 

economic aspect o f o ur relationship. The Greek economy has done 

extreme ly well over the pas t months. We have lowere d taxes . We 

are deregulating . We're f ollowing a recipe that has also worked 

her,e in the --

PRESIDENT l'RlJMP : (Laughs . ) Yeah . That's right . 

PRIME MINI S:l'ER Mi r:'SO'l'JUU S : in the Unite d States . And the 

e conomy i s reacting very positively . So we' ll a l s o b e looking t o 

your support to convince 1!2nerican companies to invest more in 

Greece and help us grow the e conomy at a pace where people are 

really going to fee l the difference. 

So it 's a privilege t o b e here . You can always count on --

t he United States can always count on Greece as a reliable and 

predictable ally in our part of the world . 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well, we appreciate it . ltnd again, 

congratulations . Really, o ne o f the -- percentage-wise, one of 

the biggest increases in the world . ~..nd that's a big statement . 

And that ' s a tremendous comeback. ~..nd you've done a fantastic 

job . You ' ve really united the cou ntry. 

So again, congratulations. 

PRIME MINI STER MITSOTJ!...KI S : Thank you . Thank you . Thank you 

very much, Mr . Pres ident . 

Q Mr . President? 
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PRESIDENT TRUMP : Yeah . 

Q A lot o f questions are being asked in Washington and 

across America about what evidence y o u had that Qasem Solei.mani 

wa::, p lanning attacks agaL"lst American targets. What can you tell 

us about what you knew prior to ordering the attac k'? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well, number one, I knew the past. His 

pas t was horrible. .Eie was a terrorist. He was a -- s o designated 

by President Obama, as you know. ll.nd he wasn't even suppo sed t o 

be ou tside o f his o wn country; he was . So, right there . 

But that's, in a way, the least o f it . We had an attac k very 

recently that he was in charge o f, where we had people horribly 

·wounded, one dead . In fact, the number now, as of this morning, I 

believe i s t wo dead . And t hat was his. He was traveling with the 

head o f Hezbollah. They weren't there to dis cuss a vacation . 

They weren' t there to g-o to a nice r e sort someplace in Baghdad . 

They were there to dis cuss bad business. 

And we saved a lot o f lives by tenninating his life . A lot 

o f lives were saved . They were planning s omething, and you're 

going to be hearing abo u t it, or at least various people in 

Congress are going to be hearing about it tomorrow . 

Our Secretary o f State covered it very wel l a little while 

ago . I saw him . I saw his new conference -- Mike . And if you 

want to mention a couple of things in addition t o what I ' ve just 

said . But we had tremendous inf ormation . We've been following 

him f o r a long time . JI.aid we f ollowed his path for those three 

days . And they were not good stops. We didn't like where he was 

stopping . They ~,ere not good stops . We .3 aved a l o t o f lives . 

Mike'? 

SECRE~~__RY POMPEO: Mr . President, I' d only add we had d eep 

intelligence indicating t here was active plotting to put J!.merican 

lives at risk. J!_nd I'm conf ident, and I think the President is 

confident too, that the actions that the President took saved 

ll.merican lives, saved lives of Iraqi Muslims as well . It was t h e 

r ight t h ing to do . P..nd our Department of Defense did an excellent 
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job executing the mission . 

Q ~..nd, Mr. President, can --

PRESIDENT TRUMP : ~.nd, as you know, he killed at least 608 

1"..mericans, but the number is much higher than that . He's also 

very much -- roadside bombs and all of the horrible explosives 

that you see, he was a big believer and sent them everywhere . He 

was somebody that we did ourselves and we did a lot of countries a 

big favor . And I've been -- I've been hearing from countries. 

'l'hey were extremely happy with what we did . ~_nd if you look 

inside Iran itself, there were plenty of those leaders that were 

happy because they feared him and didn' t like him, in many cases . 

Q Could you also clear up, Mr. President, whether Iranian 

cultural sites would be on any future target list? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well, as I said yesterday, it was very 

interesting, they 're allowed to kill our people, they're allowed 

to maim our people, they're allowed to blow up everything that we 

have and there 's nothing that stops them, and we are - - according 

to various laws -- supposed to be very careful with their cultural 

heritage. ~..nd you know what? If that's what the law is, I will 

-- I like to obey the law . 

But think of it : They kill our people, they blow up our 

people, and then we have to be very gentle with their cultural 

institutions . But I'm okay with it . It's okay with me. 

I will say this: If Iran does anything that they shouldn't be 

doing, they're going to be suffering the consequences, and very 

strongly. 

All right . Steve? 

Q ~...re there any signs of imminent retaliation from the 

Iranians? ~-I'l.Y indications of imminent --

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well., don't forget: In our case , it was 

retaliation because they were there first. They killed look, :r 
_, __ , .a.. t... - -- .a... - .... - ~ 1- - ,__ -- .. ..... t. : - 'Cl-- .., 0 ·- ,,.., 
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~a~~a o n ~ nave ~o aoou~ nJ.Jll. 

monster . But just in the very short period of time, two people 

dead, people badly injured, and then, before that, there were 

other attacks . And look at what he was planning. 

So that' l l be discussed tomorrow morning . Right now, it's 

class ified . That'll be discussed tomorrow with Mike Pompeo and 

the Joint Chiefs of Staff . 

Q And is the U. S . prepared for an Iranian attack? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : We're prepared . We're totally prepared . 

And likewise, we're prepared to attack if we have to, as 

retribution . 

Q Mr. President, Iran's leaders say that any response to 

the Soleimani killing would be, quo te, "proportionate . " What 

would the United States d o in the event of any Iranian 

(inaudible) ? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP: So, again, J ohn, if you look at what's 

going on, -ours was a - - an attack based on what they did. l'l.e 

weren't the first one out. He killed an Jl..merican. Now two peopl e 

are dead from the same attack, and some people very badly 

wounded . Jl--.nd that was one of his smaller endeavors . 

If you look over his past, his past -- he's been called a 

"monster," and he was a monster. Jl.nd he ' s no l onger a monster ; 

he's dead . And that's a good thing for a lot o f countries . And 

he was planning a very big attack and a very bad attack for us and 

o ther people. ~~d we s topped him . 

~..nd I don't think anybody can complain about it . I don't 

hear too many people -- other than politicians who are trying to 

win the presidency . Those are the ones that are c omplaining . But 

I don't hear anybody else complaining . 

Go ahead . 

Q Mr . Pres ident, you called him a "monster," but your 

fr i end . Erdoaan. c a lle d h im a "ma rtvr." What i 3 v o ur r eac t :1on? 
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---- · ----:,-••r ------ _,._,.. - --- -.:,r- • ......__ .z--- -----••-, -- ..---- · 

PRESIDENT TRUMP: Well, I guess everybody - - to each his 

own . I ·mean, I disagree 100 percent, and I'm sure he does too . 

But he has a public to take care of, and I guess that's for his 

own reason . But I'm actually surprised to hear that, but that's 

okay . 

Q Are you willing to make a deal with Greece regarding 

F- 35s, sir? 

PRESIDENT TROMP: Say it? 

Q Are you willing to make .a deal with Greece regarding 

F-35? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : So Greece a.-id I, and my people and -- we 

have a whole group of people. And as you see, they brought a lot 

of great representatives from Greece that we've been dealing 

with . We have a tremendous Greek population -- over 3 million 

people, as I understand it. That's fantastic. I think I know 

I really feel I know most of them. I think I know all of them, 

come to think ,of it . But it's a great population in the United 

States. 

We're going to be meeting, we're going to be talking, we're 

going to be negotiating, and we're going to be making a lot of 

deals . 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOTAKIS: Let me add something to that . 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : We have a really great relationship with 

Greece . 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOT1tKIS : Let me add something to that : 

Greece is interested, Mr. President, in participating in the F-35 

program. As you know, we are already upgrading our F-16s. 

PRESIDENT TRUMP: Yeah. 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOTll_KIS: Jtnd that program will be 
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completed in 2023, 2024. So we're very much interested in 

participating in the F-35 program after that . Jl..nd I'm sure that 

the U. S . will take into cons ideration the £act that this country 

i s coming out o f an e conomic crisis, in terms of structuring the 

progr am in the best possible way for my country . 

PRESIDENl' TRUMP : That' s true. 11..nd, you know, they just 

signed a very big renovation of exi sting aircraft. They have 

great a i rcraft , but it's gotten a little bit t i red . .1md they've 

done a renovation that's going to bring it up to brand nei.1, and we 

look f o rward to doing that. A couple o f our great companies are 

doing it . Okay? 

Q Sir, in Iraq -- in Iraq, how do you feel about the idea 

o f the supposed withdrawal f rom Iraq being a possibility'? Isn't 

that s omething Soleimani actually wanted all these years'? 

PRESIDENT TROMP : Well, it's s omething that I want , t oo . I 

mean, eventually, t hey have to be able to defend themse l ves and 

take care o f themselves . Jl.nd it 's something, ultimately, that I 

want to see. We don't want to be there f orever; we want t o be 

able to get out . 

I didn ' t want to be the re in first place, t o be honest, and 

everybody knows tha t . That was when I was a civilian , I said it . 

But we were there, and they made a decision, and I disagreed wi t h 

that d ecision ver y s t rongly. But we're there now . 

We've done a great job . We ' ve gotten rid of the caliphate . 

A hundred percent o f the caliphate i s gone, and -- which is ISIS . 

We have thousands o f ISIS prisoners that we're keeping, right now, 

under lock and key . And we want Europe to take many of these 

prisoners because they came fzom Ge rmany , France, and o ther places 

-- probably a few from Greece, in all fairness. We' ll have to 

talk to y ou about t hat . 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOTJI--.KIS: No, none. None -- none from 

Greece --

PRESIDENT TROMP : Good . 
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PRIME MINISTER MITSO'l'~..KIS: -- so far. 

PRESIDENT TRUMP: You're lucky. You're lucky . 

But we have a lot of -- we have a lot 0£ peopl.e right now in 

prison -- ISIS £ighters that are tough fighters -- and they are 

where they should be . 

So I think we've done a fantaatic job, but eventually we want 

to be able to let Iraq run its own affairs . .11.nd that's very 

important . So, at s ome point, we want to get out . But this isn't 

the right point . 

The other thing is, if we do get out, you know, we've spent a 

tremendous amount 0£ money on building airports and building -­

it's one of the largest embassies we have in the world, Mike, and 

we want to be reimbursed for the various costs that we have had. 

~..nd they're ve ry significant. But we'll work something out. 

And I talk sanctions, but I'm only talking sanctions if we're 

not treated with respe ct. We have to be treated with respect . We 

deserve -- I'll tell you what. I'll tell you, with what we did 

(Cross-talk . ) 

Excuse me . Wait, wait, wait . One sec . l'lith what we did 

with ISIS -- and this was done during by my administration, 

because it was a mess before we got here with what we did with 

ISIS, we ' ve done the Middle East and we've done a lot 0£ other 

countries a tremendous favor. 

Yeah, go ahead . 

Q Do you agree with - - do you agree with Turkey's 

pro·vocations in Libya, in eastern Mediterranean, against Greece? 

And are you willing to talk to your friend, Erdogan, to stop --

PRESIDENT TRUMP: We are talking to him and we're talking to 
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Q -- to stop these provocations,? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Yeah . We' re talking to -- when you're 

t a lking about Libya, we're di s c ussing with President erdogan, 

we ' re discussing many other countrie s. I j ust spo ke with t h e 

Chancellor o f Germany, with ~..ngela, and we talked about that 

subject specifically - - Libya and what's going on . l'le' 11 be 

talking to Russia; they're involved . A lot of countries are 

involved with respect to Libya . 1tnd it's, right now, a mess . 

But there are a lot of countries, and they all want to know 

where we s tand, and they do know where we stand . We have a very 

distinctive stand . And we have meetings set up, and we're going 

to see i f we can w,ork out some kind of a plan for peace . 

(Cross - talk . ) 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOT~..KIS : I think it 's important -- just 

one -- Mr . President, can I just make one point? 

PRESIDE:NT TRUMP : Yes. Please, go ahead. 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOT~..KIS : One point .. One second. One 

point on this i ssue. I think it is important to point out that 

the agreement signed between Turkey and Libya infringe upon 

Greece ' s sovereign rights and essentially cause great concern and 

instability in a region which is already highly problematic . 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Yeah. 

PRIME MIN7STER MITSOT~..KIS : So we'll b e very much looking t o 

your support to make sure that these types of provocative 

agreements are not being put into place. ~..nd I think we should 

ref rain, in gene ral, in the eas tern Me diterranean , for any sort of 

activity that inflames passions and that doesn't , you know, 

promote regional peace and security . So we'll be very much 

looking f orward to your support on this issue because it is a very 

important i ssue f or my country. 
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Q Mr . President, the Iraqi government says it expects U. S . 

forces to leave the country after the letter that it received, 

General Mark Milley said, by mistake yesterday . What do you say 

to the Iraqi government about the possibility of U . S . forces 

leaving based on that letter? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well, I don't know anything about that 

letter. :!:'hat l e tter was sent, and I u nderstand it was an unsigned 

letter . So I can maybe let Mike speak to it . I don't know if 

that letter was a hoax or was it unsigned, or what? 

SECRETJl.RY POMPEO : That letter itself was a mistake. I think 

the Department o f Defen se has spoken that it was a mistake ; it 

wasn't intended . 

Q But the Iraqi government i s saying they're taking you at 

your word and expect U. S . forces to leave . 

SECRETJl.RY POMPEO : Yeah . 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well, I think it's the worst thing that 

could happen to Iraq . I f we leave, that would mean that Iran 

would have a much bigger f o-othold, and the people of Iraq do not 

want to see Iran r unning the country -- that, I can tell you . 

So we' 11 see how it all works out . I kno111 it 's going to work 

out well for us because, at some point, we want to be able to get 

out . We want to bring our soldiers back home . 

I will say that we have had tremendous support from t he 

people of Iraq appreciating what we ' ve done . And they don't want 

to see Iran go into Iraq . But they're neighbors , and over a 

p eriod o f years , s ome thing will happen; we'll see what that is . 

But the -- what was said yesterday, I didn' t know about . I 

really don't know about it. What i s that, Mike ? What exactly was 

that? 

SECRETJl.RY POMPEO : I just know that there was a draft letter 

that was sent out by mis take. 
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PRESIDENT TRUMP: A draft, unsigned . 

SECRETJI-RY POMPEO: Uns igned letter that --

PRESIDENT TROMP : The media kn ew that was (inaudible), but 

they don't like to say that . Yeah . 

SECRETARY POMPEO : They knew it . ;l_nd the Iraqi people 

unders tand that we' re there to help them stand up their 

s o vereignty . 

PRESIDENT TROMP : The Iraqi people were not happy when the 

suggestion was ma d e yesterday that we were think i ng about l eaving 

at some point . They were not happy . But, at so.me point, we will 

want to l eave. 

Q Mr. President, you didn't answer the question . 

Q Mr . President --

PRESIDENT TRUMP : No -- Steve, go ahead . Steve? 

Q Are you ready f o r the Senate impeachment trial? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : What'? 

Q ;l...re y ou ready for the Senate trial? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Yeah, whatever i t is . It's a hoax. The 

impeachment is a big hoax. It's a -- it's become a laughing stock 

all over the world . There was nothing done wrong . The two 

articles that were sent ar e not even serious . Jl..nd, by t he way, 

they're not a c r ime . 

The Republicans v ote d appro x imately 196 t o nothing . This was 

not supposed to be partisan. I t was never mea nt that way by, as 

they wo u ld say, the Founders. So it was -- it's turned out to be 

a totally partisan h oax , witch hunt . Jl..nd, frankly, it 's been 

going on from before I came down the escalat or with our great 

F irst Ladv . I mean. it -- t h i s has a-one on for three '1ears. and 
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----- ---..1.. -··-- -·-- :,-•·- -- --- -··--- ..1 ---- , -··-
probably longer than that. 

And it will be very interesting when the final tabulation is 

set and when the facts are released, because a lot of peopl.e are 

working on those facts right now . Itrs a big deal . It 's, in many 

ways, the greatest hoax ever perpetrated on our country . I t's one 

o f the great h oaxes ever . It started with a - - with an illegal 

document that turned out to be false . The fake document that you 

know s o well, the dossier, as t hey call it . 11..nd it went on from 

there. It was set up by a bunch o f dirty cops and others , working 

with the DNC, working with the De mocrats . 

P...nd from the d ay I ran -- from the d a y I was e l e c ted , and 

probably before t hat, substantially not p r obably . If you look 

at the insurance policy, the insurance policy was long before 

that . So that means before I ever got elec ted , they were working 

on s omething that's s o illegal. So I assume that will be 

announce d a t s ome point into the future and hopefully not too far 

into the future . 

And t he impeachment story is -- it's j ust a continuation of 

the same -- shame -- it really is a shame that we can ' t focus on 

all o f the things. You know , we talked today about Iran . We talk 

about Iraq . We talk about economic d evelopment . We have the 

greatest stock market we've ever had in the history of our 

country . We have the greates t economy that we've ever had in the 

history o f our country . We're setting records . Unemployment 

records. Employment recor d s also ; we're going to have a lmost 160 

million people working . 

~.nd that we have to work on this partisan s cam i s really a 

shame . That we have to take time is a shame . 

All right, that' s about it, I think. 

Q Mr . President, o ne more o n a different topic? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Yeah, go ahead . 

Q Will you be okay i f John Bolton testifies? He indicated 
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yesterday that he wouJ.d if he .i s subpoenaed. 

PRESIDENT TROMP : Well, that's going to be up to the 

lawyers. It v,ill be up the Senate. 11-nd we' 11 see how they feel. 

He would know nothing about what we're talking about, because if 

you know, the Ukrainian government came out with a very strong 

statement -- no pressure, no anything . ~.nd that's from the boss . 

"!'hat' s from the President o f Ukraine. The Foreign Mistier came 

out with a statement that wa s equally as strong . 

.ll.nd , frankly, i f you look at it and you look. at everything, 

all they have to do is read the transcripts. You take a look not 

just at one -- you take a look at two transcripts . They were 

absolutely perfect. There was absolutely nothing done wrong . 

There was no false statement. And it's crazy that it 's gotten to 

a point where you -- look, Ukraine -- the President of Ukraine 

said there was no pressure whatsoever . There was no pressure on 

his country whatsoever . 

And, by the way, in term.s of the money , it got there two or 

three weeks ahead o f schedule -- long before it was supposed to be 

there . There was absolutely nothing done wrong. 

The one thing I look at is corruption, and the other thing I 

look at is, why isn't France and why isn't Germany and maybe, I 

could say, why isn't Greece -- but v1hy aren't all of these 

countries - - why aren't they paying? Why is it always the United 

States that has to pay? 

~.nd I said that very strongly . In fact, it's in the 

transcript, but the press doesn't cover it . Why is it that the 

Onited States pays? And it affects Europe far more than it 

affects the United States. So why isn't it that France, Germany , 

and a ll o f those countries in Europe that are s o strongly 

affected, why aren't they paying? Why is it always us? That's 

one question. 

And the other question is always about corruption. We're 

sending all of t his money . Where is it going? Where is it going? 
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~.nd the President, by the way, got elected on anti ­

corruption, and I think he's going to do a great job . But I 

appreciated his statement; he's made it many times : no pressure 

whatsoever . 

Thank you all very much. Thank you . Thank you very much . 

Thank you very much . 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOTJ!...KIS: Greece is actually paying more 

than 2 percent in NATO . 

PRESIDEN'l' TRUMP : Good. ~hat's true. 

Q Do you agree with the DOJ recommending jail time for 

Michael Flynn? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : I don't know. I don't know . I didn't look 

at it . I -- you're just telling me for the first time . I don't 

know . I'll take a look at it . 

END 2 : 10 

P . M. EST 
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PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well, thank you very much . On behalf of 

the First Lady and mysel£, it's an honor to have the Prime 

Minister o f Greece and First Lady o f Greece with us . We really 

appreciate it . We have many things to discus.:i . 

The rel ationship is extr- - - really extraordinary, I would 

say . Right? It's as good as it can get. We're doing a lot of 

things together -- military. We 're also doing big trade . A lot 

of t rade . And Greece has made a tremendous comeback . ,'le' ve 

wo rked with them very closely. And , really, the Prime Minister 

will have some interesting things to say. So you have to tell 

them one stati stic, because it's a great statistic . We're very 

proud of Greece and the comeback that they' re making . J.>_nd we will 

continue it f o rward . There's no doubt about it . Thank you very 

much f or being here . 

PRIME MINISl'ER MITSOTJi..KIS : Thank y ou. Thank you, Mr . 
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President . It 's a real privilege to be here at a very important 

time . You were r ight to point o ut that this relationship is the 

best it ever was . But it can become even better . 

Both o n the g e opolitical side, we're looking f o r your 

constant support, strengthening t he strategic relationship . 

On the defense s ide, we've ma d e lots of progress in terms o f 

making s ure that you have a reliable and predictable ally in a 

complicated part o f the world . But I also wants to stress the 

economic aspect o f o ur relationship. The Greek economy has done 

extreme ly well over the pas t months. We have lowere d taxes . We 

are deregulating . We're f ollowing a recipe that has also worked 

her,e in the --

PRESIDENT l'RlJMP : (Laughs . ) Yeah . That's right . 

PRIME MINI S:l'ER Mi r:'SO'l'JUU S : in the Unite d States . And the 

e conomy i s reacting very positively . So we' ll a l s o b e looking t o 

your support to convince 1!2nerican companies to invest more in 

Greece and help us grow the e conomy at a pace where people are 

really going to fee l the difference. 

So it 's a privilege t o b e here . You can always count on --

t he United States can always count on Greece as a reliable and 

predictable ally in our part of the world . 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well, we appreciate it . ltnd again, 

congratulations . Really, o ne o f the -- percentage-wise, one of 

the biggest increases in the world . ~..nd that's a big statement . 

And that ' s a tremendous comeback. ~..nd you've done a fantastic 

job . You ' ve really united the cou ntry. 

So again, congratulations. 

PRIME MINI STER MITSOTJ!...KI S : Thank you . Thank you . Thank you 

very much, Mr . Pres ident . 

Q Mr . President? 
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PRESIDENT TRUMP : Yeah . 

Q A lot o f questions are being asked in Washington and 

across America about what evidence y o u had that Qasem Solei.mani 

wa::, p lanning attacks agaL"lst American targets. What can you tell 

us about what you knew prior to ordering the attac k'? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well, number one, I knew the past. His 

pas t was horrible. .Eie was a terrorist. He was a -- s o designated 

by President Obama, as you know. ll.nd he wasn't even suppo sed t o 

be ou tside o f his o wn country; he was . So, right there . 

But that's, in a way, the least o f it . We had an attac k very 

recently that he was in charge o f, where we had people horribly 

·wounded, one dead . In fact, the number now, as of this morning, I 

believe i s t wo dead . And t hat was his. He was traveling with the 

head o f Hezbollah. They weren't there to dis cuss a vacation . 

They weren' t there to g-o to a nice r e sort someplace in Baghdad . 

They were there to dis cuss bad business. 

And we saved a lot o f lives by tenninating his life . A lot 

o f lives were saved . They were planning s omething, and you're 

going to be hearing abo u t it, or at least various people in 

Congress are going to be hearing about it tomorrow . 

Our Secretary o f State covered it very wel l a little while 

ago . I saw him . I saw his new conference -- Mike . And if you 

want to mention a couple of things in addition t o what I ' ve just 

said . But we had tremendous inf ormation . We've been following 

him f o r a long time . JI.aid we f ollowed his path for those three 

days . And they were not good stops. We didn't like where he was 

stopping . They ~,ere not good stops . We .3 aved a l o t o f lives . 

Mike'? 

SECRE~~__RY POMPEO: Mr . President, I' d only add we had d eep 

intelligence indicating t here was active plotting to put J!.merican 

lives at risk. J!_nd I'm conf ident, and I think the President is 

confident too, that the actions that the President took saved 

ll.merican lives, saved lives of Iraqi Muslims as well . It was t h e 

r ight t h ing to do . P..nd our Department of Defense did an excellent 

0311 

Document ID: 0.7.5218.9800 



job executing the mission . 

Q ~..nd, Mr. President, can --

PRESIDENT TRUMP : ~.nd, as you know, he killed at least 608 

1"..mericans, but the number is much higher than that . He's also 

very much -- roadside bombs and all of the horrible explosives 

that you see, he was a big believer and sent them everywhere . He 

was somebody that we did ourselves and we did a lot of countries a 

big favor . And I've been -- I've been hearing from countries. 

'l'hey were extremely happy with what we did . ~_nd if you look 

inside Iran itself, there were plenty of those leaders that were 

happy because they feared him and didn' t like him, in many cases . 

Q Could you also clear up, Mr. President, whether Iranian 

cultural sites would be on any future target list? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well, as I said yesterday, it was very 

interesting, they 're allowed to kill our people, they're allowed 

to maim our people, they're allowed to blow up everything that we 

have and there 's nothing that stops them, and we are - - according 

to various laws -- supposed to be very careful with their cultural 

heritage. ~..nd you know what? If that's what the law is, I will 

-- I like to obey the law . 

But think of it : They kill our people, they blow up our 

people, and then we have to be very gentle with their cultural 

institutions . But I'm okay with it . It's okay with me. 

I will say this: If Iran does anything that they shouldn't be 

doing, they're going to be suffering the consequences, and very 

strongly. 

All right . Steve? 

Q ~...re there any signs of imminent retaliation from the 

Iranians? ~-I'l.Y indications of imminent --

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well., don't forget: In our case , it was 

retaliation because they were there first. They killed look, :r 
_, __ , .a.. t... - -- .a... - .... - ~ 1- - ,__ -- .. ..... t. : - 'Cl-- .., 0 ·- ,,.., 
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monster . But just in the very short period of time, two people 

dead, people badly injured, and then, before that, there were 

other attacks. And look at what he was planning . 

So that' l l be discussed tomorrow morning . Right now , it's 

class ified . That'll be discussed tomorrow with Mike Pompeo and 

the Joint Chiefs of Staff . 

Q And is the U. S . prepared for an Iranian attack? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : We're prepared . We're totally prepared . 

And likewise, we're prepared to attack if we have to, as 

retribution . 

Q Mr. President, Iran's leaders say that any response to 

the Soleimani killing would be, quo te, "proportionate . " What 

would the United States d o in the event of any Iranian 

(inaudible) ? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP: So, agai n, J ohn, if you look at what's 

going on, -ours was a - - an attack based on what they did. l'l.e 

weren't the first one out. He killed an Jl..merican. Now two peopl e 

are dead from the same attack, and some people very badly 

wounded . Jl--.nd that was one of his smaller endeavors . 

If you look over his past, his past -- he's been called a 

"monster," and he was a monster. Jl.nd he ' s no l onger a monster ; 

he's dead . And that's a good thing for a lot o f countries . And 

he was planning a very big attack and a very bad attack for us and 

o ther people. ~~d we s topped him . 

~..nd I don't think anybody can complain about it . I don't 

hear too many people -- other than politicians who are trying to 

win the presidency . Those are the ones that are c omplaining . But 

I don't hear anybody els e complaining . 

Go ahead . 

Q Mr . Pres ident, you called him a "monster," but your 

fr i end . Erdoaan. c a lle d h im a "ma rtvr." What i 3 v o ur r eac t :1on? 
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PRESIDENT TRUMP: Well, I guess everybody - - to each his 

own . I ·mean, I disagree 100 percent, and I'm sure he does too . 

But he has a public to take care of, and I guess that's for his 

own reason . But I'm actually surprised to hear that, but that's 

okay . 

Q Are you willing to make a deal with Greece regarding 

F- 35s, sir? 

PRESIDENT TROMP: Say it? 

Q Are you willing to make .a deal with Greece regarding 

F-35? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : So Greece a.-id I, and my people and -- we 

have a whole group of people. And as you see, they brought a lot 

of great representatives from Greece that we've been dealing 

with . We have a tremendous Greek population -- over 3 million 

people, as I understand it. That's fantastic. I think I know 

I really feel I know most of them. I think I know all of them, 

come to think ,of it . But it's a great population in the United 

States. 

We're going to be meeting, we're going to be talking, we're 

going to be negotiating, and we're going to be making a lot of 

deals . 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOTAKIS: Let me add something to that . 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : We have a really great relationship with 

Greece . 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOT1tKIS : Let me add something to that : 

Greece is interested, Mr. President, in participating in the F-35 

program. As you know, we are already upgrading our F-16s. 

PRESIDENT TRUMP: Yeah. 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOTll_KIS: Jtnd that program will be 
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completed in 2023, 2024. So we're very much interested in 

participating in the F-35 program after that . Jl..nd I'm sure that 

the U. S . will take into cons ideration the £act that this country 

i s coming out o f an e conomic crisis, in terms of structuring the 

progr am in the best possible way for my country . 

PRESIDENl' TRUMP : That' s true. 11..nd, you know, they just 

signed a very big renovation of exi sting aircraft. They have 

great a i rcraft , but it's gotten a little bit t i red . .1md they've 

done a renovation that's going to bring it up to brand nei.1, and we 

look f o rward to doing that. A couple o f our great companies are 

doing it . Okay? 

Q Sir, in Iraq -- in Iraq, how do you feel about the idea 

o f the supposed withdrawal f rom Iraq being a possibility'? Isn't 

that s omething Soleimani actually wanted all these years'? 

PRESIDENT TROMP : Well, it's s omething that I want , t oo . I 

mean, eventually, t hey have to be able to defend themse l ves and 

take care o f themselves . Jl.nd it 's something, ultimately, that I 

want to see. We don't want to be there f orever; we want t o be 

able to get out . 

I didn ' t want to be the re in first place, t o be honest, and 

everybody knows tha t . That was when I was a civilian , I said it . 

But we were there, and they made a decision, and I disagreed wi t h 

that d ecision ver y s t rongly. But we're there now . 

We've done a great job . We ' ve gotten rid of the caliphate . 

A hundred percent o f the caliphate i s gone, and -- which is ISIS . 

We have thousands o f ISIS prisoners that we're keeping, right now, 

under lock and key . And we want Europe to take many of these 

prisoners because they came fzom Ge rmany , France, and o ther places 

-- probably a few from Greece, in all fairness. We' ll have to 

talk to y ou about t hat . 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOTJI--.KIS: No, none. None -- none from 

Greece --

PRESIDENT TROMP : Good . 
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PRIME MINISTER MITSO'l'~..KIS: -- so far. 

PRESIDENT TRUMP: You're lucky. You're lucky . 

But we have a lot of -- we have a lot 0£ peopl.e right now in 

prison -- ISIS £ighters that are tough fighters -- and they are 

where they should be . 

So I think we've done a fantaatic job, but eventually we want 

to be able to let Iraq run its own affairs . .11.nd that's very 

important . So, at s ome point, we want to get out . But this isn't 

the right point . 

The other thing is, if we do get out, you know, we've spent a 

tremendous amount 0£ money on building airports and building -­

it's one of the largest embassies we have in the world, Mike, and 

we want to be reimbursed for the various costs that we have had. 

~..nd they're ve ry significant. But we'll work something out. 

And I talk sanctions, but I'm only talking sanctions if we're 

not treated with respe ct. We have to be treated with respect . We 

deserve -- I'll tell you what. I'll tell you, with what we did 

(Cross-talk . ) 

Excuse me . Wait, wait, wait . One sec . l'lith what we did 

with ISIS -- and this was done during by my administration, 

because it was a mess before we got here with what we did with 

ISIS, we ' ve done the Middle East and we've done a lot 0£ other 

countries a tremendous favor. 

Yeah, go ahead . 

Q Do you agree with - - do you agree with Turkey's 

pro·vocations in Libya, in eastern Mediterranean, against Greece? 

And are you willing to talk to your friend, Erdogan, to stop --

PRESIDENT TRUMP: We are talking to him and we're talking to 
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Q -- to stop these provocations,? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Yeah . We' re talking to -- when you're 

t a lking about Libya, we're di s c ussing with President erdogan, 

we ' re discussing many other countrie s. I j ust spo ke with t h e 

Chancellor o f Germany, with ~..ngela, and we talked about that 

subject specifically - - Libya and what's going on . l'le' 11 be 

talking to Russia; they're involved . A lot of countries are 

involved with respect to Libya . 1tnd it's, right now, a mess . 

But there are a lot of countries, and they all want to know 

where we s tand, and they do know where we stand . We have a very 

distinctive stand . And we have meetings set up, and we're going 

to see i f we can w,ork out some kind of a plan for peace . 

(Cross - talk . ) 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOT~..KIS : I think it 's important -- just 

one -- Mr . President, can I just make one point? 

PRESIDE:NT TRUMP : Yes. Please, go ahead. 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOT~..KIS : One point .. One second. One 

point on this i ssue. I think it is important to point out that 

the agreement signed between Turkey and Libya infringe upon 

Greece ' s sovereign rights and essentially cause great concern and 

instability in a region which is already highly problematic . 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Yeah. 

PRIME MIN7STER MITSOT~..KIS : So we'll b e very much looking t o 

your support to make sure that these types of provocative 

agreements are not being put into place. ~..nd I think we should 

ref rain, in gene ral, in the eas tern Me diterranean , for any sort of 

activity that inflames passions and that doesn't , you know, 

promote regional peace and security . So we'll be very much 

looking f orward to your support on this issue because it is a very 

important i ssue f or my country. 
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Q Mr . President, the Iraqi government says it expects U. S . 

forces to leave the country after the letter that it received, 

General Mark Milley said, by mistake yesterday . What do you say 

to the Iraqi government about the possibility of U . S . forces 

leaving based on that letter? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well, I don't know anything about that 

letter. :!:'hat l e tter was sent, and I u nderstand it was an unsigned 

letter . So I can maybe let Mike speak to it . I don't know if 

that letter was a hoax or was it unsigned, or what? 

SECRETJl.RY POMPEO : That letter itself was a mistake. I think 

the Department o f Defen se has spoken that it was a mistake ; it 

wasn't intended . 

Q But the Iraqi government i s saying they're taking you at 

your word and expect U. S . forces to leave . 

SECRETJl.RY POMPEO : Yeah . 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Well, I think it's the worst thing that 

could happen to Iraq . I f we leave, that would mean that Iran 

would have a much bigger f o-othold, and the people of Iraq do not 

want to see Iran r unning the country -- that, I can tell you . 

So we' 11 see how it all works out . I kno111 it 's going to work 

out well for us because, at some point, we want to be able to get 

out . We want to bring our soldiers back home . 

I will say that we have had tremendous support from t he 

people of Iraq appreciating what we ' ve done . And they don't want 

to see Iran go into Iraq . But they're neighbors , and over a 

p eriod o f years , s ome thing will happen; we'll see what that is . 

But the -- what was said yesterday, I didn' t know about . I 

really don't know about it. What i s that, Mike ? What exactly was 

that? 

SECRETJl.RY POMPEO : I just know that there was a draft letter 

that was sent out by mis take. 
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PRESIDENT TRUMP: A draft, unsigned . 

SECRETJI-RY POMPEO: Uns igned letter that --

PRESIDENT TROMP : The media kn ew that was (inaudible), but 

they don't like to say that . Yeah . 

SECRETARY POMPEO : They knew it . ;l_nd the Iraqi people 

unders tand that we' re there to help them stand up their 

s o vereignty . 

PRESIDENT TROMP : The Iraqi people were not happy when the 

suggestion was ma d e yesterday that we were think i ng about l eaving 

at some point . They were not happy . But, at so.me point, we will 

want to l eave. 

Q Mr. President, you didn't answer the question . 

Q Mr . President --

PRESIDENT TRUMP : No -- Steve, go ahead . Steve? 

Q Are you ready f o r the Senate impeachment trial? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : What'? 

Q ;l...re y ou ready for the Senate trial? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Yeah, whatever i t is . It's a hoax. The 

impeachment is a big hoax. It's a -- it's become a laughing stock 

all over the world . There was nothing done wrong . The two 

articles that were sent ar e not even serious . Jl..nd, by t he way, 

they're not a c r ime . 

The Republicans v ote d appro x imately 196 t o nothing . This was 

not supposed to be partisan. I t was never mea nt that way by, as 

they wo u ld say, the Founders. So it was -- it's turned out to be 

a totally partisan h oax , witch hunt . Jl..nd, frankly, it 's been 

going on from before I came down the escalat or with our great 

F irst Ladv . I mean. it -- t h i s has a-one on for three '1ears. and 
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----- ---..1.. -··-- -·-- :,-•·- -- --- -··--- ..1 ---- , -··-
probably longer than that. 

And it will be very interesting when the final tabulation is 

set and when the facts are released, because a lot of peopl.e are 

working on those facts right now . Itrs a big deal . It 's, in many 

ways, the greatest hoax ever perpetrated on our country . I t's one 

o f the great h oaxes ever . It started with a - - with an illegal 

document that turned out to be false . The fake document that you 

know s o well, the dossier, as t hey call it . 11..nd it went on from 

there. It was set up by a bunch o f dirty cops and others , working 

with the DNC, working with the De mocrats . 

P...nd from the d ay I ran -- from the d a y I was e lected, and 

probably before t hat, substantially not p r obably . If you look 

at the insurance policy, the insurance policy was long before 

that . So that means before I ever got elec ted , they were working 

on s omething that's s o illegal. So I assume that will be 

announce d a t s ome point into the future and hopefully not too far 

into the future . 

And t he impeachment story is -- it's j ust a continuation of 

the same -- shame -- it really is a shame that we can ' t focus on 

all o f the things. You know , we talked today about Iran . We talk 

about Iraq . We talk about economic d evelopment . We have the 

greatest stock market we've ever had in the history of our 

country . We have the greates t economy that we've ever had in the 

history o f our country . We're setting records . Unemployment 

records. Employment recor d s also ; we're going to have a lmost 160 

million people working . 

~.nd that we have to work on this partisan s cam i s really a 

shame . That we have to take time is a shame . 

All right, that' s about it, I think. 

Q Mr . President, o ne more o n a different topic? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : Yeah, go ahead . 

Q Will you be okay i f John Bolton testifies? He indicated 

0320 

Document ID: 0.7.5218.9800 



yesterday that he wouJ.d if he .i s subpoenaed. 

PRESIDENT TROMP : Well, that's going to be up to the 

lawyers. It v,ill be up the Senate. 11-nd we' 11 see how they feel. 

He would know nothing about what we're talking about, because if 

you know, the Ukrainian government came out with a very strong 

statement -- no pressure, no anything . ~.nd that's from the boss . 

"!'hat' s from the President o f Ukraine. The Foreign Mistier came 

out with a statement that wa s equally as strong . 

.ll.nd , frankly, i f you look at it and you look. at everything, 

all they have to do is read the transcripts. You take a look not 

just at one -- you take a look at two transcripts . They were 

absolutely perfect. There was absolutely nothing done wrong . 

There was no false statement. And it's crazy that it 's gotten to 

a point where you -- look, Ukraine -- the President of Ukraine 

said there was no pressure whatsoever . There was no pressure on 

his country whatsoever . 

And, by the way, in term.s of the money , it got there two or 

three weeks ahead o f schedule -- long before it was supposed to be 

there . There was absolutely nothing done wrong. 

The one thing I look at is corruption, and the other thing I 

look at is, why isn't France and why isn't Germany and maybe, I 

could say, why isn't Greece -- but v1hy aren't all of these 

countries - - why aren't they paying? Why is it always the United 

States that has to pay? 

~.nd I said that very strongly . In fact, it's in the 

transcript, but the press doesn't cover it . Why is it that the 

Onited States pays? And it affects Europe far more than it 

affects the United States. So why isn't it that France, Germany , 

and a ll o f those countries in Europe that are s o strongly 

affected, why aren't they paying? Why is it always us? That's 

one question. 

And the other question is always about corruption. We're 

sending all of t his money . Where is it going? Where is it going? 
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~.nd the President, by the way, got elected on anti ­

corruption, and I think he's going to do a great job . But I 

appreciated his statement; he's made it many times : no pressure 

whatsoever . 

Thank you all very much. Thank you . Thank you very much . 

Thank you very much . 

PRIME MINISTER MITSOTJ!...KIS: Greece is actually paying more 

than 2 percent in NATO . 

PRESIDEN'l' TRUMP : Good. ~hat's true. 

Q Do you agree with the DOJ recommending jail time for 

Michael Flynn? 

PRESIDENT TRUMP : I don't know. I don't know . I didn't look 

at it . I -- you're just telling me for the first time . I don't 

know . I'll take a look at it . 

END 2 : 10 

P . M. EST 

Unsubscn'be 

The W11ite House · 16-00 Pennsylvania Ave l\t"W •Washington, DC 20500-0003 • USA •202-456-1111 
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From: sidney@federalappeals.com <sidney@federalappeals.com> 
Sent: Saturday, January 11, 202012-:35 PM 
To: Ballantine, Jocelyn (USADC} • • • - • 
Cc: Van Grack, Brandon (NSO) (b)(6) per NSD 

(b) (6) >; Jesse R. Binnall 
<jbinnall@harveybinnall.com>; 'Lindsay McKasson' 
clm,-l,::ic-<:nn1nlh2n1c\/hinn,:ill l"nff'I ':>• 1 11.hi a,:iil r:n, o' < ,:ifn,ornih::in,o\/hinn:,II rnm':> 

0328 

Document ID: 0.7.5218.5784 

mailto:jbinnall@harveybinnall.com
mailto:sidney@federalappeals.com
mailto:sidney@federalappeals.com


--------

Subject: CERTIFICATE OF CONFERENCE 
Importance: High 

We request your reply ASAP for the government's position on a motion we 
intend to file today to request a 30-day continuance of Mr. Flynn's sentencing 
date to move to February 27. There are many reasons, not the·least of which is 
a 330,000 document data base, the recent IG report of 478 pages chocked full of 
information we are still processing, Judge Sullivan' s recent92 page decision, 
your recent production of 637 pages including never-before seen 302s, your 
recent change in position on sentencing; our discovery of documents we had 
not previously seen in our collection despite our best efforts, etc. etc, etc. We 
would appreciate your agreement to this request. 

The relief we request specifically is as follows: 

(PROPOSED] ORDER 

Having considered the Motion for Continuance ofSentencing Date and 

for Extension ofTime to File Defendant' s Sentencing _ilemora:ndum. it is. hereby 

ORDERED that 

The Sentencing Date be moved to F ebmary 2 7, 2020, and the time for 

Defendant to file Defendant's Sentencing Memorandum be extended thirty (30) 

days to be filed onFebruary 21, 2020. 

Dated: 

EmmetG. 
Sullivan 

United States 
District Judge 

Sidney Powell P.C. - Author of the #1 Best-seller LICENSED TO LIE: 
Exposing Corruption in the Department of Justice - Federal Appellate 
Attorney-Senior Fellow of the London Center for Policy Research 
www.SidneyPowell.com 
·w·ww.FederalAppeals.com 
www.LicensedToLie.com 

This communication is attorney-client privileged. If you receive it in 
error, please delete it and notify us at Tricia@federalappeals.com. 
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Via Email & FedEx 
Sidney Powell 
3831 Turtle Creek Blvd. #5B 
Dallas, TX 75219 

Jesse Binnall 
Harvey & Binnall, PLLC 
717 King Street 
Suite 300 
Alexandria, VA 22314 

U.S. Department of Justice 

Jessie K. Liu 
United States Attorney 

District of Columbia 

Judiciary Center 
555 Fourth St., N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20530 

January 13, 2020 

Re: United States v. Michael T Flynn, 17-cr-00232 (EGS) 

Dear Counsel: 

We write to provide a response to your request for our position regarding your suggested 
amended sentencing dates in this case. In short, we do not oppose a continuance of the due date 
for your supplemental sentencing memorandum and the date of sentencing. In light of your request, 
we also ask that the Comi schedule a due date for a government reply memorandum one week 
after the date upon which your supplemental sentencing memorandum is due. 

In addition, in light of the fact that you cite our "recent change in position on sentencing" 
as one of several factors justifying a continuance, we think it would be helpful to clarify that 
position. As set forth in our submission, we believe that a sentence within the applicable Guidelines 
range - which includes a possible sentence of probation - is appropriate in this case. Although we 
assess that the assistance provided by your client does not rise to the level of 
"substantial assistance" within the meaning of Section 5Kl .1 under the totality of the 
circumstances, as we made clear in both our original and our supplemental sentencing filings, we 
acknowledge that the Court should take into account your client's timely assistance to the Special 
Counsel's Office (SCO) on a range of issues through the course of 20 interviews as well as his 
initial cooperation in the Rajiekian case, which we described in detail in our December 2018 
Addendum. We note that your client's applicable Guidelines range would be O to 6 months of 
incarceration with or without credit for acceptance of responsibility, and with or without credit for 
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substantial assistance. Accordingly, there appears to be no dispute as to the applicable sentencing 
range or the fact that a non-incarceratory sentence would be a reasonable sentence within that 
range. 

Further, as we acknowledged in our filing, your client's lengthy history of military service 
to the United States is an additional important mitigating factor that we have asked the Court to 
consider in determining where within the applicable Guidelines range to sentence your client, and 
we expect that you will continue to provide additional information regarding your client's personal 
history and characteristics that would be relevant to sentencing under Title 18, United States Code, 
Section 3553(a)(l). We of course will give careful consideration to that information, and any other 
relevant information you bring to our attention, in advance of sentencing. 

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any additional questions. 

Sincerely, 

By: 
'Bfurld~ L. Van Grack 
Sp'ticial Assistant United States Attorney 

Jocelyn Ballantine 
Assistant United States Attorney 
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(b)(5) 

From: Sidney Powell <sidney@federalappeals.com> 
Date: January 14, 2020 at 7:13:48 PM EST 
To: "Ballantine, Jocelyn (USAOC)" (b)(6) per EOUSA 

_ >, 'Van Grack, Brandon (NSO)" 
(b )(6) per NSD 

Cc: Jesse Binnall <ibinnalf@harveybinnall.com>, 
Molly McCann 

(b)(6) >, "lmckasson@harveybinna 
II.com" 

>, (b)(6) W1\ll.am Hodes Ema1I Address < . 
, 'Abigail Frye' 

<afrye@harveybinnall .com> 
Subject: For Certificate of Conference 

Counsel, We are fil ing a Motion to Withdraw Mr. Flynn's 
Plea. Please advise of your position. Sidney Powell 

Sidney Powell, Attorney and author of LICENSED TO 
LIE: Exposing Corruption in the Department of Justice 
+ Senior Fellow of the London Center for Policy 
Research 

ww.v.SidneyPowell.com 
www.LicensedtoLie.com 
www.FederalAppeals.com 
@SidneyPowell1 

This communication is CONFIDENTIAL and 
ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED. 
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Case  1:17  cr  00232  EGS  Document 151  Filed  01/14/20  Page 1 of 24  

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  

Plaintiff,  

v.  Criminal Action No. 17-232-EGS  

MICHAEL T. FLYNN,  

Defendant.  

MR. FLYNN’S MOTION TO WITHDRAW PLEA OF GUILTY  

AND UNOPPOSED MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE  

Sidney Powell  Jesse R.  Binnall  

Molly McCann  Lindsay R.  McKasson  
Sidney Powell,  P.C.  Harvey & Binnall,  PLLC  
2911  Turtle Creek Blvd.,  717 King Street,  Suite 300  
Suite 300  Alexandria,  VA 22314  
Dallas,  Texas 75219  Tel:  (703) 888-1943  
Tel:  214-707-1775  Fax:  (703)  888-1930  
sidney@federalappeals.com  jbinnall@harveybinnall.com  

Admitted Pro  Hac  Vice  lmckasson@harveybinnall.com  
molly@federalappeals.com  Admitted Pro  Hac  Vice  

Admitted Pro  Hac  Vice  

W.  William Hodes  
The William Hodes Law Firm  

3658  Conservation Trail  
The Villages,  Florida 32162  
Tel:  (352)  399-0531  
Fax:  (352) 240-3489  
Admitted Pro  Hac  Vice  

Attorneys for Lt. General Michael T. Flynn (USA) (Retired)  
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Michael  T.  Flynn  (“Mr.  Flynn”)  hereby  moves  to  withdraw  his  plea  because  of  the  

government’s bad faith, vindictiveness, and breach ofthe plea agreement.  See  ECF No.  150.  Mr.  

Flynn also  requests  a continuance  of the  sentencing date  set for January 28,  2020,  for thirty days  

or  until  February  27,  2020,  or  such  other  subsequent  day  that  is  convenient  to  the  Court  and  

counsel, and a  ex  corresponding  tension oftime to file any supplemental sentencing memorandum  

(from January 22, 2020, to February 21, 2020).  The continuance is requested to allow time for the  

government to respond to the most recent aspects ofthis  Motion and for Mr.  Flynn to provide the  

additional briefing he needs to protect the record and his constitutional rights in light ofsignificant  

developments in the last thirty days.  

Mr. Flynn’s counsel conferredwith the government about the continuance requestedherein  

beginning  the  morning  of January  10,  2020,  and  provided  a  letter  yesterday  to  include  as  the  

Certificate  of Conference.  The  government’s  timely  response  is  attached  as  the  Certificate  of  

Conference.  Since that conference,  Mr.  Flynn has instructed counsel to request withdrawal ofhis  

plea because ofthe government’s  breach ofthe plea agreement.  Accordingly,  pursuant to Puckett  

v.  United  States, 556 U.S.  129 (2009),1 Mr.  Flynn files this Motion now in the interest of justice.  

A.  Background and Facts Relevant to the Issues Herein  

By  way  of reminder,  the  small  team  of new  counsel  appeared for  Mr.  Flynn  for  the  first  

time on June 17, 2019.2 ECF No.  90, 91.  Mr.  Flynn and his defense team (past and current) spent  

1 This Motion to Withdraw addresses the issues and facts relevant to issues triggered by Puckett  
analysis.  Mr.  Flynn has substantial alternative reasons to move to withdraw his plea,  and counsel  
will briefthose for the court as soon as possible.  

2 By  August  15,  2019,  Mr.  Flynn’s  new  counsel  received  eighteen  hard  drives  from  former  
counsel  at  Covington  &  Burling  LLP  (“Covington”),  which  contained  more  than  330,000  
documents. Present counsel has beenworking as diligently as possible since first appearing in June  
2019.  Present  counsel  provided  the  Court  new  and  extensive  briefings  and  motions  on  issues  
important  to  Mr.  Flynn’s  defense  based  primarily  on  information  the  government  only  began  

1  
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hundreds  of hours  trying  to  cooperate  with  the  government  in  accordance  with  Mr.  Flynn’s  plea  

agreement which requires him to provide truthful testimony.  

Only  after  new  counsel  appeared,  did  the  government  for  the  first  time  demand  an  

admission  and  testimony  from  Mr.  Flynn  that  he  knew  and  intended  when  he  signed  the  FARA  

registration form that it contained several material false statements.3 Not only was that demanded  

testimony a lie,  but also, the prosecutors knew it was false,  and would induce a breach.  

That  assertion/question/demand  had  not  been  raised  nor  made  by  the  government  in  the  

previous  year  and  a half  during  any  ofMr.  Flynn’s  six  or  more  lengthy  sessions  with Mr.  teen  

Van  Grack  and  the  EDVA prosecutors.  Prosecutors  did  not  raise  it  in  preparation  for  his  grand  

jury  testimony  the  previous  summer,  nor did  they  raise  it before  the  grand jury.  ECF  No.  150-2.  

The  prosecutors  did  not  raise  this  issue  in  his  countless  hours  spent  with  the  Special  Counsel’s  

Office  (“SCO”).  And,  even  more  stunning,  the  prosecutors’  new  assertion  that  Mr.  Flynn  knew  

the  statements  in  the  FARA  application  were  “false”  when  he  authorized  Covington  to  file  the  

form,  is  squarely  refuted by  the  draft  of the  plea  agreement  Covington  negotiated  with Mr.  Van  

Grack himselfwhich specifically struck from the “Statement ofOffense” the language “as he then  

and there knew” with respect to the FARA filing.4 

dribbling out over the  last year or so  since  its  first Brady  production ofMarch 4,  2018,  and the  
Inspector  General’s  Reports.  We  are  a  small  team  working  on  a  shoe-string  budget  funded  by  
thousands  of  hard-working  patriots  across  the  country  who  are  making  non-tax-deductible  
contributions primarily in amounts from $1  to $100 to www.MikeFlynnDefenseFund.com.  

3 Notably,  Mr.  Flynn  hired  the  nationally  known  FARA  ex  Covington  who  then  billed  perts  at  

hundreds ofthousands ofdollars to investigate independently and prepare the FARA filing in full  
and extensive coordinationwithDavidLaufman, HeatherHunt, andmultiple members ofthe DOJ.  

4 Ex 1  (Red-lined Statement ofOffense).  .  

2  
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Among  undersigned counsel’s  responses,  during  a  ex  heated  change  with Mr.  Van Grack,  

defense  counsel  informed  him  he  was  demanding  that  Mr.  Flynn  lie.  Counsel  requested  the  

government to identify any prior statement ofMr.  Flynn’s to that effect.5 The prosecutors merely  

told counsel  to  check the  hundreds  ofpages  ofCovington’s  notes,  many  ofwhich  were  raw,  the  

plea colloquy,  and whatever information counsel could find regarding the plea negotiations.  Id.  

Prior  to  this  unexpected  and  outrageous  demand  (by  Mr.  Van  Grack  and  DOJ  NSD  

Attorney  Evan  Turgeon  (“Mr.  Turgeon”)  in  particular),  the  Rafiekian  EDVA  prosecutors  had  

stated on the record in open court,  and repeatedly told Mr.  Flynn and new counsel,  that they were  

not asserting in anyway thatMr. Flynnwas a co-conspirator inUnited  States  v.  Rafiekian.6 AUSA  

James  Gillis  advised in  cooperation  sessions  with  new  counsel  and Mr.  Flynn  that  whatever  the  

outcome  of  the  Rafiekian  trial,  it  would  not  adversely  affect  Mr.  Flynn’s  sentencing  

recommendation.7 Significantly, as counsel reminded the prosecutors, Mr. Flynn’s plea agreement  

requires  that he  tell  the  truth in  any  testimony,8 and he  was  fully prepared  and willing  to  do  so.  

5 Ex 2 (McKasson declaration).  .  

6 
See  Judge Trenga’s MemorandumOpinion, United  States  v.  Rafiekian, Case No. 1:18-cr-00457,  

ECF No.  372 at 11  (“Neither the original nor superseding indictment in this case references Flynn  
as  a member ofthe alleged conspiracy or as an agent ofthe Turkish government;  and in response  
to the Court’s explicit questioning, the Government stated in open court that Flynn, who it planned  
to  call as  a witness,  was  not a member of the  charged conspiracy and that it would not rely upon  
his testimony to establish the foundation for the admission ofAlptekin’s hearsay statements under  

Fed.  R.  Evid.  801(d)(2)(E)).”  See  also, Ex 3  cerpt from  United  States  v.  Rafiekian,  Case  No.  .  ex  
1:18-cr-00457,  ECF  No.  213,  June  13,  2019  Hearing  Tr.  65:9-22.  (“…we  do  not  contend  that  
General Flynn was part ofthat conspiracy.”).  

7 Memorandum Opposing Co-conspirator Designation ofNon-Party Witness  Michael T.  Flynn.  
United  States  v.  Rafiekian,  1:18-cr-00457,  ECF  270,  n.4.  (“Mr.  Gillis  informed  undersigned  

counsel  and Mr.  Flynn twice  on June  6  alone  that Mr.  Flynn  was  not charged in this  conspiracy,  
and they did not intend to charge him.”).  

8 Ex 4 (Flynn Plea Agreement).  .  
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He  rightly  refused to  lie  for the  government,  and his  new  counsel  would not allow  him  to  do  so,  

nor allow the government to bully him into acquiescence.  

Remarkably, on June 26, 2019, in a preparation session forMr.  Flynn’s likely testimony in  

Rafiekian,  Mr.  Van Grack,  Mr.  Turgeon,  and EDVA prosecutors  insisted that Mr.  Flynn had lied  

to Covington lawyers aboutwho wrote the opinion piece that appeared in The  Hill  on election day,  

November 8,  2016.9 That  was  also  false,  as  the  defense  team  ex  to  plained  the  government  with  

documentation.  In fact,  new counsel spent days scouring Covington’s notes and other documents  

that unequivocally demonstrated that Mr.  Flynn told them the truth.  Emails, notes, and documents  

in the  possession ofCovington from January 2,  2017,  prove  that it had the information to  make a  

correct FARA filing, and  that the filing was substantially correct in all material respects.10  Ifthere  

were  mistakes  in  the  filing,  they  were  the  result  ofCovington’s  interviews  ofmultiple  people  

including  several  lawyers;  Covington’s  consultation  with  and  demands  from  David  Laufman,  

Heather Hunt,  and multiple  people  with DOJ in and around the  FARA section;  and,  Covington’s  

own judgment calls and choices as it navigated this inscrutable area ofthe law.  

9 
See  Judge  Trenga’s  Memorandum  Opinion,  United  States  v.  Rafiekian, Case  No.  1:18-cr-457,  

ECF No. 372 at 31  (“Finally, theGovernment points to the op-ed publishedbyFlynn onNovember  
8, 2016 andRafiekian's statement to Alptekin that ‘a promise made is a promise kept’  as sufficient  
evidence  that  Rafiekian  was  a  Turkish  agent.  But  there  is  no  evidence  that  the  op-ed  had  been  
requested by the Turkish government, either directly or through Alptekin; or that it was Rafiekian,  

as opposed to Flynn,  who decided to have the op-ed published at that time.”).  

10  Ex. 5 (KelnerTestimony andDefense Exhibits fromRafiekian  trial). Moreover, the cover letter  
to  the  FARA  filing  must  be  read  as  part  of the  filing.  Read  together,  it  gives  a reasonable  and  
correct picture ofthe relationship, and it certainly identifies Turkey as a “principal beneficiary”  
the primarypurpose ofthe filing  themaking ofwhichwas itselfa judgment call. See  Ex.6 (March  

7, 2017 CovingtonCoverLetter forFARAFiling). See  Ex.7 (Covington email beforemeetingwith  
FARA section).  Notably, the form itselfcontemplates amendment upon finding new information.  
See  ECF No.  150-1.  Covington never  . 12 (Smith notes  amended the  filing.  See  Ex  ofJanuary 2,  
2017 meeting with Kelner,  Kristen Verderame,  and Mr.  Flynn,  including M.  Flynn Jr.).  
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Mr. Flynn was honestwith his attorneys and provided all his documentation.  He had spent  

tens  of thousands  ofdollars  to  hire  the  FARA  perts  at Covington and allowed (and paid)  them  ex  

to conduct a full investigation.  The registrationwas completedwith substantial input fromDOJ  

including a very lengthy meeting,  many phone calls,  and DOJ’s review and feedback on the draft  

filing.  As  Mr.  Kelner  admitted  on  the  witness  stand in  Rafiekian,  Covington  added parts  to  the  

filing and ex  or ex  ercised its judgment in what to include  clude.  Id.  

Covington’s  “virtual  transcripts”  ofMr.  Flynn’s  many interviews  in his  cooperation  with  

Mr. VanGrackand the EDVA  andeven 302s just attached to the government’s sentencingmemo  

but  never  produced  by  the  government  to  Mr.  Flynn  prove  that  Mr.  Flynn  repeatedly  told  

Covington before the filing (from their first meeting onward),  and the prosecutors knew:  

•  about  Turkey’s  knowledge  and  “involvement  in  the  project,”  providing  emails  and  
documents with Alptekin claiming to be communicating with government officials;11  

•  the  focus  of the  project  was  to  document  concerns  and  any  wrongdoing  on  the  part  of  
Fetullah Gulen  who  was  believed  to  support  radical Islam  and cause  problems  in  Turkey  
from  his  base  in  the  United  States.  Everyone  on  the  brief project  knew  that  as  did  

11  Remarkably,  this was not  the assertion ofthe FARA filing.  The actual FARA registration said  
that “Flynn Intel Group does not know whether or the extent to which the Republic ofTurkey was  
involvedwith  its  retention  by  INOVO  for the three-month project.” ECF No. 150-1  at 44 (emphasis  
added).  The  representation in the  FARA registration was  true.  The  prosecutors  manufactured the  
“false statement”  by omitting the key words  [“with  its  retention  by  INOVO”].  The  government’s  

omission  completely  changes  the  meaning  of  what  was  a  correct  statement  in  the  FARA  
registration.  To  this  day,  there  is  no  ex  evidence  of the  tent of the  involvement of the  Republic  of  
Turkey  in  hiring  INOVO.  Everyone  knew  they  were  being  told  about  the  “project.”  That  was  
clear  from  the  “green-light”  email  Covington  had  from  early  January.  Ex 5  (Kelner  Rafiekian  .  
testimony).  

As  Judge  Trenga  found:  “There  is  no  evidence,  not  even  in  the  hearsay  statements  from  
Alptekin  to  Rafiekian,  that  Alptekin,  Inovo,  or  anyone  associated  with  the  Turkish  government  
directed  or  controlled  the  work  performed  by  FIG  or  Sphere  personnel.”  United  States  v.  
Rafiekian, No.  1:18-cr-457,  ECF No.  372 at 29.  
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Covington.  Documents  show  the  two  issues  of Gulen  and  confidence  in  the  business  
environment in Turkey to be inex  12  tricably intertwined and virtually synonymous;  

•  Mr.  Rafiekian wrote  the  first draft of the  opinion piece  published by The  Hill  as  reflected  
in the  notes  ex  ofCovington FARA  pert Brian Smith from Covington’s  first meeting with  
Mr. Flynn  confirmedby the recently filed (never produced) FBI 302 ofSmith’s interview  

in mid-2018;13  

•  Mr.  Flynn could not testify that any Turkish government official gave him any instructions  
or had any control over the project.14  Notably,  neither could anyone else.  

12  ECF No.  150-4 and 6; ECF No.  98-3  at Ex. 7 (Entitled Statement ofthe Problem:  How do we  
restore confidence in the government ofthe Republic ofTurkey and  pose the Fethullah Gulen  ex  
cult in the United States”); ECF No.  98-3  at Ex 8 and 8-A (Covington Feb.  22,  2017 Notes:  .  
Commercial Activity•Crystalized• Gulen); ECF No.  150-5  at 4; 150-6 at 2.  

13  ECF No.  150-5,  FBI 302 ofBrian Smith on June 21,  2018,  never produced by the government  

to  Mr.  Flynn  (yet  clear  Brady  evidence  long  exonerating  Mr.  Flynn  of one  of the  prosecution’s  
most  ridiculous  allegations  regarding  the  “initiation”  of the  only  op-ed  written  and published in  
connectionwith the project).  Even the recently filed, never produced FBI 302s prove that the FBI  

and prosecutors knew in mid-2018  from Covington lawyer Brian  Smith that he:  “was  aware  of  
the September 2016 meeting in New YorkCity (NYC) where FLYNN andRAFIEKIAN metwith  
Turkish  government  officials.”  ECF  No.150-5  at  5.  “The  meeting  primarily  focused  on  radical  

Islam.  Briefly  during  the  meeting,  FIG  described  their  business  for  ALPTEKIN/INOVO.”  Id.  
“The  topic  ofGULEN was  brought up by Turkish  officials  at the  meeting.”  Id.  The  prosecutors’  
knowledge  of Smith’s  true  testimony  did  not  stop  them  from  trying  to  coerce  Mr.  Flynn  into  
testifying differently a year later.  

14  Ex 8 (June 25,  2018  Notes).  This virtually verbatim transcript ofMr.  Flynn’s  interview with  .  

Mr. Van Grack, Mr.  Turgeon, andEDVA prosecutors in the presence ofthe FBI on June 25, 2018,  
is  especially  instructive.  This  interview  was  long  before  the  government  filed  its  motion  for  
downward  departure  because  of  Mr.  Flynn’s  substantial  assistance  and  made  its  judicial  
admissions about his numerous contributions to this Court on December 18, 2017.  Mr.  Flynn was  
represented  by  Covington  at  the  time;  the  firm  did  the  transcription  (to  which  the  EDVA  
prosecutors referred new counsel for its accuracy);  and,  it preceded new counsel by one year.  

Moreover,  as  Judge  Trenga  wrote:  “On  September  19,  2016,  in  a  meeting  arranged  by  
Alptekin,  Rafiekian,  Flynn,  and  Brian  McCauley  met  with  Alptekin,  MC,  and  then-
Turkish  Minister  of Energy  and  Natural  Resources  Berat  Albayrak  ("BA"),  President  Erdogan's  
son-in-law, in New York City.  See  Trial Tr.  405:20-24,  [Doc.  No.  330]  (McCauley).  The meeting  
lasted about twenty-five to thirtyminutes, id.  at 409:13-14, 440:11-13, andmostly consisted ofthe  

Turkish  officials  expressing  their  negative  opinions  regarding  Gulen,  see  id.  at  440:18-441:8.  
During that meeting, there was no discussion concerning any work that FIG was doing or ofFIG's  
relationship  with  Inovo  or  the  Turkish  government,  nor  was  there  any  request  from  the  Turkish  
officials  or  Alptekin  for  FIG  to  do  anything.  Id.  at  440:14-17,442:1-3.”  
United  States  v.  Rafiekian, No.  1:18-cr-457,  ECF No.  372 at 8.  
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•  Former FBI  official Brian McCauley  attended the  New  York meeting  with the  Turks.  As  
McCauley  testified in  Rafiekian,  the  Turks  gave  no  one  instructions  in  that  meeting,  and  
Alptekin  was  not  happy  with  any  of FIG’s  work.  McCauley  slapped  down  most  of his  
ideas.  See  Ex 10.  .  

•  Significantly,  Flynn also  told Covington in their first meeting,  that he  briefed DIA before  
meeting the Turks in New York in September 2016.  

In truth,  it is Mr.  Van Grack’s  “Statement ofOffense” that is  false or wrong  as Mr.  Van  

Grack knew no later than June 21, 2018, when the FBI interviewed Brian Smith and created a 302  

that proves Mr.  Smith told the FBI that Flynn told Covington Rafiekian wrote  the opinion piece.15  

Yet a year later, June 2019, Mr.  Van Grack exploded at defense counsel because Mr.  Flynn would  

not testify under oath that he made a “false statement” that was not false.  

The prosecutors concocted the alleged “false statements” by their own misrepresentations,  

deceit,  and omissions.16  It is  beyond ironic  and completely  outrageous  that the  prosecutors  have  

persecuted Mr.  Flynn,  virtually bankrupted him,  and put  his  entire  family  through  unimaginable  

stress  for three  years.  Mr.  Flynn had long told the prosecutors  that he had learned much with the  

15  Even  the  FBI  302  of  Brian  Smith,  recently  filed,  never  produced  to  Mr.  Flynn  by  the  
government,  shows  that Mr.  Smith informed the government in 2018:  “The topic  ofGULEN was  
brough up byTurkish official at themeeting.”  ECF No. 150-5 at 5.  FLYNNhad informedSMITH  
themeetings conductedbyRAFIEKIANonbehalfofFIGwere considered lobbying efforts.”  ECF  
No. 150-5 at 7. “RAFIEKIAN workedwith an editor, HankCOX, to write the op-ed on GULEN.”  

Id.  “FLYNN informed SMITH  it  was  his  idea  to  write  an  op-ed.  However,  RAFIEKIAN,  wrote  
the  first  draft  of the  op-ed  about  GULEN.”  Id.  ECF  No.  150-6  at  6.  Further,  “when  asked  what  
facts  were  provided to  Covington about PC  [Project Confidence],  which contradict FIG’s  FARA  
filing,  Kelner ex  GULEN was the problem and was destroying the  plained according to Rafiekian,  
confidence inTurkey. In order to increase confidence inTurkey, GULENhad to be stopped.”  ECF  
No.  150-6 at 6-7.  

16  Ex. 9 (Charts ofGovernment’s alleged “false statements” juxtaposed with actual FARA filing  
and  evidence).  Prosecutors  created  the  “false  statements”  by  omissions  and  distortions  which  
changed the meaning ofthe actual filing or depended on judgment calls made by Covington.  
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benefit ofhindsight,17  and that any problems  with the  FARA filing  were  not known to  him at the  

time.  On June  25, 2018, while represented by Covington  months before the government filed its  

sentencing  motion  and  bragged  about  Mr.  Flynn’s  full  cooperation  and  special  assistance  at  his  

scheduled sentencing in December 2018  Mr.  Flynn specifically told them:  

I  told  this  to  you  the  other  day,  I  don’t  go  over  the  FARA  filing  with  Bijan  

[Rafiekian]  at all.  I don’t know ifthat makes any different to you all.  But it wasn’t  

. . . learn a lot ofthings  in hindsight.  Would it have adjusted what I,  how I stated,  

how  I  filled  out,  can’t  say  that  it  may have  adjusted  what  I  filled  out;  can’t  say it  

would or would not have.18  

In  short,  the  government  has  long  known  from  its  “star  cooperating  witness”  in  the  

Rafiekian  case:  

•  there was no conspiracy with Rafiekian;19  

•  there  was  no  evidence  that  Turkish  officials  directed,  controlled,  or  gave  
“instructions” to anyone at FIG for the project;20  

17  Ex 8 (June 25,  2018 Notes,  page 10:  “learn  lot ofthings in hindsight.”).  . a  

18  Ex 8 (June 25,  2018 Notes,  page 10).  .  

19  See  Judge Trenga’s Memorandum Opinion,  United  States  v.  Rafiekian, Case No.  1:18-cr-457,  
ECF No.  372 at 34-35 (“the Government claims “the three co-conspirators [Rafiekian,  Flynn, and  

Alptekin] again gave substantially identical explanations [in the FARAfilings] that the jury plainly  
deemed false  and used as  further evidence  ofa concerted agreement to  lie.  [Doc.  No.  365  at 20].  
But  that  contention  ignores  the  lack  of evidence  to  establish  the  presumed  conspiracy,  or  any  
agreement, among these three individuals concerning the FARAfiling, as discussed above. In fact,  
until the eve oftrial, the Government contended that Flynnwas not part ofthe alleged conspiracy.”  
[Footnotes omitted].  

Trenga  also  noted,  “The  Government’s  position  with  respect  to  Flynn  is  particularly  
telling…  with full knowledge ofFlynn’s  involvement,  the  Government told the Court as  recently  
as June 13, 2019, that Flynnwas not amemberofthe alleged conspiracy, see  June 13, 2019 hearing  
TR 65:9-22, [Doc.  No.  213], only to notify the Court ofits change in position on July 3, 2019, see  
[Doc.  No.  261],  not  because  of  Flynn’s  known  involvement  as  outlined  above,  or  any  other  

involvement, but because it no longerplanned to call Flynn as awitness pursuant to his cooperation  
agreement with the Government,  even though Flynn was prepared to testify.”).  Id.  at n.44.  

20  Judge  Trenga  heard  the  government’s  best  evidence.  See  Judge  Trenga’s  Memorandum  
Opinion,  United  States  v.  Rafiekian, Case  No.  1:18-cr-457,  ECF  No.  372  at  8.  That  evidence  
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•  Mr.  Flynn was speaking in many cases with the benefit ofhindsight;  and  

•  Mr.  Flynn  could  not  even  say  that  he  would  have  answered  questions  any  
differently now than he did when Covington filed the FARA registration.21  

Still the governmentwas satisfiedwith Mr.  Flynn’s cooperation as ofDecember 2018  so  

satisfied that it filed its motion recommending probation because ofhis substantial assistance, and  

Mr.  Van Grack was  profuse in praising Mr.  Flynn in open court.  ECF No.  46,  47,  and December  

18,  2018 Hearing Tr.  at 25:20- 27:22.  

included  testimony  from  government  witnesses:  Alptekin  was  not  pleased  with  the  scope  or  

substance ofwhatwas presented to him, which included a presentation byMcCauley summarizing  
the findings ofthe investigation into Gulenandamockup oftheGulenopoly boardgame conceived  
by Sphere.  See  Trial Tr.  720:2-8, 720:19-721:4, [ECF No.  333] (Courtovich); 526:25-527:8, [ECF  
No.  331]  (Boston).  

21  Ex.  8  (June  25,  2018  Notes).  Further,  government  witness  former  FBI  Deputy  Assistant  
Director Brian McCauley also  proved there  was  no  “direction or control”  even by Alptekin  the  
Turkish  businessman  in  Rafiekian.  He  testified:  “Alptekin  was  angry  and  dissatisfied  with  

everything FIGhaddone, including the report FIG gave him. FIGhadnot even donewhatAlptekin  
wanted or expected  at any juncture.  There was no evidence ofany particular act being requested  
by any of the  Turkish ministers  at the  only brief“meet and greet”  they had in NY late  one  night.  
(This  is  consistent  with  Flynn’s  grand  jury  testimony).  McCauley  further  debunked  the  
government’s fictitious conspiracy when he testified that Flynn toldRafiekian to file with “DOJ.”.  
Ex 10 (McCauley Rafiekian  testimony).  .  

It  is  undisputed  that  Rafiekian  sought  legal  advice  for  that  very  purpose  even  from  

Covington.  When Flynn received the FARA letter from DOJ, he was stunned.  Mr.  Flynn told the  

prosecutors in one ofhis many cooperation sessions:  “I assumed Bob Kelley was briefed by Bijan  

on what was going on.  Fast forward, I learned that Bijan had called here [Covington]  to ask about  

FARA filing.  I didn’t know about that.  He asked a couple  ofstupid questions  that had nothing to  

do with FARA,  but just political nonsense.  I didn’t find out about that until later on.  Number one,  

that  irritated  me  because  he  thought  about  that.  He  knew  what  FARA  was.  I’ve  never  talked  to  

him about this.  Other [than]  sticking the document I got from DOJ in his chest was one ofthe last  

times I spoke to him.  I was irritated that he had called up about FARA.  For the cost of10K to file  

FARA [to  begin with]  we’re  now sitting here,”  and “I’m not sure  ifwe  talked about that.  You’re  

scraping at cobwebs.  I told Bijan that I had this conversation going on.  I don’t know what depth  

I  discussed with him…”  Again,  this  conversation  was  June  15,  2018,  --long  before  new  counsel  

appeared  and before  SCO  ex  .pressed its  delight  with his  substantial  assistance.  Ex 11  (June  14,  

2018 Covington Interview Notes).  
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The  only thing that changed in Mr.  Flynn’s  case was  the appearance  ofnew,  unconflicted  

counsel on Mr.  Flynn’s behalf, andMr.  Flynn’s refusal to lie for the prosecution ofRafiekian with  

the representation,  protection,  and advocacy ofhis new defense team.  

Defense counsel recently again advised the government that redlinededits to the “statement  

of offense,”  negotiated  with  Mr.  Van  Grack  on  November  30,  2017,  specifically  removed  the  

language  “as  he  then  and  there  knew”  regarding  the  allegedly  “false”  FARA  statements.22  Not  

only  did  Mr.  Van  Grack  demand  false  testimony  from  Mr.  Flynn  about  the  alleged  “false  

statements” in the FARA filing,  but Mr.  Van Grack also knew it was false because Mr.  Flynn had  

ex  to  him  on  June  25,  2018,23  in  preparation  for his  testimony  to  the  grand jury for the  plained it  

Rafiekian  indictment for which Mr.  Van Grack touted Mr.  Flynn’s “substantial assistance.”24  

Undersigned counsel walked the prosecutors through notes and documents that proved the  

truth ofthe defense’s statements on June 27,  2019.  Instead ofreevaluating the situation,  Mr.  Van  

Grack flew into  a rage.  25  As  the  defense  explained in United  States  v.  Rafiekian,  the  prosecutors  

responded to  this  information  from  counsel for Mr.  Flynn  by doubling-down.26  They  scheduled  

aninterviewbytheFBIwithMr.KelneratCovington& Burling,which they latermoved to the U.S.  

22  Ex 1 (Redlined Statement ofOffense at page 6,  yellow-highlighted language).  .  

23  Ex 8 (June 25,  2018 Notes).  .  

24  A clear “shot across the bow” to Flynn and Covington, the government obtained the Rafiekian  
indictment only days  before  the  scheduled sentencing before  this  Court.  It worked  just in time  
to  leverage  it  to  confirm  his  plea  of guilty  in  front  of Judge  Sullivan.  Mr.  Van  Grack  used  the  
possibility ofindicting Flynn in the Rafiekian  case at the sentencing hearing to raise the specter of  
all  the  threats  he  had  made  to  secure  the  plea  a year  earlier  including  the  indictment  of Mr.  

Flynn’s son.  

25  Ex 2 (McKasson Declaration).  .  

26  See, United  States  v.  Rafiekian, Case No.  1:18-cr-457,  ECF No.  270.  
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Attorney’s  office  in  Alexandria  on  July  3,  2019.  Also,  on  July  3,  2019,  an  FBI  Agent  called  the  

younger  Michael  Flynn  directly  to  question  him  despite  knowing  that  he  was  represented  by  

counsel.  The  Agent  persisted  in  speaking  with  him  even  after  he  said  to  call  his  attorney.  See,  

United  States  v.  Rafiekian, Case No.  1:18-cr-457,  ECF No.  270.  

The prosecutors told the new defense lawyers that they would question Mr.  Kelner in his  

July  3,  2019,  interview  about  the  Covington  notes  new  counsel  had  just  provided  to  the  

government  showing that Mr.  Flynn had been fulsome with his counsel  but Mr.  Turgeon did  

not  do  so.  Instead,  Mr.  Turgeon  carefully  worded his  questions  to  elicit  responses  from  former  

counsel  that  were  misleading  at  best,  if not  directly  contradicted  by  the  notes  by  Covington's  

notetaker and partner Brian  Smith.  See, United  States  v.  Rafiekian, Case  No.  1:18-cr-457,  ECF  

No.  270.  

Within  minutes  of concluding  the  interview  of Mr.  Kelner,  AUSA  James  Gillis  called  

defense  counsel  only  to  notify  us  that he  would  not be  calling  Mr.  Flynn  as  a witness,  and  that  

counsel would be receiving a gag order that prohibited counsel from disclosing that fact.  He did  

not even mention that the government had made the remarkable decision to re-cast Mr.  Flynn as  

a  co-conspirator  contrary  to  many  prior  representations  and  that  they  would  seek  a  ruling  

from  this  Court  finding  him  to  be  a  co-conspirator  by  a  preponderance  of the  evidence  in  the  

high-profile Rafiekian  proceeding in which he could not defend himself.27  
See, United  States  v.  

Rafiekian, Case No.  1:18-cr-457,  ECF No.  270.  

27  
See, United  States  v.  Rafiekian, Case No.  1:18-cr-457,  ECF  No.  270  for the full discussion  

of this  information.  As  Judge  Trenga  wrote:  “Then  on  July 3,  2019,  the  Government  filed  a  
Notice  ofCorrection  to  the  Record in  which it  advised  the  Court  that  it  no  longer  planned  to  
call Flynn as  a witness  in its  case  in chief.  The  Government also  took the  position for the  first  

time, contrary to its earlier in-court statements, that Flynnwas regarded as a co-conspirator and  
that  it  would  seek  to  have  his  out-of-court  statements  introduced  pursuant  to  Fed.  R.  Evid.  
801(d)(2)(E).”  (Citations  Omitted)  See  Judge  Trenga’s  Memorandum  Opinion,  United  States  
v.  Rafiekian, Case No.  1:18-cr-457,  ECF No.  372 at 11.  
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The  prosecution has  shown abject bad faith in pure  retaliation against Mr.  Flynn since  he  

retainednew counsel.  This can only be because with new, unconflicted counsel, Mr. Flynn refused  

to lie for the prosecution.  In pure spite, the government retaliated and sought to rescind its judicial  

admissions  that Mr.  Flynn  was  not a co-conspirator,  obtained an  ex  parte  emergency  order from  

Judge  Trenga,  including  a  gag  order,  and  moved  up  the  date  of a  hearing  on  the  issues  without  

notice  to  counsel for Mr.  Flynn.28  An  agent  improperly  contacted Michael Flynn  Jr.,  see  supra.  

The  prosecutors  placed  him  on  the  witness  list  solely  to  harass  him  and  to  raise  the  threat  and  

anxiety ofthe family at this crucial time.  The prosecutors completed the trial without calling him  

as a witness.  

Justice  is  not  a  game,  and  there  should  be  no  room  for  such  gamesmanship  in  the  

Department ofJustice.  

B.  The Governm  ber 15, 2019  ber  ent’s Decem  Extraordinary Production, the Decem  

Report  of  the  Inspector  General,  this  Court’s  Opinion  Denying  All  Brady  
Requests, and the Governm  New Sentencing Position and Mem Warrant  ent’s  o  

This Continuance.  

There have been extraordinary developments in this case in the last thirty days.  In addition,  

in  the  process  ofpreparing for sentencing,  we  found information  we  have  not  seen  previously  

despite  our  team’s  most  diligent  efforts.  Due  to  the  multiple  issues,  filings,  productions,  and  

developments  outlined  herein,  however,  the  defense  must  have  additional  time  to  zealously  

provide their client the quality ofrepresentation to which he is entitled.  

28  Only then did Mr.  Flynn’s unconflicted new defense counsel file a motion to oppose his  
designation as a co-conspirator.  United  States  v.  Rafiekian, 1:18-cr-00457,  ECF No.  270.  

12  
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1.  The 478 Page IG Report Disclosed Stunning New  ation About the  Inform  

Second Agent Who Interviewed Mr. Flynn.  

On  December 9,  2019,  the  Inspector General (“IG”)  for the  Department  of Justice  issued  

the  478-page  Report  on  FISA  abuses.  At  the  government’s  request  on  November  26,  2019,  the  

parties  agreed,  and this  Court issued an order,  approving  a delay for this  Court’s  decision on Mr.  

Flynn’s Motion to Compel because that Report was ex  amine topics related to several  pected to “ex  

matters raised by the defendant.”29  It certainly does.  

2.  On Decem  15, 2019, the  ent Finally Produced 637 Pages of  ber  Governm  

Long-Promised 302s and Handwritten Notes ofAgents.  

The  government  produced  an  additional  637  pages  of discovery  to  Mr.  Flynn  

only  three  weeks  ago.  Mr.  Flynn’s  counsel  has  notified  the  government  of problems  with  that  

production.30  The production, consisting of302s and notes requestedmultiple times since Oct.  11,  

2019,  includes  crucial  documents  such  as  teen  as  as  six  302s  consisting  of 113  pages,  well  206  

pages  of  handwritten  FBI  notes.  Mr.  Flynn’s  counsel  is  still  reviewing  and  digesting  these  

documents as the handwritten notes are particularly difficult to read.  

3.  This Court’s Ninety-Two Page Decision  

The  nex  December  16,  2019,  this  Court  issued  a  92-page  decision  in  which  it  t  day,  on  

rejected  every  request  in  Mr.  Flynn’s  motion  for  exculpatory  evidence,  including  requesting  the  

required production of the  inexplicably  “missing”  original 302  by  the  fired and infamous  former  

29  ECF No.  140 at 2.  

30  In  the  government's  cover  letter  with  its  most  recent  production,  it  claims  that  it  is  producing  

documents  with  the  Bates  range  of 700022699-23460;  however,  the  production  was  missing  the  
following  Bates  ranges:  700022699-22756,  23173-23213,  23247-23258,  and  23267-23282.  The  
productionwas also not produced inBates order, making it very confusing to review. For example,  
Bates  stamp  22953  appears  before  Bates  stamp  22890.  Ms.  Ballantine  promptly  responded  over  
the weekend with an  ex  effort to correct this,  and the parties  pect to resolve any issues.  
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FBI Agent Peter Strzok.  ECF No.  144.  Despite the Court’s  grant ofthe parties’  request for delay  

of that Order until the Report issued,  the  92-page  decision did not address  the  IG Report,  and the  

Court did not afford the  parties  any time  to  brief the  remarkable  new information  revealed in the  

IG Report and the effect ofthat information on Mr.  Flynn’s case.  Mr.  Flynn needs additional time  

to review and present information from thatReport that does indeed bear on his case and to protect  

his constitutional rights.  

4.  The Governm  Obtained Two Extensions Before Filing Its Sentencing  ent  

Mem  prison Mr. Flynn.  oranda Seeking to Revise History and Im  

Per  the  Court’s  Order,  the  government  was  to  provide  its  supplemental  sentencing  

memorandum  on  pectedly,  on  December  30,  2019.  Unex  December  20,  2019,  the  government  

requestedfromMr. Flynn a letter outlining “the facts andcircumstances that the defendant believes  

should  be  taken  into  consideration  by  the  Departure  Committee  when  determining  whether  the  

defendant  merits  a  downward  departure  motion  pursuant  to  USSG  Section  5K1.1,  18  U.S.C.  

§ 3553(e),  and/or Fed.  R.  Crim.  P.  35(b).”  The  government gave  a deadline  ofnoon,  December  

24,  2019 (Christmas  Eve).  Mr.  Flynn replied and requested an  tension  December 27,  2019.  ex  to  

The  government denied the  request to  the  27th,  but it granted the  defense  an  tension  to  5 p.m.  ex  

on  December  26,  2019.  This  required  the  defense  team  to  work  through  Christmas  Eve  and  

Christmas  Day,  only  to  receive  “out-of-office  for the  week”  replies  from  government lawyers  to  

whom we sent the letter.  

Mr.  Flynn  provided  his  letter  to  the  government  by  its  requested  deadline  of 5  p.m.  on  

December  26,  2019.  The  government  notified  Mr.  Flynn  that  it  was  likely  unable  to  meet  its  

deadline to this Court ofDecember 30,  2019,  due to “the holidays” and requested an extension to  

January 7,  2020.  Mr.  Flynn agreed with government’s request despite having just been forced by  

the  prosecutors  to  work  through  Christmas  and  Hanukkah  themselves.  Thus,  the  government  
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sought and obtained an extension from this Court for its “supplemental” sentencing memorandum. 

On January 4, 2020, the government moved again to continue the sentencing deadline by 24 

hours again because of holiday schedules. ECF No. 149. The defense also agreed to this 

ex  tension requests, the government still filed past this Court’s noontension. Despite its multiple ex  

deadline. ECF No. 150. 

C. The Governm  o aticallyChanged Its Position, Seeks toent’s SentencingMem Dram  

Withdraw Its Prior Motion endation, and Triggers toand Reco m  the Necessity 
31

File this Motion Now to Withdraw the Plea. 

In its “supplemental” sentencing memorandum, the government reverses its position on 

Mr. Flynn’s sentencing.32 It seeks to “withdraw” its motion filed a year ago pursuant to U.S.S.G. 

§ 5K1.1 and to withdraw its recommendation that he receive probation. The prosecution seeks to 

rewrite history and send Mr. Flynn to prison. This about-face places the government in breach of 

the plea agreement and triggers application of the ramifications of the Supreme Court’s decision 

in Puckett, 556 U.S. 129. Puckett requires any competent defense counsel in these circumstances 

to move to withdraw Mr. Flynn’s guilty plea for this reason alone. Id. It would constitute 

ineffective assistance of counsel to fail to move to withdraw his plea now in light of the 

government’s breach and change in sentencing recommendation. 

31 The government’s letter just received yesterday by way of“Certificate ofConference” which 
agrees to the Continuance requested, tries “to have its cake and eat it too.” The government 

breached the plea agreement when it filed the new sentencing memo. Mr. Flynn now also needs 
time to briefmany alternate reasons for the withdrawal ofhis plea. 

32 The government’s “supplemental” memorandum is thirty-two pages in length (its original 
memorandum was ). ECF No. 150 and 46, respectively. It also contains 136 pages ofmerely six  
exhibits, including 302s ofMr. Flynn’s interview ofJune 25, 2018 as well as Mr. Flynn’s previous 

counsel, Robert Kelner’s (on June 21, 2018 and July 3, 2019) and Brian Smith’s (June 21, 2018) 
interviews. Counselwas providedMr. Flynn’s interviews in the production onDecember 15, 2019. 
Counsel hadnot previously seen the attorney 302s or the more than 200 pages ofhandwritten notes 
ofthe agents that must be deciphered. ECF No. 150-1 150-6. 
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Mr. Flynn has instructed counsel to file this  Motion to withdrawhis plea now.  The defense  

must  file  a  Supplemental  Motion  to  Withdraw  for  alternative  additional  reasons  as  soon  as  

possible.  Mr.  Flynn  will  not  plead guilty.  Furthermore,  he  will  not  accede  to  the  government’s  

demand that he “disavow” any statements made in his filings since he obtained new,  unconflicted  

counsel.  Michael T.  Flynn  is  innocent.  Mr.  Flynn  has  cooperated  with  the  government  in  good  

faith for two  years.  He  gave  the  prosecution  his  full  cooperation.  “He  held  nothing  back.”  He  

enduredmassive, unnecessary, and frankly counterproductive demands on his time, his family, his  

scarce resources,  and his life.  The same cannot be said for the prosecution which has  operated in  

bad faith from the inception ofthe “investigation” and continues relentlessly through this specious  

prosecution.33  

Because  of  the  government’s  special  role  in  the  justice  system  and  its  extraordinary  

bargaining power,  a plea agreement is strictly construed against the government.  Unless  the plea  

agreement reserves the government’s right to withdraw a filed Section 5K1.1  motion and specifies  

the conduct thatwould trigger the government’s right towithdraw, the governmentmaynot request  

withdrawal ofthe motion.  United  States  v.  Padilla, 183 F.3d 136, 141  (2ndCir.  1999).  The Flynn  

plea agreement contains no such reservation or specification,  and the government is in breach.  

The Department ofJustice, specifically the Office ofUnitedStates Attorney for the District  

of  Columbia,  reversed  its  sentencing  position  despite  the  many  judicial  admissions  of  the  

33  Notably,  the  first  interview  of Mr.  Flynn  was  conducted  surreptitiously  by  the  FBI  by  the  

unprecedented and never-to-be repeated maneuver ofslipping an agent into  a sample presidential  

daily briefing  to  nominee  Trump,  Mr.  Flynn,  and  a third person  on  August  17,  2016  two  days  

after  Strzok  and  Page  tex  one  ted  about  “the  insurance  policy  discussed  in  McCabe’s  office  and  

day  after  they  supposedly  “opened”  and  investigation  of Mr.  Flynn.  Office  of  the  Inspector  

General,  U.S.  Dept.  ofJustice,  Review  ofFour  FISA  Applications  and  Other  Aspects  ofthe  FBI’s  

Crossfire  Hurricane  Investigation, 340-41,  426 (December 2019,  revised).  
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prosecutors  from DOJ and EDVA,  and despite  the  fact that virtually  every premise  undergirding  

the prosecutors’  original memorandum still holds true.  Compare ECF No.  150 to ECF No.  46-47.  

Mr.  Flynn  has  spent  approximately  one  hundred hours  cooperating  with  the  government  

and  has  provided  it  thousands  of  documents,  incurring  millions  of  dollars  in  legal  fees  and  

ex  requiring  him  sell  his  home  in  Alex  all  cooperate  with  the  government.  penses  to  andria  to  

As  the  government  noted  in  its  original  memorandum,  Mr.  Flynn’s  “early  cooperation  was  

particularly  valuable  because  he  was  one  of the  few  people  with long-term  and firsthand insight  

regarding events at issue under investigation by the SCO…[which] likely affected the decisions of  

related  firsthand  witness  to  be  forthcoming  with  the  SCO  and  cooperate.”  ECF  No.  46-1  at  5.  

Nothing reasonable or rational explains the government’s breach.  

Furthermore,  as  the  government  admitted,  Mr.  Flynn’s  “military  and  public  service  are  

exemplary.  He  served in  the  military for over  33  years,  including  five  years  in  combat  duty,  led  

theDefense IntelligenceAgency, andretiredas a 3-stargeneral. TheDefendant’s recordofmilitary  

and public service distinguish him from every other person who has  been charged as part [of]  the  

SCO’s investigation.”  ECF No.  46 at 5.  This all remains true today.  

D.  P ckett  Req ires  Mr. Flynn Move to Withdraw His Plea.  

The government’s newSupplementalMemorandum inAidofSentencing recommends that  

this Court impose on Mr.  Flynn a period ofincarceration,  and it specifically seeks to withdraw its  

previous motion. ECF No. 150.  The government’s position not only breaches the plea agreement,  

but  it  also  violates  Mr.  Flynn’s  Due  Process  rights.  It  magnifies  and  further  proves  the  

government’s abject bad faith and vindictiveness.  

The terms ofthat agreement clearly state:  

If  the  government  determines  that  your  client  has  provided  such  substantial  
assistance,  this  Office  shall  file  a  departure  motion  pursuant  to  Section  5K1.1  of  
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the  Sentencing  Guidelines,  which  would  afford  your  client  an  opportunity  to  
persuade  the  Court  that  your  client  should  be  sentenced  to  a  lesser  period  of  

incarceration and/or fine than indicated by the Sentencing Guidelines.34  

Consistent therewith, onDecember 4, 2018, the government submitted its recommendation  

to  this  Court  which  concluded  that  “[g]iven  the  defendant’s  substantial  assistance  and  other  

considerations . . . a sentence at the low end ofthe guideline range  including a sentence that does  

not  impose  a term  of incarceration  is  appropriate  and  warranted.”  ECF  No.  46  at  1.  In  the  

December 18,  2018,  sentencing hearing,  the government represented to  this Court that Mr.  Flynn  

should  receive  probation  and  confirmed  his  “substantial  assistance.”  The  government  based  its  

decision on Mr.  Flynn’s cooperation both with the SCO, which was, according to the government,  

“very largely complete, completedat this point,” and the extensive cooperationMr. Flynnprovided  

to the EDVA.  Mr. VanGrack thoroughly praisedMr. Flynn, telling the Court: “I'd like to highlight  

that  General  Flynn  has  held  nothing  back,  nothing  in  his  extensive  cooperation  with  the  Special  

Counsel's  Office.  He's  answered  every  question  that's  been  asked.  I  believe  they  feel  that  he's  

answered them truthfully,  and he  has.  He's  complied with  every request that's  been  made,  as  has  

his  counsel.  Nothing  has  been  held  back.”35  The  government  told  the  Court  that  Mr.  Flynn  

“provided  substantial  assistance  to  the  attorneys  in  the  Eastern  District  of Virginia  in  obtaining  

th[e]  charging document”36  for its prosecution ofBijan Rafiekian and Ekim Alptekin.  

Mr. Flynnwas ready, willing, and able to testify consistentlywith his grand jury testimony.  

As late as June 2019,  government prosecutors were still assuring current counsel that Mr.  Flynn’s  

34  See  Exhibit 4 (Plea Agreement) (emphasis added).  

35  Hr’g Tr.  46:8-14,  Dec.  18,  2018.  

36  Hr’g Tr.  27:20-22,  Dec.  18, 2018.  
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cooperation  would  not  be  affected  by  the  outcome  of  the  Rafiekian  case.  The  government’s  

stunning  and  vindictive  reversal  of  its  earlier  representations  to  this  Court  are  incredible,  

vindictive,  in bad faith,  and breach the plea agreement.  

Mr.  Van Grack's obsession with attempting (and failing)  to bully Mr.  Flynn into testifying  

consistently with the government's fictional theory ofthe case in the Rafiekian  matter  and admit  

guilt to “false statements” the government knows he did not make  is repugnant to the search for  

justice  which  cannot  be  found  without  first  finding  truth.  His  attempt  to  punish  Mr.  Flynn  for  

standing firm for the truth is unlawful. See  Wade  v.  United  States, 504 U.S. 181  (1992) (review for  

an “unconstitutional motive”).  The  government’s  tactics  in retaliation for Mr.  Flynn’s  refusal to  

“compose” for the prosecution is also a due process violation that can and should be stopped dead  

in  its  tracks  by  this  Court.  See  United  States  v.  Paramo, 998  F.2d 1212,  1218-20  (3d Cir.  1993)  

(reversing  a  district  court  that  refused  to  consider  a prosecutorial  vindictiveness  claim  when  the  

prosecution  withheld  a  5K1.1  because  the  defendant  decided  to  plead  not  guilty  and  proceed  to  

trial).  By  attempting  to  punish  Mr.  Flynn  for  pushing  back  at  Mr.  Van  Grack's  attempts  to  

coerce  him  into  giving  false  testimony  in  the  Rafiekian  case,  the  prosecutor's  retaliatory  motive  

shows "actual vindictiveness."  Id.  at 1220.  

“Long  ago,  the  Supreme  Court  instructed  that  ‘(t)he  right  to  counsel  guaranteed  by  the  

Constitution contemplates the services ofan attorney devoted solely to  the interests ofhis client,’  

an  admonition  which  we  ourselves  have  had  occasion  to  observe.  ‘Undivided  allegiance  and  

faithful,  devoted  service  to  a  client,’  the  Court  declared,  ‘are  prized  traditions  of the  American  

lawyer.  It is this kind ofservice forwhich the Sixth Amendment makes provision.’” United  States  

v.  Hurt,  543  F.2d  162  (D.C.  Cir.  1976)  (citing  Von  Moltke  v.  Gillies,  332  U.S.  708,  725  

(1948)).  Effective  assistance  ofcounsel  requires  counsel for Mr.  Flynn to  move  to  withdraw his  
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plea,  and  Mr.  Flynn  has  instructed  counsel  to  do  so  now  for  the  reasons  stated  herein  and  for  

many alternate reasons we will present in a supplemental filing.  Puckett  v.  United  States, 556 U.S.  

129  (2009).  37  In  Puckett,  the  majority  wrote:  “such  a  breach  is  undoubtedly  a  violation  of the  

defendant’s  rights”38  and  that  if  the  government’s  “obligations  are  not  met”  under  the  plea  

agreement,  “the  defendant  is  entitled  to  seek  a  remedy”  which  includes  “allowing  him  to  

39  40  withdraw  his  plea.”  The  government  is  “obligated to  uphold its  side  of the  bargain”  in  a plea  

agreement,  and  its  failure  to  do  so  is  grounds  for  withdrawal  of the  defendant’s  guilty  plea.  Id.  

Here  the  government  breached  the  contract  with  its  request  to  withdraw  its  motion  and  for  

incarceration ofMr.  Flynn.  

E.  Conclusion  

Accordingly,  Mr.  Flynn  moves  to  withdraw  his  plea ofguilty.  The  government  breached  

the  plea  agreement,  and  future  briefing  will  establish  additional  reasons.  The  government  has  

agreed to a thirty-day continuance.  He requests the continuance be granted in the interest ofjustice  

and to  allow  Mr.  Flynn  and his  counsel  to  process,  respond,  and reply  to  the  many  ramifications  

from  the  significant  developments  and new  information  that  has  been  disclosed in  the  last  thirty  

days.  

37  In  Puckett, the  Supreme  Court  applied  the  “plain  error”  standard  and  ruled  against  Puckett  

because  defense  counsel  did  not  move  to  withdraw  his  plea  in  the  district  court  when  the  
Government  defaulted  on  its  plea-agreement  obligations  and  sought  additional  incarceration  
even though Mr.  Puckett had committed an additional crime  in the  three  years  between his  guilty  
plea and his sentencing.  Puckett, 556 U.S.  at 133.  

38  Id.  at 136 (emphasis added).  

39  
Id.  at 137.  

40  
Id.  at 138.  
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Dated:  January 14,  2020  

Reviewed,  understood,  and agreed,  

/s/ Michael T.  Flynn  

Lt.  General Michael T.  Flynn (Ret.)  

W.  William Hodes  
The William Hodes Law Firm  

3658  Conservation Trail  
The Villages,  Florida 32162  
Tel:  (352) 399-0531  
Fax (352) 240-3489  :  
Admitted Pro  Hac  Vice  

Respectfully submitted,  

/s/ Sidney Powell  
Sidney Powell  
Molly McCann  

Sidney Powell,  P.C.  
2911  Turtle Creek Blvd.,  
Suite 300  
Dallas,  Tex 75219  as  
Tel:  214-707-1775  
sidney@federalappeals.com  

Admitted Pro  Hac  Vice  
molly@federalappeals.com  
Admitted Pro  Hac  Vice  

/s/ Jesse R.  Binnall  
Jesse R.  Binnall  

Lindsay R.  McKasson  
Harvey & Binnall,  PLLC  
717 King Street,  Suite 300  
Alexandria,  VA 22314  
Tel:  (703) 888-1943  
Fax (703) 888-1930  :  

jbinnall@harveybinnall.com  
lmckasson@harveybinnall.com  
Admitted Pro  Hac  Vice  

CERTIFICATE OF CONFERENCE  

The  government’s  response  to  the  Motion  for  Continuance  is  attached in  the  form  of the  

letterMs. Ballantine requested attached.  Defense counsel contacted the government shortly before  

filing this Motion to Withdraw the Plea.  The government had not replied at the time offiling.  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

I hereby certify that on January 14,  2020,  a true and genuine copy ofMr.  Flynn’s Motion  

for Leave for Continuance ofSentencing was served via electronic mail by the Court’s CM/ECF  

system to all counsel ofrecord,  including:  

Jessie K.  Liu,  U.S.  Attorney for the District ofColumbia  
Brandon L.  Van Grack,  Special Assistant U.S.  Attorney  
Jocelyn Ballantine,  Assistant U.S.  Attorney  

th  555  4 Street,  NW  

Washington,  D.C.  20530  

Respectfully submitted,  

/s/  Jesse R.  Binnall  
Jesse R.  Binnall,  VSB# 79272  
HARVEY & BINNALL,  PLLC  

717  King Street,  Suite 300  
Alexandria,  VA 22314  
Tel:  (703) 888-1943  
Fax:  (703)  888-1930  
jbinnall@harveybinnall.com  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA Criminal No.: 

v. Violation: 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (False 
Statements) 

MICHAEL T. FLYNN, 

Defendant. 

STATEMENT OF THE OFFENSE 

Pursuant to Federal Rul  Procedure 11, the United States of America and thee of Criminal  

defendant, MICHAEL T. FLYNN, stipulate and agree that the fo lowing facts are true and 

accurate. These facts do not constitute a l of the facts known to the parties concerning the 

charged offense; they are being submitted to demonstrate that sufficient facts exist that the 

defendant committed the offense to which he is pleading guilty. 

1. The defendant, MICHAEL T. FLYNN, who served as a surrogate and national  

security advisor for the presidential campaign of Donald J. Trump (“Campaign”), as a senior 

member of President Elect Trump’s Transition Team (“Presidential Transition Team”), and as 

the National Security Advisor (“NSA”) to President Trump, made materia l  se statementsy fal  

and omissions during an interview with the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) that took 

place on January 24, 2017, in Washington, D.C., which is located in the District of Columbia, on 

January 24, 2017. At the time of the interview, the FBI had an open investigation into the 

Government of Russia’s (”Russia”) efforts to interfere in the 2016 presidential election, 

including the nature of any links between individuals associated with the Campaign and Russia, 

and whether there was any coordination between the Campaign and Russia’s efforts. The FBI 

opened and coordinated the investigation in Washington, D.C. 
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2. FLYNN’s false statements and omissions impeded and otherwise had a material  

impact on the FBI’s ongoing investigation into the existence of any links or coordination 

between individuals associated with the Campaign and Russia’s efforts to interfere with the 2016 

presidential election. 

False Statements Regarding FLYNN’s Request to the Russian Ambassador that Russia 

Not Escalate the Situation in Response to U.S. Sanctions against Russia 

3. On or about January 24, 2017, FLYNN agreed to be interviewed by agents from 

the FBI (“January 24 voluntary interview”). During the course of the interview, FLYNN fal  ysel  

stated that he did not ask Russia’s Ambassador to the United States (“Russian Ambassador”) to 

refrain from escalatinge the situation with the United States in response to sanctions that the 

United States had imposed against Russia. FLYNN al  selso fal  y stated that he did not remember 

a fo low up conversation with the Russian Ambassador wherein in which the Russian 

Ambassador stated that Russia had chosen to moderate its response to those sanctions as a result 

of FLYNN’s request. In truth and in fact, however, FLYNN then and there knew that the 

fo lowing had occurred: 

a. On or about December 28, 2016, then President Barack Obama signed 

Executive Order 13757, which was to take effect the fo lowing day. The 

executive order announced sanctions against Russia in response to that 

government’s actions intended to interfere with the 2016 presidential  

election (“U.S. Sanctions”). 

b. On or about December 28, 2016, the Russian Ambassador contacted 

FLYNN. 

c. On or about December 29, 2016, FLYNN ca l  of theed a senior official  

incoming National Security Council  Transition TeamPresidential  

2 
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(“incoming NSCPTT official”), who was with other senior members of the 

Presidential Transition Team at the Mar a Lago resort in West Palm 

Beach, Florida, to seek guidance ondiscuss what, if anything, to 

communicate to the Russian Ambassador about the U.S. Sanctions. On 

that ca l, FLYNN and the incoming NSCPTT official discussed the U.S. 

Sanctions, including the potential impact of those sanctions on the 

incoming administration’s foreign policy goals. The incoming NSCPTT 

official and FLYNN also discussed that the members of the Presidential  

Transition Team at Mar a Lago did not want Russia to escalate the 

situation. 

d. Immediately after his phone ca l with the incoming NSCPTT official, 

FLYNN ca led the Russian Ambassador and requested that Russia not 

escalate the situation and only respond to the U.S. Sanctions in a 

reciprocal manner. 

e. On or about December 29, 2016,Shortly after his phone ca l with the 

Russian Ambassador, FLYNN spoke with the incoming NSCPTT official  

to report on the substance of his ca l with the Russian Ambassador, 

including their discussion of the U.S. Sanctions. 

f. On or about December 30, 2016, Russian President Vladimir Putin 

released a statement indicating that Russia would not take retaliatory 

measures in response to the U.S. Sanctions at that time. 

3 
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g. On or about December 31, 2016, the Russian Ambassador ca led FLYNN 

and to informed him that Russia had chosen not to escalate the 

situationretaliate in response to FLYNN’s request. 

h. After his phone ca l with the Russian Ambassador, FLYNN spoke with 

senior members of the Presidential Transition Team about Russia’s 

decision not to escalate the situation in response to FLYNN’s request. 

False Statements Regarding FLYNN’s Request that Foreign Officials Vote Against or 
Delay a United Nations Security Council Resolution 

4. During the January 24 vol  seluntary interview, FLYNN fal  y stated that he 

ca ledmade additional  se statements about ca l  other countriesfal  s he made to Russia and several  

in order to get a sense of where they stood with respect to a vote onregarding a resolution 

submitted by Egypt to the United Nations Security Council on December 21, 2016, by Egypt. 

Specifica ly FLYNN al  sel  y asked what the countries’ positions wereso fal  y stated that he onl  

with respect toon the vote, and that he did not request that any of the countries take any 

particular action with regard toon the resolution. FLYNN also falsely stated that the Russian 

Ambassador never described to him Russia’s response to the request FLYNN’s request made 

regarding the resolution. In truth and in fact, however, FLYNN then and there knew that the 

fo lowing had occurred: 

a. On or about December 21, 2016, Egypt submitted a resolution to the 

United Nations Security Council on the issue of Israel  ementsi settl  

(“resolution”). The United Nations Security Council was scheduled to 

vote on the resolution the fo lowing day. 

b. On or about December 22, 2016, a very senior official member from the 

Presidential Transition Team directed FLYNN to contact officials from 

4 
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foreign governments, incl  earn where each governmentuding Russia, to l  

stood on the resol  uence those governments’ positions inution and to infl  

the tohopes of del  ution.aying the vote or defeating the resol  

c. On or about December 22, 2016, FLYNN contacted the Russian 

Ambassador about the pending vote. FLYNN informed the Russian 

Ambassador about the incoming administration’s opposition to the 

resolution, and requested that Russia vote against or delay the resolution. 

d. On or about December 23, 2016, FLYNN again spoke with the Russian 

Ambassador, who informed FLYNN that if it came to a vote Russia would 

not prevent the vote from occurringvote against the resolution. 

Other False Statements Regarding FLYNN’s Contacts with Foreign Governments 

5. On March 7, 2017, FLYNN filed multiple documents with the Department of 

Justice pursuant to the Foreign Agents Registration Act (“FARA”) pertaining to a project 

performed by him and his company, the Flynn Intel Group, Inc. (“FIG”), for the principal benefit 

of the Republic of Turkey (“Turkey project”). The project was initiated by a Turkish national  

who owned a Dutch company (“Company A”). In the FARA filings, FLYNN made materia ly 

the fo l  se statements and omissions, incl  sel  FLYNNowing fal  uding by: (i) fal  y stating that (a) 

FIG did not know whether or the extent to which the Republic of Turkey was involved with 

FIG’s retention infor the Turkey project,; (b) (ii) for the purposes of the Turkey project, 

Company A was not supervised or directed by a foreign government; (iii) Company A engaged 

FIG on the Turkey project in support of Company A’s consulting work for a company in Israel; 

(iv) the Turkey project was focused on improving U.S. business organizations’ confidence 

regarding doing business in Turkey,; and (c) (v) on his own initiative, FLYNN published an op 

5 
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ed by FL YNNpertaining te TuFlaiypublished in The Hill on November 8, 2016. was written at his 

own initiative: and by omitting that officials from the Republic of Turkey provided supervision 

and direction over the Turkey project ; and (·,i) FIG paid Campany A $80,000 as "Censultoney" 

a. The Ge·,eFnment efTuFleey "n'flS EliFeetly ilwel·,eEI in FIG's Fetentien en the ~ Formatted: Indent: Left: O", Arlt lile: 0.5" 

TUFkey pFejeet; 

The Ge·,eFnment efTuFleey supeF¥iseEl one EliFeeteEl the TUFleey pFejeet; 

e. The TuFkey pFejeet was net in suppeFt ef Campany A's eensulting weFk feF on 

lsFoeli eempony; 

El. The TuFkey pFejeet was net feeuseEl en impFe·,ing U.S. llusiness eFgoniz!atiens' 

eenfiElenee FegaFEling Eleing llusiness in TuFkey; 

e. FLYJ>TJ>T pulllisheEl the J>Te·,emlleF 8, 2016 er ea in suppeFt ef the pFej eet; and 

f:.L__The $80,000 FIG paid te Campany A was net feF eensulting fees. 

ROBERT S. MUELLER, III 
Special Counsel 

By: 
Brandon L. Van Grack 
Zainab N. Ahmad 
Senior Assistant Special Counsels 
The Special Counsel's Office 
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DEFENDANT’S ACCEPTANCE 

The preceding statement is a summary, made for the purpose of providing the Court with 
a factual basis for my guil  ea to the charge against me. ude a l of the factsty pl  It does not incl  

known to me regarding this offense. I make this statement knowingl  untarily and vol  y and 

because I am, in fact, guilty of the crime charged. No threats have been made to me nor am I 
under the infl  d impede my abiluence of anything that coul  ity to understand this Statement of the 

Offense fu ly. 

I have read every word of this Statement of the Offense, or have had it read to me. 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11, after consulting with my attorneys, I agree 
and stipulate to this Statement of the Offense, and declare under penalty of perjury that it is true 

and correct. 

Date: 

Michael T. Flynn 
Defendant 

ATTORNEYS’ ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

I have read this Statement of the Offense, and have reviewed it with my client fu l  Iy. 

concur in my client’s desire to adopt and stipulate to this Statement of the Offense as true and 

accurate. 

Date: 
Robert K. Kelner 

Attorney for Defendant 

Stephen P. Anthony 

Attorneys for Defendant 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

v. 
Criminal Action No. 1:17-cr-00232 

(EGS) 
MICHAEL T. FLYNN, 

Defendant. 

DECLARATION OF LINDSAY R. MCKASSON 

I, Lindsay R. McKasson declai•e: 

1. I am an attorney at Harvey & Binnall, PLLC. 

2. On June 27, 2019, I participated in a trial preparation session at the United 

States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of Virginia in which General Flynn 

was being prepared for his testimony by the United States Attorneys. 

3. On that day, I wrote contemporaneous notes du.ring the meeting. A true and 

correct copy of those notes are attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

4. Later that afternoon, I transcribed my handwritten notes into types notes. A 

true and correct copy of those typed notes are attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 

I swear that the foregoing is true and correct under the laws of the District of 

Columbia on this 13th day of January, 2020. 
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AUSA  EDVA  Notes  
6/27/19,  9:30  a.m.  [notes  were  hand-written  at  time  of  interview  and  typed  on  the  
same  day]  

Attendance:  
o  Jim  Gillis  
o  Neil  Hammerstorm  
o  Evan  Turgeon  –  Nat.  Sec.  
o  John  (AUSA)  
o  Sidney  
o  Jesse  
o  Lindsay  
o  Bill  

Sidney:  testimony  is  consistent,  he  will  cooperate…[gave  production]  

o  Walk  through  production  

Evan:  what’s  the  point  you  are  trying  to  make  [re  Gulen  report/packet]  

Neil:  Were  the  atty’s  who  prepare  the  FARA  filing  the  ones  who  were  in  the  
meetings  [that  are  reflected  in  the  notes]?  

Sidney:  Yes  

[Brandon  joined  the  call]  

John:  confidence/truth  project  –  always  about  Gulen  
o  We  know  that  the  focus  never  changed  
o  Paragraph  5(b)  must  be  what  you’re  talking  about  [Stmt  of  Offense]  
o  Bijan/Ekim  came  up  these  lies,  but  in  reality  they  were  trying  to  get  Gulen  

back  to  Turkey  
o  Project  name  change,  was  a  change  in  name  only  
o  The  statement  is  false  

Jesse:  Covington  had  accurate  information  pre-filing  

Sidney:  review  the  FARA  in  totality,  from  appellate  perspective  =  where  the  hell  is  
your  case?  

o  look  at  the  whole  filing  
o  send  prison  for  15  years  for  writing  op-ed?  

Bill:  some  ambiguous  or  false/misleading  information  
o  Did  not  intentionally  make  false  statements  
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o  He  did  not  knowingly  make  the  statements  that  he  knew  were  wrong  
o  Gave  the  information  to  his  lawyers  and  figured  they  would  get  it  right  

John:  Statement  given  was  that  the  Turkey  project  was  on  business  relations  
o  That’s  the  story  they  portrayed  
o  When  in  reality,  during  the  General’s  telling,  he  admits  that  the  highest  

levels  of  GoT  (Govt  of  Turkey)  were  involved  
o  Telling  FARA  unit  that  this  about  business  relations  –  that  is  a  false  

statement  

Neil:  why  not  raise  it  in  colloquy?  

Brandon:  This  agreement  was  extensive  
o  He  was  part  of  the  discussions  
o  This  is  the  language  your  client  agreed  to  
o  Statement  of  Offense  
o  He  was  aware  false  statement  
o  General  pushed  back  on  some  language,  but  not  this  language  
o  Did  not  willfully  –  why  not  say  something?  
o  You  are  reviving  conversations  that  already  occurred  
o  He  did  not  say  anything  in  front  of  judge  

Sidney:  nothing  in  statement  says  willfully/knowingly  re  FARA  

Brandon:  [very  heated]  
o  Without  willfully/knowingly  it  doesn’t  make  this  an  offense  
o  First  time  your  client  or  counsel  has  made  any  statement  like  what  you  are  

saying  
o  No  representation  that  this  [what  you’re  saying  is  the  case]  –  would  have  

been  factor  in  mitigation  
o  Omissions  –  the  facts  about  officials  in  Turkey  
o  Looks  like  you  have  reviewed  the  notes  
o  Things  he  told  us  before  
o  It’s  one  thing  to  say  that  he  did  not  go  line  by  line  through  the  FARA,  it’s  

another  thing  to  say  he  didn’t  know  
o  He  provided  them  misleading/false  information  

o  Want  to  be  clear  –  you  are  saying  that  he  did  not  provide  any  
false/misleading  statements  to  Covington?  

Sidney:  You  are  asking  my  client  to  lie  
o  Everything  I  have  seen  is  consistent  –  if  you  have  seen  something,  show  us  

Brandon:  No  one  is  asking  your  client  to  lie  
o  Be  careful  about  what  you  say  

Document  ID:  0.7.5218.7199-000005  

0403



          

        
                 


              
            
        
         
               


            

     

        

       
        
      
             
           
       
           
        
          
               


   
         


 

      

         

       

        

                                                       

                 

 

               


  

Case  1:17  cr  00232  EGS  Document 151  2  Filed  01/14/20  Page 11  of 11  

o  Other  people  are  listening  on  this  call  [on  the  line]1 

Jim:  Let’s  go  back  to  having  a  factual  discussion  
o  What  he  believes  to  be  true  –  it  is  difficult  for  us  to  believe  that  [what  you’re  

saying]  
o  I  know  sometimes  when  drilling  down  on  facts  that  stories  may  evolve  a  bit  
o  I  don’t  want  him  [General]  to  say  anything  but  the  truth  
o  And  I  am  not  changing  that  one  bit  
o  We  need  to  absorb  what  you  have  given  us  
o  I  think  I  know  what  Brandon  was  saying  –  clarify  that  your  position  is  that  

he  [General]  never  gave  false  information  to  any  lawyers  at  Covington  or  to  
[Kristen?]  whether  orally  or  through  documents?  

Sidney:  we  have  seen  nothing  to  indicate  that  

Jim:  You  should  go  back  to  Covington  lawyers  
o  Have  you  asked  them  for  typed  up  versions?  
o  These  specific  interviews  [before  FARA  filing]  
o  Are  there  no  typed  up  interviews  with  them?  [Sidney:  I  don’t  believe  so]  
o  Ask  them  direct  yes  or  no  from  them  re  their  notes  
o  Have  you  confronted  them  with  this?  No  
o  Ask  them  for  their  typed  up  notes  from  that  time  period  
o  Their  typed  up  notes  would  be  contemporaneous  notes  
o  Our  experience  • they  [Covington]  had  associate  furiously  typing  away  
o  You  should  ask  them  specifically  re  the  typed  up  notes  and  ask  them  to  email  

the  notes  to  you  
o  Contemporaneous,  typed  up  notes  from  discussions  between  Covington  and  

Gen.  Flynn  

Sidney:  I  don’t  think  there  are  any  

Jim:  two  associates  taking  notes,  Alex  and  a  male  

Sidney:  we  are  going  to  need  some  time  

Brandon:  we  can  talk  after  [to  the  AUSA  team]  

1 I  also  remember  Sidney  saying  in  response  to  this:  Put  the  world  on  –  just  put  the  
world  on!  
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65  

1  presented;  is  that  right?  

2  MR.  GILLIS:  That's  correct.  

3  THE  COURT:  We  have  it  in  the  briefing  and  in  

4  the  indictment.  

5  MR.  GILLIS:  Yes,  and  in  the  exhibits  that  we  

6  submitted,  Your  Honor.  

7  THE  COURT:  Right.  

8  MR.  GILLIS:  That  --

9  THE  COURT:  Let  me  ask  you  this.  It's  not  in  

10  the  indictment.  Is  the  government  alleging  that  

11  Mr.  Flynn  was  part  of  this  conspiracy?  

12  MR.  GILLIS:  We  are  not,  Your  Honor.  

13  THE  COURT:  Right.  So  you're  not  presenting  

14  any  statements  by  him,  any  testimony  -- there  would  be  

15  no  evidence  from  him  as  to  the  existence  of  the  

16  conspiracy?  

17  MR.  GILLIS:  Well,  Your  Honor  -- no,  Your  

18  Honor,  as  to  that.  There  will  certainly  be  testimony  

19  from  General  Flynn.  And  from  that  testimony,  the  jury  

20  could  draw  a  reasonable  inference  that  there  was  a  

21  conspiracy,  but  we  are  not  -- we  do  not  contend  that  

22  General  Flynn  was  a  part  of  that  conspiracy.  

23  THE  COURT:  All  right.  

24  MR.  GILLIS:  With  respect  to  the  Kelley  

25  declaration,  Your  Honor,  as  far  as  what  Ms.  Mitchell  
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1 be arguing in a vacuum if --

2 THE COURT: Well, I think it's clear that 

3 their position is that it was the inquiry from the DOJ 

4 that was a sufficient context for the assertion of the 

5 work product privilege. Again, if you would like to 

6 file anything supplemental on that other than what 

7 you've argued here, you have leave to do that. 

8 MR. GILLIS: Yes, Your Honor. 

9 THE COURT: All right. 

10 MR. GILLIS: Thank you. 

11 THE COURT: Anything else? 

12 (No response.) 

13  THE COURT: All right. Thank you. 

14 The Court will stand in recess. 

15 ----------------------------------

Time: 11:48 a.m. 
16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 
I certify that the foregoing is a true and 

22 
accurate transcription of my stenographic notes. 

23  

24 
/s/ 

25 Rhonda F. Montgomery, CCR, RPR 
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U.S. Department ofJustice 

The Special Counsel's Office 

Washington, D.C. 20530 

November 30, 2017 

Robert K. Kelner 
Stephen P. Anthony 
Covington & Burling LLP 
One CityCenter, 850 Tenth Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20001-4956 

Re: United States v. Michael T. Flynn 

Dear Counsel: 

This letter sets forth the full and complete plea offer to your client, Lieutenant General 
Michael T. Flynn (Ret.) (hereinafter referred to as "your client'' or "defendant''), from the 
Special Counsel's Office (hereinafter also referred to as "the Government" or "this Office"). If 
your client accepts the terms and conditions ofthis offer, please have your client execute this 
document in the space provided below. Upon receipt ofthe executed document, this letter will 
become the Plea Agreement (hereinafter referred to as "this Agreement''). The terms ofthe offer 
are as follows: 

1. Charges and Statutory Penalties 

Your client agrees to plead guilty to the Criminal Infonnation, a copy ofwhich is 
attached, charging your client with making false statements to the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001. 

Your client understands that a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 carries a maximum sentence 
of 5 years' imprisonment; a fine of$250,000, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3571(b)(3); a term of 
supervised release of not more than 3 years, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3583(b)(2); and an 
obligation to pay any applicable interest or penalties on fines and restitution not timely made. 

In addition, your client agrees to pay a special assessment of$100 per felony conviction 
to the Clerk of the United States District Court for the District ofColumbia. Your client also 
understands that, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3572 and§ SEJ .2 ofthe United States Sentencing 
Guidelines, Guidelines Manual (2016) (hereinafter "Sentencing Guidelines," "Guidelines,'' or 
"U.S.S.G."), the Court may also impose a fine that is sufficient to pay the federal government the 
costs of any imprisonment, term ofsupervised release, and period ofprobation. 

2. Factual Stipulations 

Your client agrees that the attached "Statement of the Offense" fairly and accurately 
describes your client's actions and involvement in the offense to which your client is pleading 
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guilty. Please have your client sign and return the Statement of the Offense as a written proffer 
ofevidence, along with this Agreement. 

3. Additional Charges 

In consideration of your client's guilty plea to the above offense, your client will not be 
further prosecuted criminally by this Office for the conduct set forth in the attached Statement of 
the Offense. 

4. Sentenc.ing Guidelines Analysis 

Your client understands that the sentence in this case will be detennined by the Court, 
pursuant to the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), including a consideration of the 
applicable guidelines and policies set forth in the Sentencing Guidelines. Pursuant to Federal 
Rule ofCriminal Procedure 1l(c)(l )(B), end to assist the Court in determining the appropriate 
sentence, the parties agree to the following: 

A. Estimated Offense Level Under the Guidelines 

The parties agree that the following Sentencing Guidelines sections apply: 

U.S.S.G. §2B1.l{a)(2) Base Offense Level: 6 

Total: 6 

B. Acceptance of Responsibility 

The Government agrees that a 2-level reduction will be appropriate, pursuant to U.S.S.G. 
§ 3E1.1, provided that your client clearly demonstrates acceptance of responsibility, to the 
satisfaction of the Government, through your client's allocution, adherence to every provision of 
this Agreement, and conduct between entry ofthe plea and imposition ofsentence. 

Nothing in this Agreement limits the right of the Government to seek denial ofthe 
adjustment for acceptance of responsibility, pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3El. I, and/or imposition of 
an adjustment for obstruction ofjustice, pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3Cl.l, regardless ofany 
agreement set forth above, should your client move to withdraw your client's guilty plea after it 
is entered, or should it be determined by the Government that your client has either (a) engaged 
in conduct, unknown to the Government at the time ofthe signing ofthis Agreement, that 
constitutes obstruction ofjustice, or (b) engaged in additional criminal conduct after signing this 
Agreement 

In accordance with the above, the applicable Guidelines Offense Level will be at least 4. 
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C. Estimated Criminal History Category 

Based upon the infonnation now available to this Office, your client has no criminal 
convictions. 

Accordingly, your client is estimated to have zero criminal history points and your 
client's Criminal History Category is estimated to be I. Your client acknowledges that if 
additional convictions are discovered during the pre-sentence investigation by the United States 
Probation Office, your client's criminal history points may increase. 

D. Estimated Applicable Guidelines Range 

Based upon the agreed total offense level and the estimated criminal history category set 
forth above, your client's estimated Sentencing Guidelines range is zero months to six months' 
imprisonment (the "Estimated Guidelines Range"). In addition, the parties agree that, pursuant 
to U.S.S.G. § SEl .2, should the Court impose a fine, at Guidelines level 4, the estimated 
applicable fine range is $500 to $9,500. Your client reserves the right to ask the Court not to 
impose any applicable fine. 

The parties agree that, solely for the purposes of calculating the applicable range under 
the Sentencing Guidelines, neither a downward nor upward departure from the Estimated 
Guidelines Range set forth ·above is warranted, subject to the paragraphs regarding cooperation 
below. Accordingly, neither party will seek any departure or adjustment to the Estimated 
Guidelines Range, nor will either party suggest that the Court consider such a departure or 
adjustment, except as provided in the preceding sentence. Moreover, your client understands and 
acknowledges that the Estimated Guidelines Range agreed to by the parties is not binding on the 
Probation Office or the Court. Should the Court detennine that a different guidelines range is 
applicable, your client will not be pennitted to withdraw his guilty plea on that basis, and the 
Government and your client will still be bound by this Agreement. 

Your client understands and acknowledges that the terms of this section apply only to 
conduct that occurred before the execution of this Agreement. Should your client commit any 
conduct after the execution ofthis Agreement that would fonn the basis for an increase in your 
client's base offense level or justify an upward departure (examples of which include, but are not 
limited to, obstruction of justice, failure to appear for a court proceeding, criminal conduct while 
pending sentencing, and false statements to law enforcement agents, the probation officer, or the 
Court), the Government is free under this Agreement to seek an increase in the base offense level 
based on that post-agreement conduct. 

5. Agreement us to Sentencing Allocution 

Based upon the information known to the Government at the time ofthe signing of this 
Agreement, the parties further agree that a sentence within the Estimated Guidelines Range 
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would constitute a reasonable sentence in light of all ofthe factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 
3553(a), should such a sentence be subject to appellate review notwithstanding the appeal waiver 
provided below. 

6. Reservation of Allocution 

The Government and your client reserve the right to describe fully, both orally and in 
writing, to the sentencing judge, the nature and seriousness of your client's misconduct, 
including any misconduct not described in the charges to which your client is pleading guilty. 

The parties also reserve the right to inform the presentence report writer and the Court of 
any relevant facts, to dispute any factual inaccuracies in the presentence report, and to contest 
any matters not provided for in this Agreement. In the event that the Court considers any 
Sentencing Guidelines adjustments, departures, or calculations different from any agreements 
contained in this Agreement, or contemplates a sentence outside the Guidelines range based upon 
the general sentencing factors listed in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), the parties reserve the right to 
answer any related inquiries from the Court. In addition, if in this Agreement the parties have 
agreed to recommend or refrain from recommending to the Court a particular resolution ofany 
sentencing issue, the parties reserve the right to full allocution in any post-sentence litigation. 
The parties retain the full right of allocution in connection with any post-sentence motion which 
may be filed in this matter and/or any proceeding(s) before the Bureau of Prisons. In addition, 
your client acknowledges that the Government is not obligated and currently does not intend to 
file any post-sentence downward departure motion in this case pursuant to Rule 35(b) of the 
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

7. Court Not Bound by this Agreement or the Sentencing Guidelines 

Your client understands that the sentence in this case will be imposed in accordance with 
18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), upon consideration of the Sentencing Guidelines. Your client further 
understands that the sentence to be imposed is a matter solely within the discretion ofthe Court. 
Your client acknowledges that the Court is not obligated to follow any recommendation ofthe 
Government at the time ofsentencing or to grant a downward departure based on your client's 
substantial assistance to the Government, even ifthe Government files a motion pursuant to 
Section 5Kl.l ofthe Sentencing Guidelines. Your client understands that neither the 
Government's recommendation nor the Sentencing Guidelines are binding on the Court. 

Your client acknowledges that your client's entry of a guilty plea to the charged offense 
authorizes the Court to impose any sentence, up to and including the statutory maximum 
sentence, which may be greater than the applicable Guidelines range. The Government cannot, 
and does not, make any promise or representation as to what sentence your client will receive. 
Moreover, it is understood that your client will have no right to withdraw your client's plea of 
guilty should the Court impose a sentence that is outside the Guidelines range or ifthe Court 
does not follow the Government's sentencing recommendation. The Government and your client 
will be bound by this Agreement, regardless of the sentence imposed by the Court. Any effort 
by your client to withdraw the guilty plea because of the length ofthe sentence shall constitute a 
breach ofthis Agreement. 
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8. Cooperation 

Your client agrees to cooperate with this Office on the following terms and conditions: 

(a) Your client shall cooperate fully, truthfully, completely, and forthrightly with this 
Office and other Federal, state, and local Jaw enforcement authorities identified by this Office in 
any and all matters as to which this Office deems the cooperation relevant. Your client 
acknowledges that your client's cooperation may include, but will not necessarily be limited to: 
answering questions; providing sworn written statements; talcing government-administered 
polygraph examination(s); and participating in covert law enforcement activities. Any refusal by 
your client to cooperate fully, truthfully, completely, and forthrightly as directed by this Office 
and other Federal, state, and local law enforcement authorities identified by this Office in any 
and all matters in which this Office deems your client's assistance relevant will constitute a 
breach of this Agreement by your client, and will relieve this Office of its obligations under this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, its obligation to inform this Court of any assistance 
your client has provided. Your client agrees, however, that such breach by your client will not 
constitute a basis for withdrawal of your client's plea of guilty or otherwise relieve your client of 
your client's obligations under this Agreement. 

(b) Your client shall promptly turn over to this Office, or other law enforcement 
authorities, or direct such law enforcement authorities to, any and all evidence of crimes about 
which your client is aware; all contraband and proceeds ofsuch crimes; and all assets traceable 
to the proceeds ofsuch crimes. Your client agrees to the forfeiture ofall assets which are 
proceeds ofcrimes or traceable to such proceeds of crimes. 

(c) Your client shall submit a full and complete accounting of all your client's 
financial assets, whether such assets are in your client's name or in the name ofa third party. 

(d) Your client acknowledges and understands that, during the course ofthe 
cooperation outlined in this Agreement, your client will be interviewed by law enforcement 
agents and/or Government attorneys. Your client waives any right to have counsel present 
during these interviews and agrees to meet with law enforcement agents and Government 
attorneys outside of the presence of counsel. If, at some future point, you or your client desire to 
have counsel present during interviews by law enforcement agents and/or Government attorneys, 
and you communicate this decision in writing to this Office, this Office will honor this request, 
and this change will have no effect on any other terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

(e) Your client shall testify fully, completely and truthfully before any and all Grand 
Juries in the District of Columbia and elsewhere, and at any and all trials ofcases or other court 
proceedings in the District of Columbia and elsewhere, at which your client's testimony may be 
deemed relevant by the Government. 

(f) Your client understands and acknowledges that nothing in this Agreement allows 
your client to commit any criminal violation of local, state or federal law during the period of 
your client's cooperation with law enforcement authorities or at any time prior to the sentencing 
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in this case. The commission ofa criminal offense during the period of your client's cooperation 
or at any time prior to sentencing will constitute a breach of this Agreement and will relieve the 
Government of all of its obligations under this Agreement, including, but not limited to, its 
obligation to inform this Court ofany assistance your client has provided. However, your client 
acknowledges and agrees that such a breach ofthis Agreement will not entitle your client to 
withdraw your client's plea ofguilty or relieve your client of the obligations under this 
Agreement 

(g) Your client agrees that the sentencing in this case may be delayed until your 
client's efforts to cooperate have been completed, as determined by the Government, so that the 
Court will have the benefit of all relevant information before a sentence is imposed. 

9. Waivers 

A. Venue 

Your client waives any challenge to venue in the District ofColumbia. 

B. Statute of Limitations 

Your client agrees that, should the conviction following your client's plea of guilty 
pursuant to this Agreement be vacated for any reason, any prosecution, based on the conduct set 
forth in the attached Statement of the Offense, that is not time-barred by the applicable statute of 
limitations on the date of the signing ofthis Agreement (including any counts that the 
Government has agreed not to prosecute or to dismiss at sentencing pursuant to this Agreement) 
may be commenced or reinstated against your client, notwithstanding the expiration of the statute 
of limitations between the signing ofthis Agreement and the commencement or reinstatement of 
such prosecution. It is the intent ofthis Agreement to waive all defenses based on the statute of 
limitations with respect to any prosecution ofconduct set forth in the attached Statement of the 
Offense that is not time-barred on the date that this Agreement is signed. 

C. Trial Rights 

Your client understands that by pleading guilty in this case your client agrees to waive 
certain rights afforded by the Constitution ofthe United States and/or by statute or rule. Your 
client agrees to forgo the right to any further discovery or disclosures of information not already 
provided at the time of the entry of your client's guilty plea. Your client also agrees to waive, 
among other rights, the right to be indicted by a Grand Jury, the right to plead not guilty, and the 
right to a jury trial. If there were a jury trial, your client would have the right to be represented 
by counsel, to confront and cross-examine witnesses against your client, to challenge the 
admissibility of evidence offered against your client, to compel witnesses to appear for the 
purpose oftestifying and presenting other evidence on your client's behalf, and to choose 
whether to testify. Ifthere were a jury trial and your client chose not to testify at that trial, your 
client would have the right to have the jury instructed that your client's failure to testify could 
not be held against your client. Your client would further have the right to have the jury 
instructed that your client is presumed innocent until proven guilty, and that the burden would be 
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on the United States to prove your client's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. If your client were 
found guilty after a trial, your client would have the right to appeal your client's conviction. 
Your client understands that the Fifth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States 
protects your client from the use of compelled self-incriminating statements in a criminal 
prosecution. By entering a plea of guilty, your client knowingly and voluntarily waives or gives 
up your client's right against compelled self-incrimination. 

Your client acknowledges discussing with you Rule l l(t) ofthe Federal Rules of 
Criminal Procedure and Rule 410 of the Federal Rules ofEvidence, which ordinarily limit the 
admissibility ofstatements made by a defendant in the course of plea discussions or plea 
proceedings if a guilty plea is later withdrawn. Your client knowingly and voluntarily waives the 
rights that arise under these rules in the event your client withdraws your client's guilty plea or 
withdraws from this Agreement after signing it. 

Your client also agrees to waive all constitutional and statutory rights to a speedy 
sentence and agrees that the plea of guilty pursuant to this Agreement will be entered at a time 
decided upon by the parties with the concurrence of the Court. Your client understands that the 
date for sentencing will be set by the Court. 

D. Appeal Rights 

Your client understands that federal law, specifically 18 U.S.C. § 3742, affords 
defendants the right to appeal their sentences in certain circumstances. Your client agrees to 
waive the right to appeal the sentence in this case, including but not limited to any term of 
imprisonment, fine, forfeiture, award of restitution, tenn or condition of supervised release, 
authority of the Court to set conditions of release, and the manner in which the sentence was 
determined, except to the extent the Court sentences your client above the statutory maximum or 
guidelines range determined by the Court or your client claims that your client received 
ineffective assistance of counsel, in which case your client would have the right to appeal the 
illegal sentence or above-guidelines sentence or raise on appeal a claim of ineffective assistance 
of counsel, but not to raise on appeal other issues regarding the sentencing. In agreeing to this 
waiver, your client is aware that your client's sentence has yet to be detennined by the Court. 
Realizing the uncertainty in estimating what sentence the Court ultimately will impose, your 
client knowingly and willingly waives your client's right to appeal the sentence, to the extent 
noted above, in exchange for the concessions made by the Government in this Agreement. 

E. Collateral Attack 

Your client also waives any right to challenge the conviction entered or sentence imposed 
under this Agreement or otherwise attempt to modify or change the sentence or the manner in 
which it was determined in any collateral attack, including, but not limited to, a motion brought 
under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 or Federal Rule ofCivil Procedure 60(b), except to the extent such a 
motion is based on newly discovered evidence or on a claim that your client received ineffective 
assistance of counsel. Your client reserves the right to file a motion brought under 18 U.S.C. 
§ 3582(c)(2), but agrees to waive the right to appeal the denial ofsuch a motion. 
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F. Privacy Act and FOIA Rights 

Your client also agrees to waive all rights, whether asserted directly or by a 
representative, to request or receive from any department or agency of the United States any 
records pertaining to the investigation or prosecution of this case, including and without 
limitation any records that may be sought under the Freedom of Infonnation Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552, 
or the Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552a, for the duration of the Special Counsel's investigation. 

10. Restitution 

Your client understands that the Court has an obligation to detennine whether, and in 
what amount, mandatory restitution applies in this case under 18 U.S.C. § 3663A. The 
Government and your client agree that mandatory restitution does not apply in this case. 

11. Breach of Agreement 

Your client understands and agrees that, if after entering this Agreement, your client fails 
specifically to perfonn or to fulfill completely each and every one of your client's obligations 
under this Agreement, or engages in any criminal activity prior to sentencing, your client will 
have breached this Agreement. In the event ofsuch a breach: (a) the Government will be free 
from its obligations under this Agreement; (b) your client will not have the right to withdraw the 
guilty plea; (c) your client will be fully subject to criminal prosecution for any other crimes, 
including perjury and obstruction ofjustice; and (d) the Government will be free to use against 
your client, directly and in~irectly, in any criminal or civil proceeding, all statements made by 
your client and any of the infonnation or materials provided by your client, including such 
statements, information, and materials provided pursuant to this Agreement or during the course 
ofany debriefings conducted in anticipation of, or after entry of, this Agreement, whether or not 
the debriefings were previously characterized as "off-the-record" debriefings, and including your 
client's statements made during proceedings before the Court pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal 
Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

Your client understands and agrees that the Government shall be required to prove a 
breach of this Agreement only by a preponderance of the evidence, except where such breach is 
based on a violation of federal, state, or local criminal law, which the Government need prove 
only by probable cause in order to establish a breach ofthis Agreement. 

Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to pennit your client to commit perjury, to 
make false statements or declarations, to obstruct justice, or to protect your client from 
prosecution for any crimes not included within this Agreement or committed by your client after 
the execution of this Agreement. Your client understands and agrees that the Government 
reserves the right to prosecute your client for any such offenses. Your client further understands 
that any perjury, false statements or declarations, or obstruction ofjustice relating to your client's 
obligations under this Agreement shall constitute a breach of this Agreement. In the event of 
such a breach, your client will not be allowed to withdraw your client's guilty plea. 
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12. Government's Obligations 

The Government will bring to the Court's attention at the time of sentencing the nature 
and extent of your client's cooperation or lack of cooperation. The Government will evaluate the 
full nature and extent of your client's cooperation to detennine whether your client has provided 
substantial assistance in the investigation or prosecution ofanother person who has committed an 
offense. Ifthe Government determines that your client has provided such substantial assistance, 
this Office shall file a departure motion pursuant to Section 5Kl.1 ofthe Sentencing Guidelines, 
which would afford your client an opportunity to persuade the Court that your client should be 
sentenced to a lesser period of incarceration and/or fine than indicated by the Sentencing 
Guidelines. The determination of whether your client has provided substantial assistance 
warranting the filing of a motion pursuant to Section 5Kl. l of the Sentencing Guidelines is 
within the sole discretion ofthe Government and is not reviewable by the Court. In the event 
your client should fail to perform specifically and fulfill completely each and every one of your 
client's obligations under this Agreement, the Government will be free from its obligations under 
this Agreement, and will have no obligation to present your client's case to the Departure 
Guideline Committee or file a departure motion pursuant to Section SKI .I of the Sentencing 
Guidelines. 

13. Complete Agreement 

No agreements, promises, understandings, or representations have been made by the 
parties or their counsel other than those contained in writing herein, nor will any such 
agreements, promises, understandings, or representations be made unless committed to writing 
and signed by your client, defense counsel, and the Special Counsel's Office. 

Your client further understands that this Agreement is binding only upon the Special 
Counsel's Office. This Agreement does not bind any other United States Attorney's Office, nor 
does it bind any other state, local, or federal prosecutor. It also does not bar or compromise any 
civil, tax, or administrative claim pending or that may be made against your client. 

If the foregoing terms and conditions are satisfactory, your client may so indicate by 
signing this Agreement and the Statement of the Offense, and returning both to me no later than 
November 30, 2017. 

Sincerely yours, 

ROBERT S. MUELLER, III

iici&By: 
radon L. Van Grack 

Zainab N. Ahmad 
Senior Assistant Special Counsels 
The Special Counsel's Office 
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DEFENDANT'S ACCEPTANCE 

I have read every page of this Agreement and have discussed it with my attorneys, Robert 
K. KeIner and Stephen P. Anthony. I fully understand this Agreement and agree to it without 
reservation. I do this voluntarily and ofmy own free will, intending to be legally bound. No 
threats have been made to me nor am I under the influence ofanything that could impede my 
ability to understand this Agreement fully . .I am pleading guilty because I am in fact guilty of the 
offense identified in this Agreement. 

I reaffirm that absolutely no promises, agreements, understandings, or conditions have 
been made or entered into in connection with my decision to plead guilty except those set forth 
in this Agreement. [ am satisfied with the legal services provided by my attorneys in connection 
with this Agreement and matters related to it. 

Date: II { '!.o} IT 
I 

ATIORNEYS'ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

I have read every page ofthis Agreement, reviewed this Agreement with my client, 
Lieutenant General Michael T. Flynn (Ret.), and fully discussed the provisions of this Agreement 
with my client. These pages accurately and completely set forth the entire Agreement. I concur 
in my client's desire to plead guilty as set forth in this Agreement. 

Robert K. Kelner 
Attorney for Defendant ~ 

~9 l_ (?
~P~nthony 7 
Attorney for Defendant 
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8QLWHG  6WDWHV  Y  5DILHNLDQ  
5  .HOQHU    'LUHFW  

  

  $  ,  GRQ W  UHFDOO  WKDW  KH  GLG  

  4  3OHDVH  WDNH  D  ORRN  DW  *RYHUQPHQW  ([KLELW    ZKLFK  LV  

  DQRWKHU  GRFXPHQW  WKDW  ZDV  SDUW  RI  ),* V  )$5$  ILOLQJ  

  $  2ND\  

  4  2Q  SDJH    DQG  HQWU\  1R    FDQ  \RX  SOHDVH  UHDG  RXW  ORXG  

  ZKDW V  ZULWWHQ  LQ  WKH  EHJLQQLQJ  ZLWK  2Q  KLV  RZQ  LQLWLDWLYH"  

  $  2ND\  

  4  &RXOG  \RX  UHDG  WKDW  RXW  ORXG  VLU  

  $  , P  VRUU\  

  2Q  KLV  RZQ  LQLWLDWLYH  0LFKDHO  7  )O\QQ  SXEOLVKHG  DQ  

  RSHG  LQ  7KH  +L   RQ  1RYHPEHU      WKDW  UHODWHG  WR  WKH  VDPH  

  VXEMHFW  PDWWHUV  DV  WKH  )O\QQ  ,QWHO  *URXS ZRUN  IRU  ,QRYR  %9  

  1HLWKHU  ,QRYR  %9  QRU  DQ\  RWKHU  SHUVRQ  UHTXHVWHG  RU  GLUHFWHG  

  SXEOLFDWLRQ  RI  WKH  RSHG   

  4  'RHV  WKDW  UHIOHFW  ZKDW  WKH  GHIHQGDQW  WROG  \RX"  

  $  , P  VRUU\  &RXOG  \RX  SXW  WKDW  EDFN  XS RQ  WKH  VFUHHQ"  

  4  6XUH  

  $  7KH  ZKROH  TXRWH  

  3DUWO\  LW  UHIOHFWV  ZKDW  KH  WROG  XV  LQ  WKDW  LW  

  UHIOHFWV  WKDW  *HQHUDO  )O\QQ  SXEOLVKHG  WKH  RSHG  RQ  KLV  RZQ  

  LQLWLDWLYH  DQG  WKDW  WKH\  ZHUH  QRW  UHTXHVWHG  WR  GR  VR  E\  DQ\  

  RWKHU  SHUVRQ  

  ,  ZRXOG  VD\  WKDW  WKH  FODXVH  WKDW  VD\V  WKDW  WKH  RSHG  

  UHODWHG  WR  WKH  VDPH  VXEMHFW  PDWWHU  DV  WKH  )O\QQ  ,QWHO  *URXS  

  ZRUNHG  IRU  ,QRYR  %9  ZDV  VRPHWKLQJ  WKDW    WKDW  ZH  DGGHG  

7RQLD 0  +DUULV  2&586'&('9$    

($67(51  ',675,&7  2)  9,5*,1,$  
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8QLWHG  6WDWHV  Y  5DILHNLDQ  

($67(51  ',675,&7  2)  9,5*,1,$  

0  +DUULV  2&586'&('9$    

  

OO  LQ  -DQXDU\    LQ  -DQXDU\  RI    UHFHLYLQJ  

LOV  IURP  *HQHUDO  )O\QQ  .ULVWHQ  9HUGHUDPH  

W  ZHUH  WHQ  SDUWLFXODUO\  LPSRUWDQW  HPDLOV"  

OO  ZKHWKHU  ,  UHFHLYHG  HPDLOV  ,  GR  UHFDOO  

W  &RYLQJWRQ  DQG  .ULVWHQ  9HUGHUDPH  UHFHLYHG  D  

LOV  IURP  0U  5DILHNLDQ V  FXVWRGLDO  ILOH  DQG  IURP  

  ZRXOG  D SLHFH  RI  FRUUHVSRQGHQFH  IURP  \RXU  ILUP  

UHIUHVK  \RXU  UHFROOHFWLRQ  DV  WR  ZKDW  \RX  UHFHLYHG"  

$  ,W  PLJKW  

05  0$&'28*$//  2ND\  <RXU  +RQRU  ZLWK  SHUPLVVLRQ  

,  ZRXOG  OLNH  WKH  ZLWQHVV  WR  KDYH  D ORRN  DW  ([KLELW      

'HIHQVH  ([KLELW    IRU  LGHQWLILFDWLRQ  

7+(  &2857  6KRZ  WKDW  WR  KLP  ,  KDYH  D FRS\  

$  SDXVH  LQ  WKH  SURFHHGLQJV   

%<  05  0$&'28*$//  

4  'RHV  WKDW  UHIUHVK  \RXU  UHFROOHFWLRQ  0U  .HOQHU"  

$  -XVW  JLYH  PH  D VHFRQG  WR  UHDG  LW  SOHDVH  7KDQN  \RX  

4  6XUH  

$  SDXVH  LQ  WKH  SURFHHGLQJV   

7+(  :,71(66  ,W  GRHVQ W  UHDOO\  FKDQJH  P\  

UHFROOHFWLRQ  ZKLFK  LV  WKDW  RXU  WHDP  DW  &RYLQJWRQ  DQG  .ULVWHQ  

9HUGHUDPH  UHFHLYHG  FHUWDLQ  HPDLOV  HDUO\  RQ  IURP  

0U  5DILHNLDQ V  FXVWRGLDO  ILOHV  DQG  SUREDEO\  RWKHUV  DV  ZHOO  

0421

5  .HOQHU    &URVV  

  %<  05  0$&'28*$//  

  4  'R  \RX  UHFD  

  D SD  JH  RI  HPD  FND  

  DQG  0LFKDHO  WKD  

  $  ,  GRQ W  UHFD  

  WKD  P DW  RXU  WHD  

  VHW  RI  HPD  

  RWKHUV  

  4  :RXOG  D  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
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8QLWHG  6WDWHV  Y  5DILHNLDQ  
5  .HOQHU    &URVV  

  

  ,  GRQ W  NQRZ  WKDW  WKRVH  ZHQW  GLUHFWO\  WR  PH  ZKLFK  LV  ZK\  P\  

  UHFROOHFWLRQ  LV  D OLWWOH  ELW  IX]]\  RQ  WKH  GHWDLOV  

  05  0$&'28*$//  <RXU  +RQRU  WKH  DWWDFKPHQWV  ,  

  EHOLHYH  DUH  ORDGHG  LQ  WKH  V\VWHP  DQG  WKH  &RXUW  KDV  FRSLHV  RI  

  WKHP  DV  ZHOO  DV  WKH  JRYHUQPHQW  ,I  ,  FRXOG  DVN    DQG  , OO  

  GR  WKLV  TXLFNO\    0U  .HOQHU  WR  MXVW  KDYH  D ORRN  DW  HDFK  RI  

  WKRVH  HPDLOV  DQG  FRQILUP  WKHP"  

  7+(  &2857  $OO  ULJKW  'R  ZH  KDYH  WKRVH"  <RX  ZDQW  

  WR  LGHQWLI\  WKHP"  

  %<  05  0$&'28*$//  

  4  7KH\ OO  EH  RQ  \RXU  VFUHHQ  0U  .HOQHU  

  6R  ,  ZRXOG  OLNH  \RX  WR  ORRN  TXLFNO\  DW  'HIHQVH  

  ([KLELW  $  ZKLFK  , OO  UHSUHVHQW  WR  \RX  ZDV  DWWDFKHG  WR  WKH  

  HPDLO  IURP  0V  /DQJGRQ  'LG  \RX  KDYH  WKDW  HPDLO"  

  $  6RUU\  

  7+(  &2857  ,W  VKRXOG  EH  WDNHQ  GRZQ  ,W V  QRW  LQ  

  HYLGHQFH  

  05  0$&'28*$//  <HV  LW  VKRXOG  EH  WDNHQ  GRZQ  \HV  

  VLU  ,W  VKRXOG  EH  RQ  WKH  ZLWQHVV    

  7+(  &62  &RXQVHORU  LW  RQO\  FRPHV  XS  ZLWK  

  HYHU\WKLQJ  DW  RQH  WLPH  

  05  0$&'28*$//  2K  

  7+(  &2857  &DQ  \RX  SURYLGH  KDUG  FRSLHV  WR  KLP"  

  05  0$&'28*$//  ,  FDQ  <HV  <RXU  +RQRU  

  7+(  &2857  $OO  ULJKW  
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8QLWHG  6WDWHV  Y  5DILHNLDQ  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

5  .HOQHU    &URVV  
  

7+(  :,71(66  7KDQN  \RX  

%<  05  0$&'28*$//  

4  6R  0U  .HOQHU  , P  MXVW  JRLQJ  WR  JR  WKURXJK  WKHVH  YHU\  

TXLFNO\  7KHUH V    RI  WKHP  'HIHQVH  ([KLELW  $  GR  \RX  

UHFRJQL]H  WKDW  DV  VRPHWKLQJ  \RX  KDG"  

$  8KP  ,  GRQ W  TXHVWLRQ  WKD  G  LW  EXW  , P  QRW  VXUH  ,W  ZH  KD  

UHPHPEHU  KDYLQJ  LW  

4  2ND  <RX  GRQ W  VSHFLILFD  \  OO\  UHPHPEHU"  

$  1R  

4  /HW V  JR  WR  %  LO  GD  (PD  WHG  -XO\      

$  2ND\  

4  'R  \RX  UHPHPEHU  KD  W"  YLQJ  WKD  

$  ,  KD  ,  GRQ W  UHFD  LQHG  YH  VHHQ  WKLV  EHIRUH  OO  ZKHQ  ZH  REWD  

LW  

4  2ND\  &  SOHDVH  

$  ,  ZRXOG  VD  PH  WKLQJ  \  WKH  VD  

GRQ W  UHFDOO  ZKHQ  ZH  REWDLQHG  LW  

4  2ND\  '  

,  KDYH  VHHQ  WKLV  EHIRUH  ,  

$  ,  KDYH  VHHQ  WKLV  EHIRUH  DQG  ,  GR  UHFDOO  WKLV  LV  RQH  RI  

WKH  RQHV  WKD  LQHG  ,  EHOLHYH  LQ  WKD  O  VHW  RI  W  ZH  REWD  W  LQLWLD  

HPDLOV  

4  (  

$  ,  GRQ W  UHPHPEHU  WKLV  RQH  DV  FOHDUO\  

4  'R  \RX  TXHVWLRQ  WKD  V  LQFOXGHG"  W  LW  ZD  

$  ,  GRQ W  TXHVWLRQ  LW  EXW  ,  GRQ W  DFWXDOO\  UHPHPEHU  
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8QLWHG  6WDWHV  Y  5DILHNLDQ  
5  .HOQHU    &URVV  

  

  4  )  

  7KHUH  DUH  PXOWLSOH  FRSLHV  LQ  HDFK  IROGHU  VR  

  $  ,  VHH  2ND\  

  , YH  VHHQ  WKLV  EHIRUH  EXW  ,  GRQ W  UHFDOO  H[DFWO\  

  ZKHQ  

  4  *  

  $  , YH  VHHQ  WKLV  DQG  WKLV  LV  RQH  RI  WKH  RQHV  WKDW  ZH  

  REWDLQHG  YHU\  HDUO\  RQ  

  4  $QG  ,  WDNH  LW  WKH  SULRU  RQH  \RX  GRQ W  GLVSXWH  \RX  

  REWDLQHG  WKHP  HDUO\  RQ  \RX  MXVW  GRQ W  UHFDOO  DV  \RX UH  

  VLWWLQJ  KHUH  WRGD\"  

  $  7KDW V  FRUUHFW  

  4  +  SOHDVH  

  $  ,  UHFDOO  WKLV  RQH  

  4  ,  $  FRXSOH  PRUH  

  $  ,W V  YDJXHO\  IDPLOLDU  EXW  , P  QRW  VXUH  

  4  'HIHQVH  ([KLELW  -  

  $  ,  GR  UHFDOO  VHHLQJ  WKLV  EHIRUH  

  4  .  7ZR  PRUH  

  $  , P  QRW  FHUWDLQ  

  4  <RX  GRQ W  GLVSXWH  LW  WKRXJK"  

  $  ,  GRQ W  GLVSXWH  LW  EXW  ,  GRQ W  SDUWLFXODUO\  UHPHPEHU  

  WKLV  RQH  

  4  /  

  $  ,  UHFDOO  WKLV  RQH  
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8QLWHG  6WDWHV  Y  5DILHNLDQ  
5  .HOQHU    &URVV  

  

  4  <RX  GR  $QG  0  

  $  8KP  ,  GRQ W  FOHDUO\  UHFDOO  WKLV  RQH  

  4  6R  UHDFKLQJ  WKH  OHDVW  FRPPRQ  GHQRPLQDWRU  VXEMHFW  WKH  

  OLPLWDWLRQV  \RX  SODFH  RQ  HDFK  RI  WKHVH  \RX  GRQ W  GLVSXWH  DV  

  UHIOHFWHG  LQ  WKH  OHQJWK  RI  WKLV  HPDLO  WKDW  \RX  KDG  DOO  RI  

  WKHVH  LQ  -DQXDU\"  

  $  ,  GRQ W  GLVSXWH  EXW  , P  QRW    ,  GRQ W  KDYH  D FHUWDLQ  

  UHFROOHFWLRQ  RI  LW  

  4  ,  ZRXOG  OLNH  \RX  WR  WXUQ  SOHDVH  WR  'HIHQVH  ([KLELW    

  DQG  ZKLFK  ,  EHOLHYH  LV  LQ  HYLGHQFH  :H  ORRNHG  DW  WKDW  

  HDUOLHU  

  $  2ND\  

  4  <RX  DUH  D OLFHQVHG  WR  SUDFWLFH  ODZ  LQ  WKH  'LVWULFW  RI  

  &ROXPELD"  

  $  'LVWULFW  RI  &ROXPELD DQG  0DU\ODQG  

  4  $QG  \RXU  RIILFH  LV  LQ  WKH  'LVWULFW  RI  &ROXPELD WKDW V  

  \RXU  SULQFLSDO  SODFH  RI  SUDFWLFH  LV  WKDW  ULJKW"  

  $  <HV  

  4  -XVW  OLNH  PH"  

  $  <HV  

  4  $QG  DV  VXFK  \RX  DUH  VXEMHFW  WR  WKH  ' &  &RGH  RI  

  3URIHVVLRQDO  5HVSRQVLELOLW\"  

  $  <HV  

  4  $QG  WKDW V  UHDOO\  LPSRUWDQW  EHFDXVH  WKDW V  WKH  ODZ  WKDW  

  JRYHUQV  DOO  RI  XV  ODZ\HUV"  
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  &(57,),&$7(  2)  5(3257(5  

  

  ,  7RQLD +DUULV  DQ  2IILFLDO  &RXUW  5HSRUWHU  IRU  

  WKH  (DVWHUQ  'LVWULFW  RI  9LUJLQLD  W  ,  GR  KHUHE\  FHUWLI\  WKD  

  UHSRUWHG  E\  PDFKLQH  VKRUWKD  O  FD FLW\  WKH  QG  LQ  P\  RIILFLD  SD  

  SURFHHGLQJV  KDG  D  GGXFHG  XSRQ  WKH  -XU\  WULD  QG  WHVWLPRQ\  D  O  

  LQ  WKH  FDVH  RI  WKH  81,7('  67$7(6  2)  $0(5,&$  YHUVXV  %,-$1  

  5$),(.,$1  &ULPLQDO  $FWLRQ  1R   &5  LQ  VDLG  FRXUW  

  RQ  WKH  WK  GD\  RI  -XO\    

  ,  IXUWKHU  FHUWLI\  WKDW  WKH  IRUHJRLQJ    SDJHV  

  FRQVWLWXWH  WKH  RIILFLD  QVFULSW  RI  VD  VO  WUD  LG  SURFHHGLQJV  D  

  WDNHQ  IURP  P\  PD  QG  QRWHV  P\  FRPSXWHU  UHD  FKLQH  VKRUWKD  OWLPH  

  GLVSOD\  WRJHWKHU  ZLWK  WKH  ED  SH  UHFRUGLQJ  RI  VD  FNXS  WD  LG  

  SURFHHGLQJV  WR  WKH  EHVW  RI  P\  DELOLW\  

  ,Q  ZLWQHVV  ZKHUHRI  ,  KDYH  KHUHWR  VXEVFULEHG  P\  

  QDPH  WKLV  -XO\      

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
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Request 

From: "Langton, Alexandra" <alangton@cov.com> 
To: 

Cc: 

zulutym@mailsol.net, Michael Rynn <mgflynn83@gmail.com>, "Kristen Neller Verderame 
(kverderame@ponderaintemational.com)" < kverderame@ponderaintemational.com> 
"Kelner, Robert" <rkelner@cov.com>, "Anthony, Stephen" <santhony@cov.rom>, 
"Smith, Brian" <bdsmith@cov.com>, flynnlmmm@mailsol.net 

Date: Wf!IJ, 26 Apr 2017 16:33:22 -0400 
Attachments: Key Docs.zip (640.84 kB); 2017-01-02 Packet of E-mails.pdf (9.27 MB) 

Privileged and Confidential 
Attorney Wo.rk Product 
Attomey-Oient Communication 

General Flynn, Kristen, and Michael, 

We have a time-sensitive request that we hope you can help us with. 

In January, you gave us a.pdf packet of e-mails (attached for your reference}. I have separately 
included 10 of these e-mails in the zipped folder attached. We need to get .msg versions of these 10 
e-mails that are not encrypted (basically an original copy from Gen. Flynn's mailbox). Could you 
please assist us in getting these .msg copies as soon as possible (and hopefully not later than 
tomorrow afternoon)? 

We're happy to discuss in more detail or answer any questions. 

Best, 

Alexandra Langton* 

Covington & Burling LLP 
One CityCenter, 850 Tenth Street, NW 
Washington, OC 20001-4956 
T +1202662 5915 J alangton@cov.com 
www.cov.com 

COVINGTON 
This message is from a law firm and may contain information that is confidential or legally privileged. If you are not the 
intended recipient, please immediately advise the sender by reply e-mail that this message has been inadvertently transmitted to 
you and delete this e-mail from your system. Thank you for your cooperation. 

*Member of the Maryland Bar. District of Columbia bar application is pending; supervised by principals of the F"mn. 
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SECURE READER 

Subject: Re: Truth 
From: klan@flynnintelgroup.com 
To: ekimalptekin@gmail.com & flynn@flynnintelgroup.com 
Date: Thursday, Aug 4, 2016 - 11:22am 

Thank you Ekim. 

I echo General Flynn's sentiment on the significance of unlocking the facts. It is sometimes natural for 
complex situations to turn into a Rorschach test of a giant ink blot. Precision investigative work takes off 
the masks layer by layer until the real picture can emerge from the masked ink blot. Time plays a key 
factor in such precision work. The longer the time distance between an event and active start of a Special 
Investigation, the lesser the effect of revealing the "truth". The main event becomes "old news" and the 
findings less relevant 

Let me give you a real life experience: 1978: A soft spoken cleric sitting under an apple tree in Neauphle­
le-Chateau in France looked so harmless. Spoke of equality and spir ituality, declared that if he were to 
gain power, he will go to a rel igious shrine and will not get into politics and governance. 

Sounds familiar? 

Well, the world neglected to take the layers off the ink blot in 1978. One year later, from the place under 
the apple tree, The soft spoken spiritual man led the Islamic Revolution in Iran and turned the clock back 
1400 years. An ancient country and culture was turned into a Pariah State that Iran is today. 

37 years later, "truth" ls being revealed page by page, story by story of "what" and "who" helped out the 
monster dressed as the soft spoken spiritual man. No matter how piercing the facts, too much time has 
passed. The world has changed. In this information age, we don't need to wait 37 years. 37 minutes can 
change the world. 

The world needs a strong leader with credibility in the Islamic faith to shape a new understanding of the 
religion and its place in the hearts of the Muslims. The weapon of choice in the Age of Information is the 
"word" and not the "sword". 

General Flynn and I will return with more thoughts shortly. Looking forward to working together on this 
important engagement. We are arranging key pieces needed for operationalizing our plan. 

All the best 

Bijan 

Hon. Bijan R. Kian 
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 
Flynn Intel Group, Inc. Reply 
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SECURE READER 

Subject Re: Truth 
From: ekimalptekin@gmail.com 
To: flynn@flynnlntelgroup.com & kian@flynnintelgroup.com 
Dare: Monday. Aug 8, 2016 - 12:36pm 

Vlrtl\l Er\c,ypted Messago 

Dear Bijan, General Flynn, 

I had a long meeting with the Minister of Economy upon the referral of MFA Cavusoglu. I explained what 
we can offer. He agreed to discuss in general lines at the council of ministers today and subsequently with 
PM Yild irim in more detail. 

I will get back to you shortly. 

Best regards, 

Ekim 

Sent from Virtru (http://www.virtru.com) for iPhone 

On 4 Agu 2016 18:22, Bijan Kian <kian@flynnintelgroup.com (mailto:<kian@flynnintelgroup.com)> wrote: 

This is a secure email 

Enter your reply here. 

Reply 
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' S!;:CURE READER 

SUbject Re; Truth 
From: eklma1ptekin~gmail.com 
To; flynn@flynnintelgroup.com & kian@flynnintelgroup.com 
Date; ,Thursday, Aug.4;-2016. 5,11 am 

•Vitln.l l:nc,w:ita.:J·M$~ 

Dear Bijo1h, General Flynn, 

Rrst off, I took forward to meeting in person and th rilled at the prospect ofworking together" 

TMnk you forthe eloquent outHne. 1met wJth the MFA and e~lained our proposed approach. He is 
receptive and indicated he would Uke to meet with us during his upcomlng vi'sIt to DC. 

As soon as the visit dates are scheduled and confirmed, I will informyou and we can strategize how best 
to approach the meeting. 

PS1 : Sec. Kerry appears to bevisitfngTR onAugust 21. Dowe know anyone in nis team?· 

PS2: This article shows the depth ofthe crisis we are facing: http://nytt ms/2avkkES 

(http://nyti.ms/2avkkES) 

Warm regards. 

Ekim A1ptel<in 

Sent from Virt;ru (http://www.virtru~com) for iPhone 

On 30 Tern 2016 20:32, Bijan Kian <klan@ftynn:intelgroup.com (mailto:<kian@f[ynnintelgroup.com}> 
wrote: 

This is a secure email 

Reply ReplyAtl 
EnterV<:ltir renlyhere 
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SECURE READER 

Subject: Re: Truth 
From: ekimalptekin@gmail.com 
To: flynn@flynnintelgroup.com & klan@flynnintelgroup.com 
Date: Wednesday, Aug 10, 2016 - 2:55pm 

Vtrtru Encrypted Mossage 

Gentlemen - I just finished in Ankara after several meetings today with Min of Economy Zeybekci and MFA 
Cavusoglu. 

I have a green light to discuss confidentiality, budget and the scope of the contract. 

I am flying to LA tomorrow at the request of MFA with ETA 13:35. Can we talk some time early evening EDT 
tomorrow? 

Best regards, 

Ekim Alptekin 

Sent from Virtru (http://www.virtru.com) for iPhone 

On 8 Agu 2016 21 :44, Bijan Kian <kian@flynnintelgroup.com (mailto:<kian@flynnintelgroup.com)> wrote: 

This is a secure email 

Enter your reply here 

Reply 
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SECURE READER 

Subject: Action update 
From: bijankian@gmail.com 
To: ekimalptekin@gmall.com & flynn@flynnintelgroup.com 
Date: Thursday, Aug 25, 2016 - 1 :1 Spm 

Virtru Enciypted MOISSage 

Ekim: 

Thank you for informing us of your decision to engage Flynn Intel Group on 
Operation "CONFIDENCE". 

We appreciate the opportunity to work with you on this important engagement 

General Flynn and I have activated our "FIG LAB", placed our principal team 
members in formation and engaged the film crew in preparation for launching this 
engagement. 

General Flynn has decided to lead this engagement personally. 

We are targeting the following schedule of actions: 

Send draft engagement letter between your company in the Netherlands and Flynn 
Intel Group (Please send us the full legal name of your Dutch entity and address). We 
will send you our draft engagement letter by no later than Sunday August 28, 2016. 
The brief engagement agreement will not entail operational details for obvious 
reasons. 

Finalize the allocation of cost for Sphere ($SOK or $30K per month for 3 months) and 
let us know at your earliest convenience so that we can prepare the engagement 
letter accordingly. 

Along with the draft engagement agreement, we will issue an invoice for the first 
month in the amount of $1 SOK or $200K (depending on the allocation for Sphere) 
payable at the execution of the engagement letter (target execution/launch date of 
September 1, 2016). 

on this engagement and have allocated 20% of $1 SOK per month as the advisory 
support cost provi~by your firm. As we agreed, if you deci~~~Qlocate $SOK for 
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LTG R Miko Flynn <flynn@flynnlntelgroup.com> 

Advisory Agreement (General Scope) for Ekim Alptekin 
3 messages 

Bijan Kian <kian@Oynnintelgroup.com> 
To: Michael Flynn <flynn@flynnintelgroup.com> 
Cc. Michael Flynn <mgf@flynnintelgroup.com> 

Mike: 

Mon, Sep 12. 2016 at 4:32 PM 

Attached to this email, please find a general scope advisory agreement for Ekim Alptekin. The agreement is composed in 
a way that is not specific so that it can be operationalized with task orders We need this to aeate an aucfrt trail on 
properly documenting the relationship. 

Please review, make any changes you see necessary, sign and return to me and Michael. 

All the best 

Bijan 

Hon. Bijan R. Kian 
Vice Chairman of the Boord of Directors 
Flynn Intel Group, Inc. 

703-313-7040 (office) 
858-449-8997 (mobile) 
k1an@flynnintetcrou;> com 

~ fLYNN ,.m GRou, '"' 

Notice of Confidentiality 
The information contained 1n this communication is intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom it is 
addressed and others authorized to receive it. It may contain confidential or legally privileged information. If you are not the 
intended recipient you are hereby notified that any disclosure. copying, distribution or taking any action in reliance on 
the contents of this information is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. If you have received this communication in error, 
please notify us immediately by responding to this email and then delete it from your system. 

~ Ekim Advisory Agraement BK 9122016.docx _,. 
132K 

LTG R Mike Flynn <flynn@Oynnintelgroup.com> 
To: Bijan Klan <kian@flynnintelgroup.com> 
Cc· Michael Flynn <mgf@flynnintelgroup.com> 
Boe: Oynn@flynnintelgroup.com 

I'll have it back this evening. Thanks. 

Mike 

NEW YORK TIMES BESTSELLER 
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Subject: 
From: 
To: 
Date: 

Michael: 

SECURE READER 

Wire Transfer to INOVO BV 
bijankian@gmail.com E:)'l.1 fV' 

mgf@flynnintelgroup.com (+3) ......-"' ~'1 "~ 
Tuesday, Oct 11, 2016 • 7:37pm 

Virtn, Enctypted Mossogo 

Please initiate and execute a wire transfer in the amount of $40,000 (Forty Thousand dollars) From Flynn 
Intel Group, Inc. account to the order of INOVO as soon as Mr. Alptekin sends us an invoice for consulting 
services that he is providing to FIG on the Confidence project. 

I am copying Mr. Alptekin on this email with a request for his kind action on sending us the invoice. 

Thank you, 

BK 

Hon. Bijan R. Klan 
Vice Chairman of the Boord of Directors 
Flynn Intel Group, Inc. 

703-313-7040 (office) 

858·449-8997 (mobile) 
kian@flynnintelgroup.com (mailto:kian@flynnintelgroup.com) 

Notice of confidentiality 
The information contained in this communication is intenided solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom it is 
addressed and others authorized to receive it. It may contain confidential or legally privileged information. If you are 
not the intended recipient you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying. distribution or taking any action in 
reliance on the contents of this information is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. If you have received 
this communication in error, please notify us immediately by responding to this email and then delete it from 
your system. 

Enter your reply here 
Reply 
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Subject 
From: 
To: 
Date: 

Michael: 

Fwd: lnivo 
bijankian@gmail.com 

mgf@flynnintelgroup.com (+2) -­
Friday. Oct 14. 2016 - 9:50am 

I SECURE REAOER 

(' \ '/ l'"I"' 

<..K;""' 
Virtru Encryptod M8S&age 

The attached forwarded lnvoice is approved as presented. Please initiate and execute a wire transfer 
today. 

Thank you, 

BK 

Hon. Bijan R. Kian 
Vice Chairman of the Boord of Directors 
Flynn Intel Group, Inc. 

703-313-7040 (office) 
858-449-6997 (mobile) 
kian~flynnintelgroup.com (mailto:kian@flynnintelgroup.com) 

it ~/\-\-rt'1 flYNN INTfl CROUP INC I\\,~ . \ ""-l:7 \ G-
~ c-~~ i '-\r:: ~ ¾ 

Notice of confidentiality ~ 
The information contained in this communication is intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom it is 
addressed and others authorized to receive it. It may contain confidential or legally privileged information. If you are 
not the intended recipient you are hereby notified that any disclosure. copying, distribution or taking any action in 
rellance on the contents of this information is strictly proh ibited and may be unlawful. If you have received 
this communication in error. please notify us immediately by responding to this email and then delete it from 
your system. 

------ Forwarded message ------
From: Bijan Klan <bijankian@gmail.com (mailto:<bijankian@gmail.com)> 
Date: Fri, Oct 14, 2016 at 8:02 AM 
Subject: lnivo 
To: Bijan Kian <bijankian@gmail.com (mailto:<bijankian@gmail.com)> 

Reply 
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COVINGTON 
BEIJING BRUSSELS LONDON LOS ANGELES 

NEW YORK SAN FRANCISCO SEOUL 

SHANGHAI SILICON VALLEY WASHINGTON 

VIAE-MAIL 

Ms. Heather Hunt 
FARA Registration Unit 
U.S. Department of Justice 
600 E Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20004 

Re: Flynn Intel Group Registration 

Dear Ms. Hunt: 

Robert K. Kelner 

Covington & Burling LLP 
One CityCenter 
850 Tenth Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20001-4956 
T + 1 202 662 5503 
rkelner@cov.com 

March 7, 2017 

We write on behalf of our clients Flynn Intel Group and its Chairman and CEO, General 
Michael T. Flynn, to submit a Foreign Agents Registration Act ("FARA") registration and 
supplemental disclosure statement, in connection with Flynn Intel Group's previously disclosed 
representation of Inovo BV, a corporation organized in the Netherlands. 

In September 2016, Flynn Intel Group publicly disclosed its representation oflnovo BV 
in a federal Lobbying Disclosure Act ("LDA") registration that was filed with the Secretary of the 
Senate and Clerk of the House. After General Flynn was named in mid-November 2016 to serve 
as National Security Advisor in the new administration, Flynn Intel Group shut down its 
operations, did not renew its contract with Inovo BV, and filed, on December 1, 2016, a final 
public disclosure report terminating its lobbyist registration for Inovo BV. 

As you know, under FARA, a U.S. firm that represents a foreign corporate client, which is 
not a foreign government or political party, may register under the LDA rather than FARA, so 
long as the firm engages in lobbying activities for its client. Flynn Intel Group concluded that 
because its client was a foreign corporation and the services provided included lobbying 
activities, it could file under the LDA. 

The Department's regulations provide that filing under the LDA is not an option, 
however, if a foreign government, even though not the client, nonetheless is the "principal 
beneficiary" of the work performed. This is an uncertain standard, not based on the statutory 
language, and not defined in the Department's regulations. Nevertheless, because of the subject 
matter of Flynn Intel Group's work for Inovo BV, which focused on Mr. Fethullah Gulen, whose 
extradition is sought by the Government of Turkey, the engagement could be construed to have 
principally benefitted the Republic of Turkey. To eliminate any potential doubt, the Flynn Intel 
Group therefore is electing to file a registration under FARA, in lieu of its prior LDA registration. 

Because this is a retroactive registration, compiled after the Flynn Intel Group shut down 
its operations in November 2016, the enclosed supplemental disclosure statement is based on 
information that is currently available to Flynn Intel Group, to the best of its knowledge, after 

DC: 6370276-1 
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Ms. Heather Hunt 
March 7, 2017 
Page2 

undertaking reasonable due diligence with the assistance of counsel. If additional material 
information relevant to the supplemental statement is identified, Flynn Intel Group will amend 
the statement. 

Please note that insofar as Flynn Intel Group's contract with lnovo BV ended by its terms 
on November 15, 2016, the filing of the supplemental statement today also terminates the FARA 
registration, effective as of that date. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Robert K. Kelner 

Enclosure 
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Outline for DOJ Meeting 

From: "Kelner, Robert" <rkelner@cov.com> 
To: K Verderame <kverclerame@ponderainternational.com> 
Cc: 

Date: 

"Smith, Brian" <"/o=covington & burling/ou=cb/cn=recipients/cn=c&b.cbpowa02.smithbd">, 
"Langton, Alexandra" <"/o=covington & burling/ou=exchange administrative group 
(fydibohf23spdlt)/ en= recipients/ cn=54610707d47f404ba9511efe701 fl f09-lang">, "Anthony, 
Stephen" <"/o=covington & burling/ou=cb/cn=recipients/cn=c&b.cbpowa0l.anthonysp"> 
Mon, 20 Feb 2017 23:11:33 -0500 

PRIVILEGED & CONFIDENTIAL 
ATTORNEY-CLIENT COMMUNICATION 
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT 

Here is an outline for what I propose to cover tomorrow at the meeting, though obviously they may 
lead us in other directions: 

We wanted to come in, as we have done before potential retroactive filings for other clients, to walk 
through the draft filing and solicit any input, so that we could address any issues with the draft. But 
in this case, as we discussed with Heather, we also wanted to talk through the arguments for and 
against filing a FARA registration, in the circumstances presented here, to get the Unit's input. 

We've addressed in the draft we brought with us the answers to the various questions you had in 
your letter. And I can walk you through those answers today. Let me do that briefly now. 

[Walk through each question and our response] 

The client that engaged FIG, lnovo BV, is a Netherlands based corporation. A business consulting 
firm. Its CEO, Ekim Alptekin, a US-Dutch citizen, indicated that he was interested in restoring 
confidence in the Turkish economy, and he viewed Mr. Gulen and his followers as an obstacle to 
that. Although FIG did know that initially Mr. Alptekin was in touch with the Turkish government 
about the possibility of engaging FIG, Alptekin ultimately engaged FIG directly through lnovo and 
indicated that the Turkish government would not be involved in directing or funding FIG's 
engagement. 

FIG agreed to conduct research from public sources on Gulen and to develop a video based on the 
research, which could be disseminated through a PR firm that FIG would retain. 

After a contract was executed in August 2016, FIG engaged various independent contractors who 
conducted the open source research and began preliminary work on the video. FIG later retained a 
PR firm, Sphere. Sphere engaged in some federal and state level outreach to public officials, 
engagement with the media, and preparation of a monopoly themed graphic about the Gulen 
organization, called Gulenopoly. FIG also engaged in some outreach on the Hill regarding Gulen, 
including a meeting with Chairman McCall's staff. 

Originally, the expectation was that the initial 3-month contract would be extended so that the 
research and video could be disseminated. But the contract was allowed to lapse on Nov. 15 
without being extended, in light of the expectation that Gen. Flynn would join the administration. 
FIG suspended operations in mid-November 2016 and began to shut down. To the best of FIG's 
knowledge, FIG's research and the early work on the video was not disseminated by FIG. We do not 
know what lnovo may have elected to do with work product that was in its possession. We have 
seen, for example, Gulenopoly popping up on social media and in publications such as The Hill. FIG 
is not involved in circulating Gulenopoly to the best of our knowledge. 

Privileged/Attorney Work Product Flynn_File_ Transfer_00028973 
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As noted, toward the end of the initial contract period, General Flynn himself wrote an op-ed about 
Gulen. He was not asked to do this. He viewed this as something he was doing on his own. But the 
subject matter overlapped with the work for lnovo, he did seek input from Alptekin, and FIG did ask 
Sphere to place the article. 

Based on this fad pattern, a credible argument could be made that registering under LDA, as HG did, was 
sufficient, under the terms of the LDA exemption to FARA registration. 

At the same time, we recognize that Gulen is a major focus for the Turkish government, and 
extradition of Gulen was probably the primary focus of the Turkish government in its dealings with 
the United States during the period in which FIG was performing work for lnovo. This raises the 
question of whether the Turkish government is the principal beneficiary of the work for lnovo, within 
the meaning of the Department's regulation applying the LDA exemption. Arguably the work could 
be viewed as principally benefiting the Turkish government. 

During the course of performing work for lnovo, Aptekin arranged for General Flynn to meet two 
Turkish ministers while they were visiting New York. But we don't view this meeting by itself as 
resulting in agency on behalf of the government, and there is no indication that the meeting or any 
other contacts involved the Turkish government directing FIG's activities. 

After the post-election publicity about FIG's work for lnovo, and after we received your letter, FIG 
also received a letter from Mr. Alptekin's counsel at Arent Fox. Arent Fox asserted that lnovo had 
retained FIG in connection with Mr. Alptekin's business dealings with an Israeli company that was 
involved with the Leviathan oil field. 

So FIG had a commercial client with commercial objectives, and no known foreign government 
client. This left us somewhat straining to determine whether registration could be required solely 
on the basis that the work performed could be construed as principally benefiting the Turkish 
government rather than lnovo or business interests generally. We welcome your input on that 
judgment call. 

[Then, depending on their response, distribute draft filing for discussion] 

If they ask about the reported payments to lnovo, I expect to respond as follows: 

We did see two payments of 40k each to lnovo. We've included them in the filing as they appear in 
accounting records. Early on, there was a proposed consulting agreement for Aptekin. These 
payments, based on available records, appear to tie to that contract. But we have also been told 
that while Aptekin did not end up playing a role as a consultant on the project, he did nonetheless 
want part of lnovo's funding of the project to be refunded. The details of the arrangement are not 
particularly clear, amid the shut down of operations. [Beyond that, I will punt for now, if they 
press.] 

Robert Kelner 

Covington & Burling LLP 
One CityCenter, 850 Tenth Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20001-4956 
T +1 202 662 5503 I rkelner@cov.com 
WWW.COY .com 

IN 
This message is from a law firm and may contain information that is confidential or legally privileged. If you are not the 
intended recipient, please immediately advise the sender by reply e-mail that this message has been inadvertently transmitted to 
you and delete this e-mail from your system. Thank you for your cooperation. 
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June 25, 2018 
ET 
BVG 
G 
A 

DOCID: FIG EDVA 00005134 
Subj: All g o  god to  
Date: July 27 

G: One o  cuments ject is mentioffirst do  where pro  ned. 
“I had a n esn’t say a lo  yodetailed discussio with my MF last night.” This email in itselfdo  t to  u? 

MF; is that how yo  ? Nou’re usually referred to  idal. 

DOCID0000472: July 29: Met with MC? Did yo  an o  the MC is?u have understanding fwho  
MF: Yes, eventually. G: Do yo recall who  reign minister.u ? M: Yes, I believe it was the fo  

G: in addition that to  w ned here, is that ho he became be referred toho mentio  w to  ? 

From the beginning were the Turkish fficials invoo  lved in this way? 

M: There was a time early n, that there so  discussio with Bijan abo  woo  was me n ut who  uld pay 
fo it. Bijan had relayed that wheter GOT r Ekim; and I was like whatever.r o  

G: Apart from who  go  pay fo  so  pretty highlevel fficials within Turkeywas ing to  r it; me o  were 
involved? 

M: Yes. 

And that was m the beginning o  ur lvement?tru fro  fyo invo  

M: Yes, he talked abo  a was co  d fro Bijan thatut Ekim in way that he well nnected; I underst o  m 
there were ns o  vernment.discussio at the highest level fthe go  

G: in co  o  ject.ntext f this pro  

M: Yes 

G: So no  co  ns ject.t just Ekim’s nnectio generally, but the pro  

M: Mo o lessre r 

G: Why the qualifier 

M: I didn’t talk directly with Ekim so ... 
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G: We’re just interested in what yo were ld by Bijan in this context.u to  

M: That Ekim had co  ns senio members f the go  to  gan.nnectio to  r o  vernment, all the way up Erdo  

G: And that tho co  ns invo  ject?se nnectio were lved in this pro  

M: Yes, I believed that. 

G: Based o what.n 

M: In the co  ns d it to  as he wasnversatio I had with Bijan, I underst o  be initially, describing 
Ekim.. know him fro Narwuz, Turkish-American biz unsel. This has real po  bem co  tential to  a 
longer term project, and the visibiltiy f this pro  oo  ject is at the highest levels fTurkish 
go  ject. At least initially.vernment. And Ekim had this pro  

G: Would it be fair to say that fro yo understanding fco  nsm ur o  nversatio with Bijan, did it appear 
o was ur was as between fro tho to  reignr it yo understanding that Ekim acting the go  m se p-level fo  
o  ject that yofficials and this pro  u’ll be undertaking. 

M: Yes. 

G: Is this an example o  as a go  ur ject and the TurkishfEkim acting between between yo pro  
government? 

M: Yes. 

G: Mentions in the do  u fo yo elegant utline.” Ifyo turn back to  .. .cument “thank yo  r ur o  u the 
o  with the bullet po  cument]nes int.[can’t find do  

G: Sho  his py…ws co  

G: Your co  o this; it says he and yo  arepied n u had discused this Truth campaign and these the 
basic bullets. IS that so  u discussed with Bijan.mething that yo  

M: I believe we did. 

G: To best freco  n?o  llectio  

M: Yes. It’s a basic assessment process fo a por pro sal. 

G: Then August 10; “starts with gentlemen” just finished in Ankara. 

Here, this MFA Kavasulu. He was the minister o reign affairs. It says, I have a green light toffo  
discuss co  sco  ur understanding that the green light wasnfiddentiality, budget pe.” “is it yo  
co  m lks (MFA, Eco my).ming fro these fo  no  

0443
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M:  It is.  Not sure  I saw this  email; I just kno that in  ur co  ns  and the  early phase  ow  o  nversatio  f  
this  thing,  I think at that time ifyou had asked me,  who  ing it o behalfo  no sure  if  do  n  f,  I’m  t  
were  do  n  fGo o  o  u to  it the  right way.  ing it o behalfo  v  fTurkey  r Ekim,  but I’m trusting yo  do  

G:  I understand.  Yo  was  that whether it was  ugh Ekim  r  meo  uur understanding  thro  o so  ne,  yo  
understand this  invo  o  vernment,  is  that right?  lved highest levels  fTurkish go  

M:  It is.  

G:  And green light; does  that refresh yo memo  mo  ur  ry?  Regarding the  ney  

M:  I think at this  po  o  ing to get documents.  int  f time it became  clear we’re  go  

G:  I understand this:  From yo co  ns  u we go  ur  nversatio with Bijan when he’s  telling yo  t this  
co  m  se  nversatio did yo understand that this  ntract  whether directly  rntract;  fro tho co  ns  u  co  was  o  
thro  was  vernment ofTurkey/  ugh Ekim,  it with the  go  

M:  I wo  was  rt  fGo  o  uld  t necessarily say it was  in  uld say it  in suppo o  vernment  fTurkey.  Wo  no  
direct suppo o  was  with there  understanding,  and involvement.  rt  fTurkey.  It  

G:  With their involvement?  

M:  Absoluetly.  The  way it was  described to me what we  were  go  be do  ing to  ing.  That all  
transpired in various  co  nsnversatio at the  begininng.  

G:  Was  it yo undersatnding that the  initial appro  r this  project  co  m  vur  val fo  was  ming fro the Go  
ofTurkey and in fact these  high-level  officials.  

M:  Yeah  

BVG:  Ifyou recall  ne  fthe  first meetings  in the middle  fAugust there  a meeeting with  o o  o was  
Jim Co  nurt,  Sphere,  questio is  whether recall being in August a preliminary meeting.  

M:  I do  a  w Bijan had spo  ut different peo  r.  n’t recall  meeting.  I kno  ekn abo  ple that he  used prio  

BVG:  So  o  w  ns  o  o  w  ut this  me  fthe  emails  sho discussio that it’s  nly the  three  fus  that kno abo  
project; do yo  no  ther peo  the  fo  u received an appro  u recall  t brining in o  ple into  ld until yo  val;  the  
green light?  

M:  We  had talked abo  we  were  cetain that it was  go  happen; 100 percent,  keep it  ut until  ing to  
small.  

BVG:  But do yo  o  n  start bringin peo  ld,  hearing that  u recall in terms  fthe  decisio to  ple  in the fo  
GOT had pro  so  so o  val.  vided  me  rt  fappro  
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M: No sure u’re asking. Ifyo  us o  it wast what yo  u’re asking, let’s keep it at 3 and then nce 
appro  .. .ved . 

M: I want to  sure… yo  ing thro  amake u’re go  ugh sequence and with this particular green light 
thing, there was a po  ing to  ve this, may have been aint in time where Bijan said we’re go  appro  
pho call, maybe email.ne an 

G: I understand how yo have it mpartmentalized, but with the emails I sho yo  u mayu co  w u, yo  
not have been co  o  . . . .pied n them 

M: He started using this Virtru thing t o  t sure ifI was ever able get this pen n an. No  to  o o  
iPho  r Virtru had to  ns.ne. Fo  have special permissio  

G: And that Virtru so  mething typically used befo this proftware had been so  re ject? 

M: Do no  re/t remember using it befo  

G: Do yo recall any nvo  ut why he started using it?u co  w/ Bijan abo  

M: No, just that it was secure means fcoo  mmunicating. 

G: In terms o  w ur understanding f the pro  evo  me thefho yo  o  ject lved, may help understand who  
co  n with Bijan evo  ur understanding is that it was ved by GOT?nversatio  lved. Yo  appro  

M: My understanding is that it was apporvedby so  ne meo abomeo within GOT. So  ne ut GOT. 
My understanding is that Ekim was so  ne levels. I didn’ttalking to meo in GOT at fairly seniro  
relaly care was ing to  r me; gowho  go  pay fo it; my beliefwas that it didn’t really matter to  we t 
the co  d. It’s certainly rking on fthe go  fTurkey. Wontract, g o  wo  behalfo  vernment o  rking in 
support o  w I wo  rking directly fo them? Can’t say I knofthem. That’s ho  uld describe it. Wo  r w 
that. Working o their behalfn . 

ET: In light o  ur understanding was the mo  was wing fro GOT; either direclty,f that, yo  ney flo  m 
or thro  cough Ekim’s mpany? 

M: Not sure ught. I do  w whether there was an article, rI gave it any tho  n’t kno  o maybe we’d 
talked about it where Ekim co  so  so  co  that the ney did t confirmed mewhere in me mm mo  no  me 
fro GOT; after electio o  no sure rmatio came from.m n, r statement he made, t where that info  n 
When I heard that I thought, okay, well that makes this… the FARA stuffwas happening. I 
wwasn’t sure where the mo  came m ther than Ekim. Whehter the go wasney fro o  v paying him. 

G: Who is paying is relevant, but do  r ur ses. Yoesn’t really matter fo o purpo  u’ve already said 
was wo  o behalfo  supporking n f/ to  rt the GOT. 

M: That was pretty clear. 

G: And to be clear that was clear fro emails/ ther mmsm o  co  with Bijan? 
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M: Yes. 

G: Had the Aug 10 email that we were just lo king at; that lays ut the bullets. That is the neo o  o  
where Alptekin writes back and says met with MOFA; he’s receptive. Then n Aug 11,so  o  
yo  t tracking on ns are. ws . .CONFIDENCEu’ve go … the discussio and where this [Sho  email . 
THROUGH CLARITY CAMPAIGN subj.] Go back to  u’ll see at the ne nthe July email. Yo  o o  
July 30 - ints. And then there is the intervals where talkTRUTH CAMPAIGN, with bullet po  
about -- v fTurkey is giving the green light ifyo will. And wGo o  u no have August 11th email 
that no is under subject OPERATION CONFIDENCE. Yo had earlier said that fro thew u m 
beginning it was the same ject. Is that right?pro  

M: Yes. 

G: Is this an example o  w it stayed the same ject?fho  pro  

M: Yes. I’d call this Confidence. 

G: Regardless o  ject thefthe name, is the pro  same. 

M: Yes. 

G: And do this email demo  r you?es nstrate that fo  

M: Yes, and side bar; where he talks about having done re -- this was FIG’s first prothis befo  ject. 
So Ekim t k the Azerbaijan pro  lsey and applied it here. That’s likelyo  ject he did with W o  
what he means ne re. I believe that Bijan had actually sho  mewhen he says do this befo  wed the 
video that Bijan did o that pro  to  specific questio - samen ject. So  answer n yes, this is the thing. 
And I believe that Bijan applied template from previo business deal tous this. That’s why this 
part, we ne re successfully -- we had t.have do this befo  no  

G: More details no Azerbaijan? 

M: It was via Nawruz co  n. Lack frelatio  so  wnnectio  o  nship between Az and US, and meho Bijan 
got involvd. May have been when he first go ut fgo  wt o o  v, but I kno he did it with JW. 

G: Aug 11 email, co  o  to  te: w ut Dutch couple fthings no  no talking abo a mpany. This is what 
yo  ut where it wasn’t clear who  paying, whether Ekium and Dutch company.u’re talking abo  was 

M: Yes 

G: Did having Dutch co  ject in anyway.mpany change the pro  

M: I don’t think it did. 

G: Is that based o  nvo with Bijan, yo  n., mething else?n co  s ur impresssio  so  

0446

Document ID: 0.7.5218.6007-000005 

5 



                   

           

                  

  

                

       

                 

       

     

                     

               

   

                  

              


              

              


   

               

                    

                   

                

              

 

        

         

           

                


            

                 

               


  

o

o

Case 1:17 cr 00232 EGS Document 151 8 Filed 01/14/20 Page 6 of 14 

M: I don’t believe it changed anything. I went and l oked at Ino  website. I’m t sure thatvo  no  
that jumped o  me. No sure that made any difference./ut at t 

G: To be clear; that it made any difference between what the pro  was and what it was ingject go  
to be. 

M: Yes, like yo said, uldn’t have mattered ifengaged by milk man. Was abo  ignu wo  ut restro  
co  vernment turkey in the US.nfidence in go  

G: Mo  co  ut this being n fo fo  rstly ncerned with what said earlier, abo  o behalfo r r the benefit fo  
Go o  say?v fTurkey. Still fair to  

M: No change there. 

G: That to me a rtant that I t enco  u to say that. That ifthat’sis critical fact. Very impo  no  urage yo  
the case, based o co  with Bijan, when I’m asking these question mms ns; that’s where I’m headed 
with that. 

M: To summarize - the co  n ut who  go  pay went back and fonversatio abo  was ing to  rth. During 
this period it was very clear that Ekim was r ffificals fthe goengaging senio o  o  vernment; 
conversations ut Erdo  o  no  oabo  gan and MOFA, and Minister fEco my. And that the verall intent 
was to  re nfidence between go o  v ugh Ekims business andresto co  v fTurkey and go US thro  
government contracts. 

G: And so as u were saying, yo fo  was t o the Dutch client?, yo  ur cus no n 

M: My focus was n the fact that Ekim was the face we were wo  was pretty clearo  rking wht. It 
that he wasn’t Dutch. I do  be t o  us. I’m t fro Delaware, but that’s wheren’t want to  fecetio  no  m 
o business is. In a way there was a .ur naiveté in the technical business stuff 

ET: When said resto  co  v go  nships, is that distinct fro businesring nfidence in go to  v relatio  m 
resto  n.rartio  

M: All o in the to me.ne same 

ET: But all wo  be abork seemed to  ut Gulen, right? 

M: As were ing thro  ject, it changed to be about Gulen.go  ugh pro  

ET: It seemed to be abo  m ject do  all about Gulen fro the beginning, the pro  cument was ut all 
Gulen/ 

M: Yeah, his name came up; his invo  v.lvement; causing the rift between go  

BVG: Can you think fa single do o  duct fro the proo  c r pro  m ject that didn’t deal with Gulen? 
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M: Everything I saw be; I didn’t see the video All came do  to  t need toseemed to  . wn him. No  
speak to a biz gro  w wo  are.up and tell them ho  nderful things 

G: Do yo recall, yo  saying that whether it was fro the start, it became re mou u were m mo and re 
apparent, that Gulen was the focus ofthis project. 

M: He was a co  nent fro the beginning; the wing do  .. . it was a ject, thempo  m narro  wn 90 day pro  
narrowing down was fo  o him and assess what uld r uld t be docuing n co  o co  no  ne. 

G: And was u o  wasthis meeting that yo had in NY with the Turkish fficials, that in keeping with 
this understanding htat started from the beginning that this was o behalfo r fo the benefit fon fo  r r 
GOT. 

M: Believe that it was; believe Ekim wanted to sho had the right nnectio the right peow co  ns ple; 
believe he wanted to sho that; wanted to  nfirmatio abo  werew get their co  n ut that. That thye 
satisfied that Ekim had the right people and that this was ing in the right directiogo  n. 

G: Where did yo get that understanding?u 

M: The dynamics o  to  plefthe meeting and Bijan caveating the meeting, wanting get the right peo  
there, timing, l o  o  r o  me ship with theking at dynamics fthe m; seemed to  like Ekim’s relatino  
son-in-law was d. Knew eacho  mo than knew MOFA. That rt opretty g o  ther re so  fdynamic 
gave me n that they were v f turkey fficials satisfied;the impressio  satisfied. That the go o  o  were 
with what Ekim had presented abo us. Just in the back and fo  me about;ut rth that had talked to  
this has visibility at highest levels o  vernment. Bijan o profgo  - ur ject has visibility at highest 
levels. 

G: They were satsified? 

M: Yes. 

G: Was there so  kind fco  o discussio abo  w ing tome o  nv r n ut ho go  interact with Turkish 
o  co  o  ject?fficials in ntext fpro  

M: May have been TPs. 

[Ro  mpts: may have been plan fob pro  r lunch.] 

M: There was plan; believe Bijan and Brian t oa k a train up that day; may have actually taken 
train back. Believe they t o  rk a train up that day. Believe there may have been TPs fo that 
meeting. And then during that day… W o  wlsey already up there with his wife; didn’t kno what 
he was ing at the time, but fo  odo  und ut after had met with Turks. 

G: That meeting, planned lunch beforehand, TPs, all to do with meeting with Turks? 
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M: I remember meeting at ho  rehand. Go  ho  went up to  m… bijan,tel with Bijan befo  t into  tel, r o  
myself, W there. Talked fo  re wed up.r 10-15 minutes befo Turks sho  

G: What did you talk about? 

M: Ho go  cho  graph meeting?w ing to  reo  

G: Cho  graph vis-à-vis the pro  say?reo  ject. Fair to  

M: Choreograph was have yo spo  Ekim; rking fo him; want to  sureu ken to  wo  r make the right 
things are thing really specific.stated; 5 Ws. No  

G: So I’m clear n it. Ministers weren’t just bystanders to  u n Ekim vero  yo making presentatio to  o  
the pro  was yo co  n the ministers?ject. It so  u uld make presentatio to  

M: This wasn’t, hey can u p back. This was we are pro  an update o Proyo sto  viding n ject 
Co  to  vernment officials.nfidence these go  

G: Your impressio was that they weren satisfied? 

M: I walked away that they were satisfied. 

G: Co  n u were ut pro  nfidence?nversatio yo had abo  ject Co  

M: Yes 

G: And Pro  was same pro  m .ject ject fro the get go  

M: Yes. 

ET: Do yo remember any feedback that FIG received?u 

M: Do  n’t recall the directio go  mo a discussion ut whatn’t recall that; do  n ing that way; re abo  
were do  thing were they were giving me feedback. A uple ftimes where discussed ining. No  co  o  
Turkish; what Bijan may have pro  Bijan after; I do  w. Think Bijan left with them.vided to  n’t kno  

G: Mentio  fre that this was FIGs first ntract/engagment. So pretthy important.ned beo  co  

M: I l o  sure fessio  uld beco  biggerked at it as let’s make everything is right. Be pro  nal. Co  me 
project down the ro  ano  o that was co  ro  samead. We had ther ne nsemated at ughly the time; think 
it was Sep, Oct. Had to deal wit real estate. . . 

G: From emails, appears that this engagemnet was disclo  o o  lks bro  osed r ther fo  ught in, nly after 
changed to a Dutch co  ject Truth, where re penly discussed withmpany, rather than Pro  mo o  
ministers o Ekim. Do that ring any bells / mean anything?r es 
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M:  Do  mean  esn’t ring any bells.  Keeping the  gro  was  ut  tesn’t  anything.  Do  up  small  abo no  
wasting  anybo  t go  dy’s  time  ifno  ing  anywhere.  

G:  Ever recall  anything about Israeli company?  

M:  I do  n’t.  n’t recall anything like that.  I do  

G:  So ifwe  can turn to  ur  fFacts.  Last paragraph  fFacts  yo Statement o  - Statement o  

G:  Go  to  FARA filing itselfand circumstances  around that.  ing  turn to  

ET:  Just o mo email; fro August 8,  2016.  Re:  Truth.  Ano  o  vernemnt  fne  re  m  ther example  fGo  o  
Turkey involvement?  

M:  Yes.  

ET:  Believe  have  said aware  ftwo  o  to  vo  o  payments  f$40k each that made  Ino .  

M:  I am aware.  

ET:  Ever aware  o  as  bbying  r PR refunds  that were  no  rmed?  fthem being referred to  lo  o  t perfo  

M:  

ET:  TO best o  ur  wledge,  were  they refunds?  fyo kno  

M:  No sure  n to that.  t  I paid attentio  

ET:  Anything that makes  yo think they  refunds?  u  were  

M:  No  aware  fthat would make  them refunds.’  thing that I’m  o  

ET:  Fro the  earliest days,  Ekim  go  get 20 percent.  m  was  ing to  

M:  Right,  go  give 20 percent fo services.  ing to  r  

ET:  o  strike while  iro  t; befo the  electio  u’re the  iro  u said  kay…  need to  n ho  re  n.  Yo  n right?  Yo  
that last time.  

M:  The  co  as  a who  lvement.  My  nnectio to  so  ntext  le  and my invo  co  ns  getting  mething  
published.  

BVG:  Well Bijan wasn’t the  iro  n.  n.  Ekim  wasn’t the  iro  

M:  No certainly  t.no  
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ET: Thanks for c o  n; t trying to  ns ut fyo no  newperatio no  get any admissio o o  u; t getting false 
statements. But need to ask abo so  o  se usly to  neut me ftho statements. Believe that previo  ld us: do  
fo o behalfo  v fturkey and fficials had awareness, feedback and given updates.r r fgo o  o  were 
Befo FARA filing tell Co  n rneys do fo Turkeys benefit o o theirre ever vingto atto  was ne r r n 
behalf? 

M: Do  se rds.n’t believe I used tho wo  

ET: Did yo ever was r vernment fTurkey?u say that it fo helping the Go  o  

M: Don’t think I ever said it as stro  as I’m saying it no  n’t think I ever used thongly w; do  se 
words. 

ET: Reads false statement para 5: “FIG did no  w o  extent to  ot kno whether r the which Rep fTurk 
invo  ject”; is that the basis f the false statement; the stuffwe just discussed?lved in pro  o  

M: Yes. 

ET: Anything else that wo  auld make this false statement? 

M: I do  .n’t think so  

BVG: To clarify; if there is maybe a questio that we didn’t ask, please flag.n 

M: I to  to  u the o  n’t go ver the FARA filing with Bijan at all. I dold this yo  ther day, I do  o  n’t 
kno if that makes any different to  u all. But it wasn’t .. . learn a t f things in hindsight.w yo  lo o  
Would it have adjusted what I, how w oI stated, ho I filled ut, can’t say that it may have adjusted 
what I filled o cant say it wo  o wo  t have.ut; uld r uld no  

ET: Just asking that what I learned fro yo is the basis fo the false in terms ofm u r statement. So  
o  was ject.p-ed, written because there wasn’t any delivereables yet under the pro  

M: I said there was us ns ut the p-ed fo the proprevio discussio abo  o  r ject. 

ET: But yo and Bijan did t previo  o  u did no  the draftu no  usly discuss this specific p-ed and yo  t see 
ofthe o  a head op-ed f time. 

M: That’s right. 

ET: Here is an u saw this?email. Is this the first time yo  

M: Think maybe I saw m Bijan. Remember receiving the o  m Bijan; noit directly fro  p-ed fro  t 
sure if this is the email. 

BVG: Do not remember drafting? 
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M: No. 

BVG: Do no  ing any specific brainsto  ut this p-ed?t remember do  rmin abo  o  

.M: No

ET: “Op-ed written in the Hill was o .. ohis wn .” Is that basis fstatement? 

M: Yes. 

ET: All wo  ut Gulen, all meetings abo  meetings with businessrk was abo  ut Gulen. No  
co  help business mmunity. Basis ofthe statement?mmunity to  co  

n’t fo w ur n.M: Do  llo yo questio [Reads para. 5.b.] 

ET: Are the facts that all wo was cused n was reaso fo false statement?rk fo  o Gulen, that n r 

BVG: key wo  to  was n cord is FOCUS. Was it false say that FOCUS o business mmunity? 

int, fo  was nM: Yes, that’s false. At this po  cus o Gulen. 

ET: Did ever tell Co  n atto  were separate pro  lving Turkey?vingto  rneys that there two  jects invo  

M: No  t o  separate pro  was t o  separate. No aware f two  jects. At that time I no aware f two  
projects. 

G: What we’re getting at is the essential facts are 

ET: Like to  u ns ing totell yo what questio go  ask. 

R: Explain what it’s going to l ok like. 

cess.G: Explains GJ pro

ET: Tell yo what questio are:u ns 

1. State name and spell 
2. How employed 
3. What jo  mb retire fro  
4. Also wo  sectorked in private r 
5. Invo  uplved in Flynn intel Gro  
6. When was FIG created 
7. Still in existence 
8. When FIG ceased o  nsperatio  
9. Who was FIG Vice Chairman 
10. What did Bijan do  
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11. Aware o  ject FIG invofPro  lved with Turkey 
12. How did yo first becameu aware 
13. What stage was ject at when Bijan first appropro  ached 
14. Who ifanyo Bijan to  u he’d already spo  abone ld yo  ken to  ut it 
15. Who is Ekim 
16. Befo pro  nship ifany did Bijan have with Ekimre ject, what relatio  
17. Ho did they kno each otherw w 
18. What co  ifany yo o  ut promms are u fBijan having with Ekim abo  ject 
19. Ho did yo kno tho co  s k placew u w se nvo t o  
20. During what time period was this 
21. How o  coften mms 
22. What methods used to communicated Bijan / Ekim 
23. During initial co  with Bijan abo  ject what was fo  int o  jectnvo  ut pro  cal po  fpro  
24. Did that focal point change int during the proat any po  ject? 

a. Initial fo  was business co  -cus mmunity 
25. Focal point fo the rk do fo the pror wo  ne r ject 
26. What wo  ne ut researching state ofbiz climate in turkeyrk ifany do abo  
27. What meetings done with biz groups 
28. What wo  ut investments in Turkeyrk abo  
29. What wo  ne impro biz climate in Turkey fo US/fork do to  ve r reign businesses 
30. Ever heard co  o  neduntry fIsrael mentio  
31. Ever heard that co  o  wo  m jectuntry fIsrael uld benefit fro pro  
32. During pro  ing day toject what do  day in life? 
33. When began traveling with Trump? 
34. For ho low ng travel with him? 
35. Who was manager o  ject within FIG?fpro  

a. Initially Bijan and then uld assign Mike Bo n as leadwo  sto  
36. Change to  o  FIG’s rk n ject.: Who versaw wo o the pro  

[BVG: What doing WRT your k at this time? M: Multiple engagements regarding b ob o  k 
signing. Also had LLC activities invo  mb factivities involved in. Co  o  lved in.] 

37. Who at FIG the st kno  ut the prowas mo  wledgeable abo  ject? 
a. Bijan had fingerprints all ver it; in Coo  mms 

38. What foregin govs ifany were lved in the proinvo  ject? 
39. How was vernment fTurkey invothe go  o  lved? 
40. Who was intended beneficiary o  ject?fthe pro  
41. What o  o  v f turkey were invo  to ur wledgefficials fgo o  lved, yo kno  
42. Whether Turkish go o  vided me n on jectv fficials pro  so  directio  the pro  
43. Who at FIG ifanyo discussed the invo  o  v fficials with yone lvement fTurkish go o  u 

a. Bijan 
44. Do yo recall anyo bragging abo  o  ject?u ne ut high-level fficials in the pro  
45. G: From the beginning to  nethe end? M: Yes pretty much. G: On weekly telepho calls, 

he co  relay that fficials were satisfied. M: Yes. G: That was basically thentinued to  o  
purpose o  sefthe weekly calls, right? G: That’s what I viewed tho weekly calls as; brief 

0453

Document ID: 0.7.5218.6007-000005 

12 



             

            


      
   
         
     
       
         
      
            
        
   
  
              


         
           
        
            
             
      
    
    
     
          
              


     
      

         
         
     
        
          

          
    
  

        
             


           

             

  
        
   
     
          
          

               


  

Case 1:17  cr  00232  EGS  Document 151  8  Filed 01/14/20  Page 13 of 14  

Ekim so  co  o  us  o tho  he  uld update Turkish  fficials.  He’d give  feedback  n  se  
conversations  vernment  fficials.  That interactio was  me  that keeping  with go  o  n  clear to  
no o  us  rmed,  but Turkish  fficials.  t  nly  info  o  

46.  Questio o funding:  ns  n  
47.  Originally what was  so  o  r pro  planned  urce  ffunding fo  ject  
48.  How do  u  wyo kno that  
49.  Whether that planned so  ource  ffunding  changed  
50.  what was  new so  o  r  ject  urce  ffunding fo the pro  
51.  Where  was  vo  rpo  Ino  inco  rated / based  
52.  When the  so  o  ut the  pro  urce  ffunding  changed,  what else  abo  ject changed?  
53.  How did the  pe  fthe  pro  sco o  ject changed  
54.  FIG’s  role changed?  
55.  Timeline  changed?  
56.  Whether befo o after heard anything  abo  rming separate  pro  v ofre  r  ut FIG perfo  jcet w/ go  

Turkey?  
57.  Separate  pro  vo  ut radical Islam?  ject with Ekim? Ino ? Abo  
58.  Anything  about FIG  refunding  mo  r  r PR / lo  ney fo Ekim fo  bbying?  
59.  FIG refunding  mo  anyo ICW the  pro  ney to  ne  ject?  
60.  Did you beco  aware  f two  o  Ino  me  o  payments  f40 k to  vo  
61.  Whether those  payments  were  refunds  fo  bbying / PR  r  rr lo  o refunds  fo anything?  
62.  NYC  meetgin - oaware  fmeeting?  
63.  Related to Turkey project?  
64.  Who attended that meeting?  
65.  Who set up  the  meeting?  
66.  Do yo recall having met Ekim prio to the  meeting?  u r  
67.  Purpose  o  - se  fthe meeting  to  nstrate  f the meeting  Whether purpo o  was  demo  FIG’s  

capabillities  to Turkish Go  overnment  fficials  
a.  Intro  team and pro  duce  leadership  vide  update  

68.  What po  nal business  discussed at the  meeting?  tential  additio  was  
69.  Who did  st  f the talking  at the  meeting?  mo o  
70.  What focus  o  nvofco  was?  
71.  Go was  f the Turkish officials  regarding Gulen  al  o  
72.  What deliverables  ifany as  part o  ject were  discussed?  fpro  

a.  ET:  At that meeting  were  Co  nal hearings  discussed?  t aware  ngressio  no  
b.  ET:  Op-eds? No aware  t  
c.  M:  

73.  Conversations  ut delieverables  fo the  pro  abo  r  ject at FIG?  
a.  Types  fco  ns  ut what  co  .  Him driving the  video  o  nversatio abo  we  uld do  ,  

Gulenopolgy game,  p-eds  that we  co  n’t recall  engaging Co  o  uld write.  Do  ngress  
as  a specific  thing.  May have  talked about it in a general  sense.  

74.  Update  calls  
75.  After meeting  o 19th any  nvo with Ekim?  n  co  s  
76.  How often?  
77.  Who else  fro FIG participated?  m  
78.  What was  subject matter o  rk FIG pro  o  jets?  fwo  vided  n pro  
79.  Wo  o o  o  n the project?  rking  n  ther issues  ther than Gulen o  
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80. What did Ekim saying he was ing with info  n?do  rmatio  
81. Which Turkish gov o  was he passing the officials fficials? 

a. Engaged with MOFA, previo individuals who  was nous m he talking with; Eco my, 
mentio  awarenessned Prime Minister’s 

b. ET: Reads Oct 22 - ugh . . . brings up discussing withtext, walked him thro  
Minister o  reign Affairs.fFo  

82. What feedback ifany receive during these calls? 
83. From who wasm the feedback? 
84. Ho did yo kno that?w u w 
85. Other than participating in these calls, what wo  vide n ject?rk did he pro  o the pro  

a. M: Pro  o assistance n w negovided advice n o ho to  tiate with the Turkish 
government 

86. What co  ifany between FIG and pro  nal staffers n ject?ntacts fessio  o the pro  
a. At time, t aware had ntact with ngressio  nono  co  co  nal staffers. As I sit here w, 

know that Ho  r staffer -- Miley o someland Security senio  r mething like that. 
87. Briefly described the circumstances o  se ntactsf tho co  
88. GOING TO SKIP CONGRESSIONAL STAFFER QUESTIONS 
89. What o  were as fthe prop-eds ifany published part o  ject? 
90. Give o  yo reco  was it published, when wasp-ed; do  u gnize, where it published, title, 

whose name listed as r, ho did first find o o  was in the wothe autho  w ut p-ed rks 
91. Co  ns ut writing this p-ed befo receiving email with draftnversatio ifany had abo  o  re 

attached 
92. What Bijan said to yo ifanything abo  ou ut why he drafted the p-ed. 

a. M: Had discussio abo  o  as a pro  r jectns ut writing this p-ed duct fo this pro  
b. ET: Was it drafted because no ther deliverables had been pro  o theo  duced n 

Turkey pro  int? Kno that had discussed them as a duct.ject at that po  w pro  
93. Why published when it was published? 

a. M: Tho  a uld get it published befought it might have great impact. Co  rehand 
because o  nment. Felt like it go  be easier tof the enviro  was ing to  get it published 
before. 

b. ET: Also true that tho  wo  wought it uld have greater impact? M: Yes, uld get 
wider readership. 

c. ET: Is that because fyo  file during electioo  ur high-pro  n? 
94. G: Ask abo  particular statements, Ro  bbyistut initial LDA. Two  bert Kelley being the lo  

and the o  se fthe lo  two  use bills.ther being the purpo o  bbying being these senate and ho  
a. M: T ok it at face value. 

Co  :ntact info  
95. G: 571-289-3625 
96. ET: 202-598-5315 
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Flynn Intel Group does not know whether or the extent to which the Republic ofTurkey. 
was involved with its tetentio_n by Inovo fotthe three~month project Flynn Intel Group is aw~e 
that Mr, Alptekin consulted with officials of the· Republic ofT!lrkey regarding potenti$1 work by 
Flynn Intel Group, and Mr. Alptekin introduced officials of the Republic ofTurkey to Flynn 
lntel Group officials ata meeting on September. i9, 2016, in New York. · 

' 

Case 1:17  cr  00232  EGS  Document 151  9  Filed 01/14/20  Page 1 of 4  

ALLEGED  FALSE  STATEMENT #1:  

FLYNN INTEL GROUP, INC. DID NOT KNOW WHETHER OR TO THE  EXTENT TO  

WHICH THE  REPUBLIC  OF TURKEY WAS  INVOLVED WITH ITS  RETENTION BY  

INOVO FOR THE  THREE-MONTH PROJECT  

Actual FARA  

Filing 03/07/17  

Prosecution  

Statement of  

Offense 12/01/17  

“FIG did not know  whether or to  the  extent to  which the  Republic  ofTurkey  

was  involved in the  Turkey project”  

Government  

Sentencing  

Memorandum  

01/07/2020  

“The  filings  affirmatively stated that FIG  did not know  whether or the  extent  

to  which the  Republic  ofTurkey was  involved in the  Turkey project.”  

FACTS:  The  government excised the  language  “with its  retention by Inovo  for the  

three-month project”.  

1  
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In August 2016, Flynn lntel Group entered into a contract with Inovo, a consulting firm 
based in the Netherlands. The contract provided that Flynn, Intel Group would perform research, 
e)lgage a public relations firril and a filming and production crew to potentially distribute the 
results of its research, and hold weekly calls with ~e client to discuss progress on the project. 
Flynn Intel Group understood the engagement to be focused on improving U.S. business 
~rganizations' confidence regarding dolng bu.siness in Turkey, particularly with respect to the 
sta_bility ofTurkey and its suitability as a venue for investment and commercial activity . . lnovo 
has represented, through its couilsel, that no part of the fees paid to Flynn Intel Group by Inovo 
was proviged by any foreign government. 

Case 1:17  cr  00232  EGS  Document 151  9  Filed 01/14/20  Page 2 of 4  

ALLEGED FALSE  STATEMENT #2:  

THE  CONTRACT WAS FOCUSED  ON IMPROVING U.S. BUSINESS ORGANIZATIONS’  

CONFIDENCE  REGARDING DOING BUSINESS IN TURKEY  

Actual FARA  

Filing 03/07/17  

Prosecution  

Statement of  

Offense 12/01/17  

Government  

“[T]he  Turkey project was  focused on improving  U.S.  business  organizations’  

confidence  regarding  doing  business  in Turkey”  

“The  filings  affirmatively stated that FIG  ‘understood the  engagement to  be  

Sentencing  focused on improving  U.S.  business  organizations’  confidence  regarding  doing  

Memorandum  

01/07/2020  

business  in Turkey.”  

FACTS:  “The  government omits  “particulary with respect to  the  stability ofTurkey and its  

suitability as  a venue  for investment and commercial  activity.”  

See  ECF  No.  150-5  at 4  and 150-6  at 2  (Kelner 302s);  ECF  No.  98-3  at Ex.  7  
(Entitled Statement ofthe  Problem “How  do  we  restore  confidence  in the  

government ofthe  Republic  ofTurkey and expose  the  Fethullah Gulen cult in the  
United States”);  ECF  No.  98-3  at Ex.  8  and Ex.  8-A  (Covington Feb.  22,  2017  

Notes:  Commercial  Activity• Crystalized• Gulen).  

2  
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. -- . - - · 
11 In addition to the above described activities, if any, have you engaged in activity on your own behalf which benefits your 

foreign principal(s)? . Yes gJ o q · 

If yes, des.cribe fully. 

Because of its expertise, Flynn Intel Group officials frequently write, speak, and give interviews on i'ssues related to 
national security. Although not undertaken at the direction or control of a foreign principa l, it is possible that such 
activities may have an indirect benefit to a principal. On his own initiative, Michael T. Flynn published an op-ed in The Hill 
on November 8, 2016, that related to the same subject matters as the Flynn Intel Group work for lnovo BV. Neither lnovo 
BV, nor any other person requested·or.directed publication of the o~. 

Case 1:17  cr  00232  EGS  Document 151  9  Filed 01/14/20  Page 3 of 4  

ALLEGED FALSE  STATEMENT #3:  

AN OP-ED BY FLYNN PUBLISHED  IN THE  HILL  ON NOVEMBER 8, 2016, WAS  WRITTEN  

AT HIS OWN INITIATIVE  

Actual FARA Filing  

03/07/17  

Prosecution  “[A]n op-ed by Flynn published in The  Hill  on November 8,  2016,  was  written  

Statement of  at his  own initiative”  

Offense 12/01/17  

Government  “The  filings  affirmatively stated that the  defendant published the  op-ed “on his  

Sentencing  own initiative;” and it was  not undertaken at the  direction or control  ofa  

Memorandum  foreign principal.”  

01/07/2020  

FACTS:  “RAFIEKIAN worked with an editor,  Hank COX,  to  write  the  op-ed on  

GULEN.” ECF  No.  150-5  at 7.  

“FLYNN informed SMITH  it was  his  idea to  write  an op-ed.  However  
RAFIEKIAN,  wrote  the  first draft ofthe  op-ed about GULEN.” ECF  No.  150-

5  at 7.  

ECF  No.  98-3  at Ex.  8  and Ex.  8-A (“Push for placement ofarticle  was  for  

campaign reasons.  (fighting  until  the  end to  show that Trump  campaign was  
serious  on fighting  Islamic  extremism).”).  

3  
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Case 1:17  cr  00232  EGS  Document 151  9  Filed 01/14/20  Page 4 of 4  

ALLEGED FALSE  STATEMENT #4:  

FAILURE  TO STATE  TURKISH OFFICIALS PROVIDED DIRECTION OR CONTROL  

OVER PROJECT  

Actual FARA  

Filing 3/07/17  

No  statement  

Prosecution  

Statement of  

Offense 12/01/17  

Government  

Sentencing  

Memorandum  

01/07/2020  

FACTS:  

Alleges  FARA  filing  is  false:  

“by omitting  that officials  from the  Republic  ofTurkey provided supervision and  

direction over the  Turkey project”  

The  FARA  filing  DOES  NOT  contain any statement asserting  that the  Republic  
ofTurkey provided supervision and direction over the  contract/project at issue.  

See  Judge  Trenga’s  Memorandum Opinion,  United  States  v.  Rafiekian,  Case  No.  

1:18-CR-00457-AJT,  ECF  No.  372  at 30,  “There  is  no  evidence,  not even in the  
hearsay statements  from Alptekin to  Rafiekian,  that Alptekin,  Inovo,  or anyone  

associated with the  Turkish government directed or controlled the  work  
performed by FIG or Sphere  personnel.”  

During  that meeting  [in New  York with the  Turkish Officials],  there  was  no  

discussion concerning  any work that FIG was  doing  or ofFIG's  relationship  with  
Inovo  or the  Turkish government,  nor was  there  any request from the  Turkish  

officials  or Alptekin for FIG to  do  anything.  See  Ex.  10  (McCauley Rafiekian  
testimony).  

See  Judge  Trenga’s  Memorandum Opinion,  United  States  v.  Rafiekian,  Case  No.  

1:18-CR-00457-AJT,  ECF  No.  372  at 8,  “Alptekin was  not pleased with the  
scope  or substance  ofwhat was  presented to  him,  which included a presentation  

by McCauley summarizing  the  findings  ofthe  investigation into  Gulen and a  
mockup  ofthe  Gulenopoly board game  conceived by Sphere.”  

4  
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UNITED  STATES  DISTRICT  COURT  

EASTERN  DISTRICT  OF  VIRGINIA  

ALEXANDRIA  DIVISION  

UNITED  STATES  OF  AMERICA,  )  Case  1: 18-cr-00457  

)  

Plaintiff,  )  

)  

v.  )  Alexandria,  Virginia  

)  July  17,  2019  

BIJAN  RAFIEKIAN,  )  9: 04  a. m.  

)  

Defendant.  )  Day  3  (AM  Session)  

)  Pages  364  - 515  

TRANSCRIPT  OF  TRIAL  

BEFORE  THE  HONORABLE  ANTHONY  J.  TRENGA  

UNITED  STATES  DISTRICT  COURT  JUDGE  

AND  A  JURY  

COMPUTERIZED  TRANSCRIPTION  OF  STENOGRAPHIC  NOTES  
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389  

M c C a u l e y - D i r e c t 

have.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  May  the  witness  be  

excused?  

MR.  GIBBS:  He  may  be,  Judge.  Thank  you.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  Mr.  Smith,  you' re  

excused.  Do  not  discuss  your  testimony  outside  of  the  

courtroom  with  any  other  witness.  

THE  WITNESS:  Thank  you,  Your  Honor.  

(The  witness  stands  aside. )  

THE  COURT:  The  government  will  call  its  next  

witness.  

MR.  TURGEON:  The  United  States  calls  Brian  

McCauley.  

THE  COURT:  Mr.  McCauley  will  come  forward.  

BRIAN  MCCAULEY,  PLAINTIFF' S  WITNESS,  AFFIRMED  

DIRECT  EXAMINATION  

BY  MR.  TURGEON:  

Q  Could  you  please  tell  us  your  name.  

A  My  name  is  Brian McCauley.  

Q  What  is  your  current  occupation?  

A  I' m  currently  retired.  

Q  What  did  you  do  before  you  were  retired?  

A  I  was  a  deputy  assistant  director  with  the  FBI.  

Q  When did  you  work  at  the  FBI?  

A  I  worked  at  the  FBI  from  1997  until  I  retired  in  
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M c C a u l e y - D i r e c t 

A It was very brief. And Bij an introduced me to 

Alptekin and said: This is Brian McCauley. He' ll be 

helping out on this proj ect. 

Q Did you and Alptekin have any conversations at 

that time? 

A No, sir. 

Q After Alptekin left, did you and the defendant 

have any discussions? 

A Yes, sir, we did. 

Q What did you talk about? 

A A possible trip to New York to meet with some 

Turkish officials. 

Q Did the defendant tell you anything about that 

pla ned meeting in New York City? 

A No. 

Q Did he say with whom you' d be meeting? 

A Just -- at that point, it was j ust Turkish 

officials. 

Q Did the defendant say who organized the meeting in  

New York City with the Turkish government officials? 

A Sure. I believe it was Ekim Alptekin, but I 

j ust -- I don' t remember seeing it coming out of his 

mouth and hearing it. 

Q Did you eventually attend a meeting in New York 

City with Turkish government officials? 
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401  

M c C a u l e y - D i r e c t 

1  A  Yes,  sir,  I  did.  

2  Q  Sir,  could  you  please  turn to  Exhibit  -- take  a  

3  look  at  Government  Exhibit  2B.  

4  A  Yes.  

5  Q  Who  is  sitting  on the  right  side  in that  

6  photograph?  

7  A  That  would  be  Ekim  Alptekin.  

8  Q  And  who  is  sitting  on the  left  side  in that  

9  photograph?  

10  A  That  would  be  the  Turkish  foreign minister.  

11  MR.  TURGEON:  Your  Honor,  at  this  time,  we' d  

12  move  Government  Exhibit  2B  into  evidence.  

13  THE  COURT:  Any  obj ection?  

14  MR.  TROUT:  No  obj ection.  

15  THE  COURT:  2B  is  admitted.  

16  MR.  TURGEON:  Could  we  publish  that  to  the  

17  j ury?  

18  THE  COURT:  Yes.  

19  MR.  TURGEON:  Thank  you.  

20  BY  MR.  TURGEON:  

21  Q  Did  the  defendant  offer  you  any  compensation for  

22  attending  the  New  York  meeting?  

23  A  Yes.  

24  Q  How  much  did  he  offer  you?  

25  A  My  daily  rate  of  $5, 000.  
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M c C a u l e y - D i r e c t 

officials? 

A Yes. He was going to meet with or have lunch with 

Ekim. 

Q Do you know if that lunch meeting took place? 

A No, sir, I don' t. 

Q Around what time of day did you and the defendant 

arrive in New York City? 

A Approximately noontime. 

Q And what time of day was the meeting with the 

Turkish government officials scheduled for? 

A It was later that night at approximately 

10: 00 p. m. 

Q And where in New York City did that meeting take 

place? 

A It took place at the Helmsley Hotel. 

Q I j ust want to make sure you' ve said what time of 

day was that meeting. 

A It was evening. It was about 10: 00 p. m. 

Q Who was at that meeting? 

A At that meeting, it was Bij an. It was General 

Fly n. It was James Woolsey. It was myself, the 

Turkish -- Ekim, the Turkish foreign minister, the 

minister of energy from Turkey -- that was Erdogan' s 

son-in-law -- and the translator. 

Q Now, how do you know that the Turkish minister of 
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Q And for the Turkish side, who sat across from 

those folks? 

A On the Turkish side, from left to right, across 

from Bij an, it was Ekim Alptekin. Across from General 

Fly n, it was the foreign minister, the Turkish foreign  

minister. Across from Jim Woolsey, it was the minister 

of energy, Erdogan' s son-in-law, and across from me was 

the translator. 

Q Now, at the meeting, did anyone use the 

translator? 

A No, sir. 

Q After sitting down, how did the meeting begin? 

A Introductions starting with Bij an, General Fly n, 

Jim Woolsey, and myself, and then it went down to the 

Turkish side. 

Q And after those introductions, how did the meeting 

begin? 

A I remember the foreign minister wished General 

Fly n and Trump good luck in the election and that he 

hoped that the Turkish government would be working 

close with the new administration, whoever it is. 

Q Did the foreign minister say anything else? 

A Yes. He brought up the subj ect of Fethullah 

Gulen. 

Q And what was his focus at the meeting? 
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M c C a u l e y - D i r e c t 

MR.  TROUT:  Obj ection,  Your  Honor.  I  ask  

that  he  ask  what  he  said.  

THE  COURT:  Well,  instead  of  asking  that  

characterization,  why  don' t  you  ask  what  people  

actually  said.  

MR.  TURGEON:  Yes.  Thank  you,  Your  Honor.  

BY  MR.  TURGEON:  

Q  What  did  the  foreign minister  say  at  that  meeting?  

A  The  foreign minister  said  that  he  was  concerned  

that  they  had  a  terrorist  living  in the  U. S. ,  and  they  

considered  Gulen,  Fethullah  Gulen,  the  Osama  bin Laden  

of  Turkey.  

Q  Now,  what  language  was  the  foreign minister  

speaking?  

A  English.  

Q  How  would  you  describe  his  English  language  

skills?  

A  Fine.  I  could  hear  him.  I  understood  him  

perfectly.  

Q  Did  the  foreign minister  say  anything  about  the  

attempted  coup  in Turkey?  

A  Yes,  he  did.  He  believed  that  Gulen was  

responsible  for  the  attempted  coup  in Turkey.  

Q  Did  he  say  anything  about  what  the  Turkish  

government  wanted  done  about  Gulen?  
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A He brought up that they would like to have him 

tried -- charged and tried in Turkey. 

Q Did you say anything at the meeting? 

A Yes, I did. Towards the end of the meeting -- the 

meeting lasted 25 minutes -- I did say that if, in  

fact, Fethullah Gulen is a terrorist and we found him 

violating U. S. law, he would be charged and possibly 

deported, but it would be U. S. law. 

Q What topics were discussed at that meeting other 

than Gulen? 

A Sir, I can' t think of any. 

Q How long did that meeting last? 

A That meeting lasted approximately 25 to 

30 minutes. 

Q And what happened at the end of the meeting? 

A Exchange of cards, a handshake, and that was about 

it. 

Q By cards, do you mean business cards? 

A Business cards, yes, sir. Sorry. 

Q Did you leave the meeting with anyone? 

A I left the meeting with Bij an and General Fly n. 

Q Where did you go? 

A We went back to the hotel. 

Q When you got back to the hotel, did you and the 

defendant discuss the Gulen proj ect? 
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Q  How  did  that  conversation  come  about?  

A  Bij an  called  me  on  the  phone  and  asked  me  if  I  

could  come  into  the  office.  

Q  And  did  you  go  into  the  office?  

A  Yes,  sir,  I  did.  

Q  And  when  you  got  there,  what  did  the  defendant  

say?  

A  The  defendant  said  that  we  got  the  contract.  

Q  Did  he  say  anything  about  how  or  why  FIG  got  the  

contract?  

A  No,  sir.  

Q  What  happened  next  during  that  meeting?  

A  As  I  came  into  the  office,  Bij an' s  office,  he  was  

coming  out  of  General  Flynn' s  office.  And  he  said:  

Brian,  we  got  the  contract.  

He  also  mentioned  that  I  was  to  build  a  team  of  

investigative  -- retired  agents,  investigators  to  build  

my  team.  

Q  Did  the  defendant  say  anything  else  to  you  after  

coming  out  of  General  Flynn' s  office?  

A  He  did.  

Q  What  did  he  say?  

A  He  said:  Brian,  the  General  wants  me  to  file  with  

DOJ.  

He  said:  But  -- and  he  used  his  finger.  He  
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pointed  up.  He  said;  but  I  have  a  better  idea  to  file  

with  -- it  was  either  commerce  or  Congress.  

Q  Please  describe  for  the  j ury  how  the  defendant  

acted  when  he  said  that  to  you.  

A  He  was  excited.  

MR.  TROUT:  Obj ection.  Your  Honor,  I' m  

sorry.  Obj ection,  describing  how  he  acted.  

THE  COURT:  Overruled.  You  can  describe  his  

reaction.  

MR.  TURGEON:  Thank  you.  

BY  MR.  TURGEON:  

Q  Can  you  please  describe  the  defendant' s  reaction  

or  how  the  defendant  acted  when  he  said  that  to  you?  

A  He  was  very  happy,  very  pleased,  excited  that  we  

got  this  contract.  

Q  Now,  what  did  he  say  about  keeping  the  proj ect  

under  the  radar?  

MR.  TROUT:  Obj ection,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  I' m  sorry.  There' s  been  no  

testimony  of  that.  

MR.  TURGEON:  I  apologize,  Your  Honor.  

apologize,  Your  Honor.  

BY  MR.  TURGEON:  

Q  When  the  defendant  came  out  of  General  Flynn' s  

office,  do  you  recall  him  saying  anything  else?  
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A  Yes.  He  said:  Brian,  the  General  wants  me  to  

file  with  DOJ.  

He  said:  But  to  keep  it  under  the  radar,  we' ll  

file  with  -- it  was  either  commerce  or  Congress.  

Q  Did  the  defendant  say  why  he  wanted  to  keep  the  

proj ect  under  the  radar?  

A  Not  during  that  conversation.  

Q  Did  he  ever  say  anything  about  that  to  you?  

A  Yes,  he  did.  

Q  What  did  he  say?  

A  The  purpose  of  keeping  it  under  the  radar  was  to  

avoid  detection  by  Tony  Podesta  and  other  members  of  

Congress  who  were  favorable  to  Gulen.  

Q  And  when  was  that  conversation?  

A  That  was  a  follow-on  conversation.  I' m  not  sure  

how  many  days  or  weeks  after.  

Q  Now,  what  did  you  say  in  response  to  the  defendant  

saying  that  he  was  going  to  file  this  other  way?  

A  When  he  told  me  he  was  not  going  to  follow  General  

Flynn' s  direction  and  file  with  DOJ  -- excuse  my  

language,  ladies  -- I  told  him:  I  wouldn' t  fuck  around  

with  that.  

Q  Why  did  you  say  that?  

A  Because  I  know  coming  from  my  previous  -- my  past  

that  when  you  file  -- when  you  work  with  foreign  
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Could  we  publish  that  to  the  j ury,  please?  

THE  COURT:  Yes.  

BY  MR.  TURGEON:  

Q  Do  you  see  where  General  Flynn  refers  to  the  FM?  

A  Yes.  

Q  Who  is  the  FM?  

A  Foreign  minister.  

Q  How  do  you  know  that  FM  refers  to  the  foreign  

minister?  

A  Again,  going  back  to  my  previous  j ob,  I  would  meet  

with  ministers.  Prime  minister  would  be  PM;  FM,  

foreign  minister;  and  minister  of  defense,  MD.  

Q  And  who  is  RA?  

A  RA  is  -- it' s  Robert  or  Richard  Amsterdam.  I  

believe  it' s  Robert  Amsterdam.  

Q  How  do  you  know  that?  

A  I  found  out  j ust  in  discussions  with  Tom  Neer,  as  

well  as  Bij an.  

Q  So  after  the  New  York  City  meeting,  did  you  ever  

meet  with  Alptekin  in  person  again?  

A  Yes,  we  did.  

Q  What  was  the  purpose  of  that  meeting?  

A  That  was  to  provide  him  the  final  -- our  6  weeks,  

45  days  was  up.  We  were  going  to  provide  him  the  final  

product  of  what  we  had  come  up  with  at  that  point.  
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page to the j ury? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. TURGEON: Thank you. 

BY MR. TURGEON: 

Q How did you present this report to Alptekin? 

A I summarized the report. I gave him a verbal 

a se sment, and I told him what we had found out is  

that there' s potentially fraud going on with human 

trafficking, immigration fraud, visa fraud, but also 

fraud against the United States government in the sum 

of $500 million a year. 

Q How did Alptekin react to this written report? 

A He was not dismi sive towards me the way he was  

with Mike Boston, but he responded: I know this. 

He said: I' m looking for dirt. 

Q Did he say anything about how he knew this? 

A No, sir, I don' t remember him saying that. 

Q Did Alptekin take the report with him when he 

left? 

A No, he didn' t. He left it on the table. 

Q Now, did Alptekin say anything in that meeting 

about what he wanted? 

A He said he wanted dirt, and then he said: Can' t 

you plant dirt? 

And I said: No, we cannot. 
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1  Q  Okay.  But  there  was  no  request  from  any  Turkish  

2  official  for  Flynn  Intel  Group  to  do  anything?  

3  A  No,  sir.  

4  Q  As  you'  ve  reflected  on  the  meeting,  it  occurred  to  

5  you  or  it  seemed  to  you  that  this  was  simply  a  meeting  

6  that  Mr.  Alptekin  had  set  up  in  order  to  be  able  to  

7  demonstrate  that  he  could  bring  -- to  demonstrate  to  

8  these  Turkish  officials  that  he  could  bring  some  big  

9  shots  to  the  meeting,  correct?  

10  A  I felt  that  it  was  Alptekin  and  Bij an.  They  were  

11  both  measuring  up,  seeing  what  they  could  bring  to  the  

12  table.  Yes,  sir.  

13  Q  Now,  you  mentioned  in  your  testimony  that  there  

14  were  a  couple  of  occasions  where  Mr.  Alptekin  conveyed  

15  requests  to  Flynn  Intel  Group  as  part  of  the  work  that  

16  it  was  doing  for  Mr.  Alptekin,  correct?  

17  A  Yes,  sir.  

18  Q  On  one  of  those  occasions,  you  said  that  he  wanted  

19  surveillance,  correct?  

20  A  Yes,  sir.  

21  Q  This  was  surveillance  of  Gulenists  in  the  District  

22  of  Columbia?  

23  A  Yes,  sir.  

24  Q  And  he  wanted  some  sort  of  audio  surveillance  as  

25  well,  correct?  
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A  Yes,  sir.  

Q  And  then  you  basically  told  him,  You'  re  not  doing  

that?  

A  I believe  I told  him:  You  watch  too  many  movies.  

We  don'  t  do  that.  

Q  In  fact,  you  never  did  any  surveillance,  correct?  

A  No,  sir,  I did  not.  

Q  You  also  indicated  in  another  conversation  he  

wanted  dirt  on  Gulen?  

A  He  mentioned  that  several  times.  

Q  All  right.  He  wanted  to  be  able  to  show  that  he  

was  a  terrorist,  correct?  

A  Yes,  sir.  

Q  That'  s  what  he  wanted  you-all  to  do?  

A  Right.  Correct.  

Q  And  you  told  him  you  don'  t  do  that?  

A  We  don'  t  do  that.  FIG  doesn' t  do  that.  Only  the  

FBI does  that.  

Q  All  right.  And  you  didn'  t  do  that,  correct?  

A  Correct,  sir.  

Q  And  he  also  met  with  you  on  November  2,  2016;  is  

that  correct?  That  was  the  meeting  that  you  described  

where  he  was  dismissive  of  Mike  Boston  and  his  work?  

A  Sir,  I don'  t  -- I' m  not  sure  if  it  was  November  2.  

I know  the  report  said  November  2,  but  I do  remember  it  
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was  the  day  before  the  election.  So  whatever  date  that  

was.  

Q  All  right.  In  any  event,  you' re  at  a  meeting  

before  the  election  where  he  attended?  

A  Yes,  sir.  

Q  At  that  meeting,  he  said  that  he  wanted  something  

more.  He  wanted  -- what  did  he  want  at  that  meeting?  

A  I need  more  than  this.  I need  dirt.  

Then  he  said  he  was  kidding.  He  said:  Plant  

dirt.  

I said:  We  don' t  do  that.  

Q  And  he  said  he  was  kidding?  

A  Yes,  he  did  say  he  was  kidding.  

Q  In  fact,  you  didn'  t  do  anything  as  a  result  of  any  

request  that  he  made  at  that  meeting,  correct?  

A  No,  sir,  we  didn' t.  

Q  Do  you  recall  any  other  request  that  he  made  of  

you  that  we  have  not  discussed?  

A  No,  sir.  

Q  So  every  request  that  he  made  of  you  in  your  

presence,  you  basically  rej ected,  correct?  

A  Correct,  yes,  sir.  

MR.  TROUT:  One  moment,  Your  Honor.  

(Counsel  confer. )  

MR.  TROUT:  I have  no  further  questions.  
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THE  COURT:  All  right.  

MR.  MacDOUGALL:  Thank  you,  Your  Honor.  

THE  COURT:  Any  objections?  

MR.  MacDOUGALL:  This  is  Defense  102.  

THE  COURT:  Right.  

MR.  MacDOUGALL:  This,  this  is  Ms.  Langton' s  e-mail  

that  had  all  the  attachments  with  it.  We' re  just  moving  in  102  

that  talks  about  -- that  we  discussed  yesterday.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  Without  objection,  Defense  

Exhibit  102  will  be  admitted.  

(Defendant' s  Exhibit  No.  102  was  received  in  

evidence. )  

THE  COURT:  Anything  else?  

MR.  GILLIS:  No,  Your  Honor,  thank  you.  

THE  COURT:  All  right.  We' ll  convene  at  9: 00  

tomorrow  morning.  

MR.  GILLIS:  Thank  you,  Your  Honor.  

(Recess  from  5: 36  p. m. ,  until  9: 00  a. m. ,  July  18,  

2019. )  
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